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Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to report the results of and steps made by Huanxi Media
Group Limited (the “Company” or “Huanxi Media”, together with its
subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) in the past year. Even though,
in early 2022, affected by the pandemic resurging some areas in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the performance of overall film
market was sluggish with low cinema operating rate and admissions,
the Group took appropriate responsive measures. It postponed
screening of several blockbusters in cinemas, while actively investing
in a number of films to enrich its content reserves, and in turn its core
competitive advantages. In December 2022, with easing anti-pandemic
policies in China, the Group took the opportunity to release the film
Full River Red (#,T4I), invested in and lead produced by the Group,
during the Chinese New Year holiday in 2023 and achieved impressive
results and topped the box office receipts during the Chinese
New Year holiday. The film Full River Red (I 4L) will contribute
significantly to the Group’s revenue and performance in 2023.

Ample reserves set to be released

According to the data of China Film Administration, the total box
office receipts of films in China in 2022 was approximately RMB30,000
million, decreased by approximately 40% compared with 2021 and
less than half of the total pre-pandemic box office receipts in 2019. As
of December 2022, the government issued the “New 10 Measures” to
ease anti-pandemic policies, China’s film industry began to see signs
of warming up.

Facing the changing pandemic situation, temporary closure of
cinemas of many regions in China and dampened film-going desire,
the Group postponed screening of certain blockbusters. Only one film
co-produced by the Group was released during the year. As such, the
Group’s revenue for the year declined. The film Full River Red ()T 4L),
invested in and lead produced by the Group, hit the screen during the
Chinese New Year in 2023, and the related revenue and costs will be
reflected in the Group's interim results for the six months ending 30
June 2023.
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With a proactive approach for preparation and production, the Group
has completed the post production stage of several blockbusters to
gradually debut on cinema screens in 2023, including Papa (%),
written and directed by Su Liang and starring Huang Bo; Something
About Us (ALH Y 4) (formerly known as Red Carpet (2R E))
directed by Ning Hao and starring Andy Lau, and Li Na (& & e _£15)
directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter and starring Hu Ge, Vincent Cassel
and Hao Lei, Unspoken (f& PR 1#) directed by Chen Daming and
starring Zhang Hanyu, Call Me Crazy (fI38) directed by Gu Changwei
and starring Ge You and Karry Wang, The Mountain (_£1L) produced
by Wang Xiaoshuai, Evacuate from the 27st Century (#2142 22 2 4l
Bff) directed by Li Yang and starring Zhang Ruoyun and Zhong Chuxi,
and Strangers When We Meet (F8Z£E/3) directed and written by
Zhang Guoli and starring Zhou Dongyu. The Group believes with rich
and diverse content and a great league of directors is bound to attract
audiences successfully.

Present premium film and TV work on
"huanxi.com”

Regarding the online video platform industry, the pandemic has
brought streaming media opportunities to thrive. According to the
“50th China Statistical Report on Internet Development” published by
China Internet Network Information Center, As of June 2022, there
were 1,051 million internet users in China and the internet penetration
rate was 74.4%. During the pandemic sporadic discouraging people
from going out, online viewing became a more important leisure
entertainment for people.

During the year, the Group continued to source quality films and TV
productions from all over the world for release on "huanxi.com”.
Those works included The Wolf's Call (J3%), a science fiction war
film with a nuclear submarine as setting, which was hailed for Best
Sound at the 45th Cesar Awards (French Academy), The Life Ahead
(?k B 7 EK), a sentimental film starring Sophia Loren, who won her
7th Best Actress Award at Italy's David di Donatello Awards, and the
opening film of the 70th Berlin Film Festival My Salinger Year (8351
530 &), which was an adaptation of J.D. Salinger's autobiography.
In addition, the platform also featured Time (£&%k), the BAFTA Award
for Best Mini Series, the second season of the British TV series A/l
Creatures Great and Small (B¥1 %), which brings humans, the land
and animals together, and the film When Hitler Stole Pink Rabbit (Ffi
T B E R F), the latest work of Caroline Link, winner of Best Foreign
Language Film at The Oscar, which was named Best Children’s Film
at the German Film Awards. In the future, the Group will strengthen
cooperation with channels to optimise and promote the development
of "hanxi.com”.
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BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

The cultural industry has always been of significance to China. The
State Administration of Radio, Film and Television has introduced
policies to promote the development and reform of the film and TV,
and cultural industries. “The 14th Five-Year Plan for the Development
of Chinese Films” issued by the China Film Administration clearly
stated the need to focus on the goal of developing China into a film
culture power by 2035, to encourage production of premium films and
enhance filming technologies, so as to give the industry the foundation
it requires for sustainable and healthy development.

After the government optimised pandemic prevention measures,
the State Council Executive Meeting pointed out at the start of this
year that promoting faster recovery of consumption will give the
economy the main driving force. Therefore, Shanghai, Guangdong
and Shandong launched policies to boost consumption, including not
only distributing various types of coupons, but also offering various
tax and fee concessions, and lifting consumption restrictions, etc. to
foster recovery of the consumer market with cultural industry as a key
project.

Driven by various favorable policies, the economy has gradually
recovered and consumer sentiment is returning, with audiences
started going to the cinemas again. The seven-day box office receipts
during the China New Year holiday of 2023 was RMB6,760 million,
which is the second highest box office receipts in China’s film history,
indicating clearly the film industry is moving on the path of recovery.

In particular, the film Full River Red (W L4L) invested in and lead
produced by the Group, prided impressive box office receipts during
the Chinese New Year holiday of 2023 and topped the box office
chart for the Chinese New Year holiday of 2023. The film Full rRiver
Red ()T 4T) will contribute significantly to the Group’s revenue and
performance in 2023.

Ccontinuing its “Content is King" strategy, the Group has produced
premium and diverse types of films and TV productions backed by the
outstanding directors and professional creative teams. Following Full
River Red () L4T), the Group plans to debut blockbusters on cinema
screens in 2023 such as Papa (&), Something About Us (AT # %t &)
and Li Na (B e_t%). The Group will deliver a feast for the eyes of
audience with a range of plots presented by well-known directors and
skilled actors. To hit cinema screens in 2023, the films are expected
to bring in commendable revenues and see the Group achieve
encouraging results.
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The Group will include more quality films and TV productions in “huanxi.
com” and continue to work with leading internet and entertainment
partners to build “huanxi.com” into a top-notch online video platform.
In addition to looking for good films and TV masterpieces, the
Group will also put quality films and internet dramas it invested in
and produced on the platform. Full River Red (I 4L) will have its
premiere on “huanxi.com” soon.

To strengthen its edge of being able to offer original Chinese film and
TV content and ensure their stable supply, the Group will continue to
cooperate with top Chinese directors such as Ning Hao, Xu zZheng,
Chan Ho Sun Peter, Wong Kar Wai, Zhang Yibai, Gu Changwei, Zhang
Yimou, Huang Bo, Chen Daming, Jia Zhangke and Wang Xiaoshuai to
create more films and TV productions excellent in both artistic and
commercial value, so as to consolidate its leadership in the Chinese
film and TV industry.

All'in all, the Group will keep optimising its strategic “Content is King”
deployment, taking creating outstanding original film and TV works
as its responsibility, stepping up cooperation with top Chinese film
directors, speeding up launch of high-quality content, plus building
a leading online video platform capable of providing diverse film and
TV contents, all to the end of consolidating and boosting the Group’s
competitive advantages. The Group endeavors to capture post-
pandemic opportunities for its business to soar again and continue to
create long-term and high-value returns for its shareholders.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to all

members of our Board, our management team, business partners and
staffs for their dedication and contributions to the Group’s businesses.

Dong Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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APPENDIX: FAMOUS SHAREHOLDER DIRECTORS AND CONTRACTED DIRECTORS OF THE GROUP

ik AEEAERREERAHEE
Director Background Cooperation Details
BE HEEN BERE
Ning Hao* . Famous internationally for his unique directing | ¢ During the cooperation period, the shareholder
i style, all films he made so far had brought strong director shall direct one to two films (for public release)
investment returns. His directorial debut /incense (& every three years
'X) and another work Mongolian Ping Pong (4% & i) EA/\{’EHH N BRREBEALEEG=FEE—ZN
were nominated for awards in over 50 international BEFEmAMERER AR LR A%E)
film festivals
BEBEMARBZEHAE  2H0BFHERLIE | o The film Crazy Alien (RIEHIINE A), with the Group
BEER ﬁ%*ﬁ%ﬂ%%%(%ﬂ\ﬁﬂwﬁmﬁé as exclusive investor and directed by Mr. Ning, was
T+ ZEEREFERS released on the first day of the Chinese New Year in
2019. It bagged a third-party guaranteed minimum
. Crazy Stone (RJIHAE), a low budget production distribution amount of RMB2.8 billion and generated
he directed in 2006, won at the Taiwan Golden revenue of RMB700 million for the Group in 2019
Horse Awards for Best Original Screenplay. Crazy REBBREE  BEALRENSTE(RAINNE
Racer (BT HZEE) (2009), which he wrote and MNERZZE-NFFEY— LB BBE=FARE
directed, was produced with only RMB10 million, 2,800,000,000LRE#ETLE  ERZE—NFAXE
yet brought in box office receipts of over RMB100 & B %55k A R #700,000,0007T 4 A
million
RZTERFHREN E%(f&ﬁ’ﬂEEﬁiMﬁ%%é o The film Something About Us (AL ¥ 45E4) (formerly
BeEREEREEANE - BEXEBRE "éﬁd’ﬁﬁfi known as Red Carpet (2 REE)), with the Group as
A& AR10,000 0007E2<<ﬂﬁﬁ’3%$>>(_ T, exclusive investor, directed by Mr. Ning and starring
F) - EFEEHEAR100,000,0007C Mr. Andy Lau, expected to be released in 2023
ZIK‘EE BERKRE BEAEHERIAFELEFENSE
e He also directed the huge box office hit Breakup FIREE) IE(ZRBEL)) BN ZE ==
Buddies (TERHR) (2014), which grossed RMB1.17 iiﬂ%
billion in box office receipts in the PRC, making it
the highest-grossing domestic Chinese movie of the
year
HEHESEZOLEBID (ZE—NE)  NERAR
B AR®1,170,000,0007c R B H B F S 5 B R
BF
. He is one of the co-producers of Dying to Survive
(Fe 2 2248) (2018), which earned RMB3.1 billion
in box office receipts. The movie was nominated
for seven awards at the 55th Taiwan Golden Horse
Awards and won the awards for Best Leading Actor,
Best New Director and Best Original Screenplay.
The movie also won Best Screenplay at the 42nd
Montreal World Film Festival
H2HEBEERN(RTREM) (2T — \F) &
Z5E AR 3,100,000,0007 + fEEH55EE FEH A
BE+E%E SRESRERTA REFEEK
RERZEIAR=(A5IE o LR I REE 2B
REIRE 8 2 =R
. He also directed Crazy Alien (RIEHISNE A) (2019),
which grossed RMB2.2 billion in box office receipts
in the PRC
HHBEZ(RANNIEAN) (ZE—NF) - BRE
Z5 B AR 2,200,000,0007T
w Shareholder director
& IR EE

8
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Director Background Cooperation Details

BE BEEEN SRR

Xu Zheng* o In 2012, his directorial debut Lost in Thailand (N FBH | e During the cooperation period, the shareholder
RIS i 2 Z= ), which he also wrote, directed, produced director shall direct one to two films (for public

and starred in, earned over USD200 million in box
office receipts

T —FEANEREEBERREENKER(A
BR®ZzRE) - BEEEFE£200,000,0007T

In 2014, Mr. Xu produced and starred in the film
Great Hypnotist (f&8% A &) which became a classic
in the thriller film market in the PRC

ZEOF  REERET T EERBEEH(E
RARD RAEZERBREY MGLHR

Dying to Survive (B2 %#®) co-produced by
and starring Mr. Xu earned RMB3.1 billion in box
office receipts in 2018. The film was nominated
for seven awards at the 55th Taiwan Golden Horse
Awards and won the awards for Best Leading Actor,
Best New Director and Best Original Screenplay.
The movie also won Best Screenplay at the 42nd
Montreal World Film Festival and Best Film at the
14th Changchun Film Festival

ZE-N\E REEDEBS BT FEN(ES
EEW) R R ARS,100,000,0007T £ 555
EeFRPABTERE  SRESEERXA -
REFSERREREBA=([ERIE - LA MEE
FREEFHNREREE <« KEBARRE14/E
HEREERH  &ENER &

Lost in Russia ([E1%) (2020), written, directed,
produced by and starring Mr. Xu, which was first
released through online video platforms in the PRC
REEERESEEREENEL(HBE) (2=
TE)RBEINBRT TR

release) every three years
REFERN  BRREEKAAEET=FEE—%
M EZ Mem(AMERER AR LB AZ%)

Lost in Russia ([15%), the latest in the "Lost” series,
was released through online video platforms on the
first day of the Chinese New Year in 2020
F—iCE) RV EF 2 (AB)R ST FREF
V—EREETE L1

#
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Director
BE

Background
BEEEN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Chan Ho Sun 0
Peter*
COES

He is the first director crowned the “Best Director”
at the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards, the Hong Kong
Film Awards and Mainland China’s Golden Rooster
Awards. His films Almost a Love Story (#H % %) and
Dragon (# %) had made it among Time Magazine's
10 Best Movies of the Year
ERENERRESLFR BEEFZSHREURT
BEycHE EERINANEEE - HHEN
BEY(HEZ)RRER)EEMERREAERA
HHEETEEY

Leap (B7E) directed by him was released in 2020
EREMNEZ(BER)ERN S _TF £}

LiNa (BB e 115) directed by him is expected to
be released in 2023
i%ﬂi’%%%%@%Eoii%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁé:%?:zii

During the cooperation period, the Group shall have
investment right to at least two films directed or co-
directed by Mr. Chan, in amount up to 60% of the
total investment in each of Mr. Chan’s productions
EEERN  AEERBEZ O MBAREERE
FERPENEXNRERE  HaREBEREH
Rt fEmIRE B R E60%

The Group shall have priority over others to
purchase exclusive global distribution licenses in
new media with respect to Mr. Chan’s productions
FEBEBEZERERMABER S EEMNRIE
SRR BT AL 2R

For those productions the Group invested in, the
Group shall have the right to decide regarding
distribution of the films to exclusive new media
platforms

HAKECRENEE  AEERERTHTEY
CEFRIRE TS OBETITR

Wong Kar Wai* |

I xE

Dubbed a “movie poet”, renowned movie director,
producer and screenwriter, Mr. Wong won the “Best
Director” title at the Hong Kong Film Awards and the
Golden Horse Awards for the movie Days of Being
Wild (P 7% 1E15)
UNEXFAIZRNALETEE  BRRESR
HHBHNEZ(MREE) REEBEZ G ELS
BRFEEER

He also won the “Best Director” award for Happy
Together (& E &) at the 50th Cannes Film Festival
BE(ENER) REFERNETHREERER

During the cooperation period, the Group has the
right to invest exclusively in a Chinese internet
drama series — 18 episodes in two seasons — co-
directed and produced by Mr. Wong. There will be
12 episodes in the first season

EEEEA  AEBEGTEERSEENERM
MEHIBEPNUBERINTREINBERIRERE - &
FH125%

The Group also has a right to invite Mr. Wong to
produce an extra movie or internet drama series
principally invested by the Group
FEBENMARBFT AR E—HEEHEAE
B ENET MR RIIFEE

The Group has exclusive right to distribute, sub-
license and broadcast the internet drama series to
the global audience through new media platforms
for a period of 10 years

REEBART BRELEBNERTAREIRE
i%ﬁﬁwt%%%,%ﬁu%ﬁfiﬂﬁ’ﬂ?%%ﬁ]% C FHEA

Mr. Wong is going to produce and co-direct an
internet drama series Paradise Guesthouse (X & i
£8) with 12 episodes
TRENEFRBERANBEER12EBERIIFR
BI(REHKEE)

W Shareholder director
i RREE
10
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Director Background Cooperation Details

BE BREN BERE

Zhang Xiaoling* | e Dubbed the “Godfather of Youth Films” in the PRC, | e During the cooperation period, the Group has
(also known his love story movies have enjoyed wide acclaims priority right over others to invest in at least two of
as Zhang and among them, the 2016 production / Belonged Mr. Zhang's productions, in the amount of no less
Yibai) to You (#E{R& 2t 5 i8) brought in box office than 55% of the total investment amount of each of

oREERE! receipts of more than RMB800 million, a record the productions
(X&%x—A) among movies of its kind FAERA  AREZEEENMAREE DM

WERPEEFRAR]  HHENSHEREY
BRPEREFF - B T NFER (LR
2 RKB) B EIMISHEA A E#5800,000,0007TF
B ATHEEREXNREE ML

The box office receipts of films he directed and
produced totaled more than RMB3.1 billion,
putting him in the league of the most commercially
successful directors and producers in the PRC today
MHENERNNEYRRBEEFBBABARE
3,100,000,0007C - S El B AR AEEEENZA
BERANEERER —

Us and Them (i 2#93:M) (2018) produced by Mr.
Zhang and directed by Rene Liu recorded a box
office receipts of more than RMB1.36 billion
REFEFESR  FEERENERNENM (=
T—\F) - USEFE B AK1,360,000,0007T

RELEREN  REBTINEHRELER
REHEZ55%

The Group has priority right to purchase exclusive
global distribution licenses to new media of at least
two of Mr. Zhang's productions
AEEZREEABEZOMBREE(ERZ2IE
SRR AT ZHER

The Group has exclusive right to invest in two
seasons of internet drama series directed (or co-
directed) by Mr. Zhang
FEEZHHREERE (B ARG NRNERPE
ZIEBRE 2 BRITEHE

The Group has been granted exclusive global
distribution rights of two seasons of the internet
drama series directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Zhang
to new media
AEEERREENE(FHMENE)NMEBRER
FIRAREIZ R BRI RBEITHE

The Group has participation rights to other
productions of Mr. Zhang
AEBEERREEHEMIERZIREDERE

The internet drama series Run For Young (BLA 4
#&28) directed by Mr. Zhang was released in 2020
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Director
BE

Background
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Cooperation Details
BERE

Gu Changwei* | o
BRAE"

As one of the few Chinese members of the
Academy of Motion Picture Arts and Sciences
(AMPAS), he has long been hailed as “the master
cinematographer in Asia” and subsequently became
a director

BRERVHEARNREZES  RRIEMNE—F
TR M RIAEREEY

He directed a number of iconic movies including
Love for Life (FxE), Peacock (fL#), and was the
cinematographer of Red Sorghum (A& 3R) and
Farewell To My Concubine (% T 5I4E), winning
accolades at many international film festivals
HWELHHNELEY - BE(RE) (L) RHE
(R RCETHE)  EHERREFHEZEH
BRI

During the cooperation period, the Group has
exclusive right to invest in two seasons of internet
drama series directed (or co-directed) by Mr. Gu
EEESRR  AREZFELTEREEBANE)
HMERERINTRB C BRERERE

The Group has exclusive global new media
distribution rights for these internet drama series
AEBERBEEBERINTRE 2 RHBRNE
RBEITHE

The Group has priority right to invest in Mr. Gu's
productions. The exact amount of investment
in each of Mr. Gu's productions is to be agreed
between the Company and Mr. Gu
REBZAEAREBEESHIER BN - §—
BELEELEmz ABREEMAARNA R HEEL
H1RE

The Group has the right to purchase exclusive global
distribution licenses to new media for at least two of
Mr. Gu's productions and has participation right to
invest in his other productions
FEBEZEEEROMBBLEEX EMNRIE
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Director
BE

Background
BEEEN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Zhang Yimou* | e
RER

As an internationally famed movie director, his
works included Red Sorghum ((1&3R), Raise the
Red Lantern (RELEER ™A, To Live (FE), Not
One Less (—1E#FT8E4), The Road Home (FEIAL
), Hero (B1#), House of Flying Daggers (+TH
BIR), Curse of the Golden Flower (fi & & & F),
The Flowers of War (&8 +=4%), Coming Home (%%
7€) and The Great Wall (F3), etc.

BBRMEEE  HENENEZLE(LAR)
(RilgEaad) - (BE) - (—EETED) -
(BB - (E) - (+EER) - CRRE
BEEF)  (BBE+=H0 - (BR) - (R)E

His works received awards at international film
festivals, including Golden Bear at the Berlin
International Film Festival, Golden Lion at Venice
International Film Festival, and also the Golden
Horse Awards in Taiwan

HHYBHNEZ L NESBRREZHALE - SEAEMN
%E%ﬁﬁ%ﬁbﬁ BEHYESMRNGESS

Mr. Zhang was the chief director of the opening
ceremony of the 2008 Beijing Olympics, and was
awarded an honorary doctorate degree by Boston
University and Yale University in the US
RAEER_ZTZN\FUARRESHEARGR %
BRTEASRBEABRER L

Mr. Zhang also directed Full River Red (i L 4L),
which grossed RMB4.5 billion in box office receipts
in the PRC

RAEEFHEEFCRIA) BREEFEAARE
4,500,000,0007t

During the cooperation period, the Group has
exclusive right to invest in three internet drama
series directed by Mr. Zhang, with topics to be
agreed between the Group and Mr. Zhang
EEERN  AEESARBRREREEHEYN
“HRRRIITGRE - BB ARERKE LR
JE

The exclusive investment right of one internet
drama series directed by Mr. Zhang can be
converted into priority investment right of a film
directed by him (with no existing third-party contract
restriction), and the investment amount within the
cooperation period shall not be less than 60% of the
total investment of the film
H—REFNENHERINZERNBERRERE
AERAHERE A AXABFHRE= T4 LR HlH
BY L BERERE  REEBAZREBINDNZ

BERREREN0%

The Group shall own all the tangible and intangible
assets of Mr. Zhang internet drama series, as well
as the rights derived from or related to them
FEERERREEBERINTERZAEER K
B EENREITERER RABR R

The film One Second (—#&), produced by the
Group and directed by Mr. Zhang, hit the screen in
2020

AEEHG  REEBENEZ(—HEER=F
ZTF B

The film Full River Red (W) 4IL), produced by the
Group and directed by Mr. Zhang, was released on
the first day of the Chinese New Year in 2023.
AEEHm  REFHENEZCRIAIER-Z
ZEFRFY LMo

Huang Bo
(Hanna
Pictures)

=2 (BMFAR)

In 2018, Mr. Huang directed and starred in the comedy The
Island (— 4 %), which earned over RMB1.35 billion in
box office receipts

-\ BEEBEREEE—HER) EER
% A R #1,350,000,0007C

During the cooperation period, the Group and
Mr. Huang will collaborate on investment and
development of quality film and TV productions
ERERR  FAEEREREBAERERFEE
BHR1ER

The film Papa (&) invested by the Group and
starred in by Mr. Huang will be released in 2023
AEERERELELTENEI(ES) BN T
=Fm
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Director
BE

Background
BEEEN

Cooperation Details
BERE

Chen Daming
BRAHA

Mr. Chen studied screenwriting, directing and acting
in the US in the 1990s and starred in a number of
Hollywood movies. Many of the films he directed
won international awards
REERNTFERBEEEZBRE - BEMKE
LR2ELHHEEREY  HRE HHBHIEE
HMVER SR

He is currently a visiting professor at the Beijing
Film Academy (L REFZF7), Vice President of
the Shanghai International School of the Beijing Film
Academy (t REF Zbt LGB 2) and has
been appointed by Shanghai Vancouver Film School
as its Art Director

MR REYERTERRRIRELER LEE
%%EEIWTEE CWREE A LERTEST SR B
4 BE

VoA M

During the cooperation period, the Group has
priority right to invest in at least three of Mr. Chen’s
productions

EEERN  FEEZARERMAREED =
PR 7t & Ve mm 2 T

The Group has exclusive rights to invest in two
seasons of internet drama series directed (or co-
directed) by Mr. Chen

AEEESRAENE (SIMERB)NMER/ER
SIS RE 2 BRIEEKE

Payments (such as development fund, film director

fees and creative member fees) will be agreed

separately for each of Mr. Chen's films and internet

drama series productions

REEGHER RBERIIZRBIBE 2 T B

%ﬁjﬁfﬁ’é‘é% CBEXBEERTEIABEBR)BH A
hIE

The film Unspoken (% Fr 2 1#) directed by Mr. Chen
is expected to be released in 2023
REERHENEF(BEMERBABR-ZE_=F
i

Jia Zhangke
B

A distinguished international art-house director, he
has received Lifetime Achievement Awards from
several international film organisations
BRERBMBYEE  CEZEEREZEBR
Bl AR 2]

Directed 12 feature films, all nominated for awards
at the Berlin, Cannes and Venice International Film
Festivals. In 2013, A Touch of Sin (X)) won the
award for Best Screenplay at the 66th Cannes Film
Festival

gyE+—HMRE 2 ABEEMK - B REES
BYE c T —=F  (RETE)EF66E R B
BYARIEREIE

In 2015, he received the Carrosse d'Or at the
Cannes Film Festival

ZE-hF ERBEREFHERERETRY
Rl & HE ]

In 2018, Ash is Purest White (jT;# 5 %) was a
shortlisted contender of the top honor at the 71st
Cannes Film Festival

ZE-N\F - EREHCIAT IO ABE7E R
BEYEEREET

The Group has exclusive or priority right to invest
in at least three new films directed by Mr. Jia in the
cooperation period

EAERN  AEEEGHEREHE RO
FEXEMNBRIBARERE

The Group has priority distribution right and
exclusive new media right to the above new films
AEEFES DB EMNELBITRENE
BERE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Director Background Cooperation Details
BE BEEEN BERE
Wang Xiaoshuai | e A pioneer independent film director in the PRC and | e The Group has priority right to invest in two
T/ recipient of the Ordre des Arts et des Lettres from productions (including films and internet drama
the French Minister of Culture series) Mr. Wang directed or produced during the
REBERLE TEREEE N EN cooperation period
Bt ERRERT HEEEHR  AEEESHICENERER W
BERIER(BREEZRABERIFZRE) HELR
o Directed 11 feature films that were nominated eight B
times in the top three international film festivals
g Ep+—HFEFRRE VX AB=ZKE|e  The Group has priority right to invest in and
BREFHHREET distribute globally his new productions
AEEREZEENERNBARERMERELSE
. In 2005, Shanghai Dreams (& 4L) won the Jury Prize 1THE
at the 58th Cannes Film Festival
“EERF HHBER(FAEESSEEME | ¢ The Group has exclusive right to distribute and re-
BRE ?1 HEE 3PN sell his new productions to new media platforms
worldwide
AEESEEENERER RSN EETaBRE
TRREER
. The film The Mountain (L11), invested by the Group
and produced by Mr. Wang, is expected to hit the
screen in 2023
AEERE TEEERNBZC LD EAERZ
E-=F b
Manfred Wong | e A veteran filmmaker in Hong Kong who has | e The Group has priority right over others to invest in
Tk directed, produced, and acted in films and is also a at least four of Mr. Wong's productions
(R&XE) screenwriter for films and TV dramas AEEZHEARBARBEEDNBELEERZ

EBERETA
SR RBF

PREEYERE EX RER

Ventured into the film industry in the early 1990s
and co-founded BoB & Partners Company Limited
(HEHEAR AT in the mid-90s, he has under
his belt more than 30 films including The Storm
Riders (BE) and the Young and Dangerous (i 217)
series

Fﬂﬂ-ifk%ﬂ%ﬁ@%%%% BRh+ERPHEA
REHREERA LRERBINEY  BIF
(BE) - <<Ej<1¥>>¥§u

The film Roots and Branches (B 7 1% %) he
produced broke the box office receipt record of
domestic movies in the PRC in 2001 and won
awards at more than 10 film festivals

EE%EZ@E@F‘L%WHW TE— iﬂl&gﬂl

EEVERLE  UERBBTEYENEY
IE

Hong Kong's first producer to venture into
production of internet drama series. His works
included Feel 7100% (B85 BR%E) and 20/30
Dictionary (5 2 F#2), among others
EREMURAMBRBISHEAN  HEAE(ESA
RE) (B Fi) EW/REIE

&M
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
o B W) B2 o0t

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

Investment in Film and TV Programmes Right
Business

In 2022, the pandemic resurging seriously affected people’s livelihood
and the economy, sending the Chinese film industry into a harsh
winter. Despite the difficult environment, the Group continued to work
closely with top Chinese directors in developing and producing high-
quality films and TV content and creating outstanding original films and
TV productions. It also steadily pressed forward with developing its
online video platform business “huanxi.com”. The film Full River Red
(W) T4TL), invested in and lead produced by the Group, hit the screen
during the Chinese New Year in 2023, and the related revenue and
costs will be reflected in the Group’s interim results for the six months
ending 30 June 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded
revenue and film investment (loss)/income, net of HK$13,630,000
(2021: HK$158,353,000) and a net loss of HK$221,812,000 (2021:
HK$235,557,000). The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the fact
that the Group postponed screenings of some blockbusters invested
by the Group, as the operational rate of cinema in China adversely
affected by the pandemic. Despite this, the net loss decreased mainly
due to the decrease of amortised expenses of the content costs
and promotion expenses of “huanxi.com” online video platform; the
decrease of selling and distribution costs as a result of decrease in
movie distribution activities; the Group implemented a stringent cost
control policy to reduce administrative expenses and recognised an
income tax credit.

During the year, with a proactive approach for preparation and
production, the Group has completed the post production stage of
several blockbusters to gradually debut on cinema screens in 2023,
including Papa (28), written and directed by Su Liang and starring
Huang Bo, Something About Us (AL#: 5t 4) directed by Ning Hao and
starring Andy Lau, Li Na (88 e _£3%5) directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter
and starring Hu Ge, Vincent Cassel and Hao Lei, Unspoken (#EFT&
18) directed by Chen Daming and starring Zhang Hanyu, Call Me Crazy
(RI¥8) directed by Gu Changwei and starring Ge You and Karry Wang,
The Mountain (L1L) produced by Wang Xiaoshuai, Evacuate from
the 21st Century (121142 % 2 #Bf) directed by Li Yang and starring
Zhang Ruoyun and zhong Chuxi, and Strangers When We Meet (i
&) directed and written by Zhang Guoli and starring Zhou Dongyul.
The Group expects the screening of those films in cinemas, which will
contribute revenue to the Group, and the results of the Group will be
improved.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION ND ANALYSIS

Regarding its online video platform, the Group continued to develop
"huanxi.com”. It introduced more outstanding films and internet
dramas to optimise the content of the platform. During the year, The
Wolf's Call (JR%), a science fiction war film set in a nuclear submarine,
was hailed for Best Sound at the 45th Cesar Awards (French
Academy), The Life Ahead (?k B 75 &) starring Sophia Loren, who won
her 7th Best Actress Award at Italy’s David di Donatello Awards, and
the opening film of the 70th Berlin Film Festival My Salinger Year (8%
DEE X EE), which is an adaptation of J.D. Salinger’s autobiography,
were presented on “huanxi.com”. The Group also continued to forge
alliances with major cooperation channels so as to attract more user
groups.

Overall, the layout of film and TV content on the Group'’s online video
platform has cemented the foundation for long-term development of
the Group. Although the market was still full of challenges during the
year, the Group was actively bolstering its content reserve to prepare
for the next boom in the film industry. When the film market picks up
in the coming year, high-quality films are bound to be well received.
The film Full River Red (T 41) is the first example of success for the
Group in 2023.

Impact of the Pandemic

Since the pandemic broke out in early 2020, it has had a significant
impact on the film industry. During the year, it resurged twice forcing
cities to implement control measures that severely affected economic
activities. Then, with many cinemas closing temporarily or restricting
admissions, viewing sentiment slumped. The number of films
produced in China that hit the cinema screen dropped to the lowest
in recent years, harming box office receipts. Regarding film supply,
production companies had to bear additional production time and
costs due to quarantine measures. In December 2022, with the “New
10 Measures” announced optimising related anti-pandemic works, the
film industry has been steadily recovering.

The Group will closely monitor the development of the pandemic and
continue to evaluate its impact on the media market, and ensure that
active measures will be taken in due course to minimise any impacts
from the pandemic on its business operations and financial results.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Review of Results

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded
revenue and film investment (loss)/income, net of HK$13,630,000
(2021: HK$158,353,000) and a net loss of HK$221,812,000 (2021:
HK$235,557,000). The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the
fact that the Group delayed some blockbusters invested by the
Group to make debut on cinema screens due to the operational rate
of cinema in the PRC adversely affected by the pandemic. Despite
this, the net loss decreased mainly due to the decrease of amortised
expenses of the content costs and promotion expenses of “huanxi.
com” online video platform; the decrease of selling and distribution
COsts as a result of decrease in movie distribution activities; the Group
implemented a stringent cost control policy to reduce administrative
expenses and recognised an income tax credit.

The film Full River Red (#)L4T), with the Group as major investor and
producer, directed by Zhang Yimou and starring Jackson Yee, Shen
Teng, Yue Yunpeng, Zhang Yi and Lei Jiayin, just hit cinemas in the
PRC during the 2023 Chinese New Year holiday and took the top spot
for the period. The revenue and cost of the film Full River Red (riL41)
will be reflected in the interim results of the Group for the six months
ending 30 June 2023.

The Group expects the situation of the pandemic will be improved, the
Group is enriching its content reserves and is expected to arrange for
a number of completed shooting blockbusters invested by the Group
to gradually debut on cinema screens in 2023, including Papa (%),
written and directed by Su Liang and starring Huang Bo, Something
About Us (A1 # 4% 4) directed by Ning Hao and starring Andy Lau, Li
Na (88 e 15) directed by Chan Ho Sun Peter and starring Hu Ge,
Vincent Cassel and Hao Lei, Unspoken (£FTE£12) directed by Chen
Daming and starring Zhang Hanyu, Call Me Crazy (®78) directed by
Gu Changwei and starring Ge You and Karry Wang, The Mountain (.t
1L) produced by Wang Xiaoshuai, Evacuate from the 21st Century (#£
21140 2 2 i) directed by Li Yang and starring Zhang Ruoyun and
Zhong Chuxi, and Strangers When We Meet ($3Z2%& /) directed and
written by Zhang Guoli and starring Zhou Dongyu, which will contribute
revenue to the Group, and the results of the Group will be improved.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, loss per share of the Group
amounted to HK$0.06 (2021: HK$0.07) and net asset value per share
attributable to owners of the Company was HK$0.36 (2021: HK$0.45).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION ND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's capital
expenditure, daily operations and investments are mainly funded
by cash generated from its operations and borrowings. As at 31
December 2022, the Group had net current assets of HK$654,367,000
(2021: HK$760,108,000), with cash and cash equivalents of
HK$53,634,000 (2021: HK$115,369,000). As at 31 December 2022,
the Group's current ratio (defined as total current assets divided
by total current liabilities) was approximately 1.77 (2021: 2.31). As
at 31 December 2022, the total equity of the Group amounted to
HK$1,328,436,000 (2021: HK$1,655,269,000) with total borrowings of
HK$108,267,000 (2021: HK$100,281,000). The Group’s gearing ratio,
expressed as the percentage of total borrowings over total capital, was
0.08 (2021: 0.06) as at 31 December 2022. Total capital is calculated as
total equity plus total borrowings.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s short-term unsecured loan
receivables from independent third parties of HK$28,131,000
(2021: HK$202,465,000) deducted loss allowances of approximately
HK$1,690,000 (2021: HK$2,614,000) consisted two corporate borrowers
(2021: four).

As at 31 December 2022, a short-term unsecured loan receivable
net of loss allowances of approximately HK$18,805,000 (2021:
HK$29,891,000) carried interest at 6% per annum related to a
corporate borrower which was a film rights supplier of the Group. The
Company considered that the advance of the loan to the borrower
would enable the Group to maintain and strengthen its business
relationship with it and might facilitate the enrichment of film and TV
content of the Group’s online video platform by purchasing its online
broadcasting film rights (Note 23(b)).

As at 31 December 2022, a short-term unsecured loan receivable
net of loss allowances of approximately HK$9,326,000 (2021:
HK$67,580,000) carried interest at 10% per annum related to a
corporate borrower which was a film rights supplier of the Group. The
Company considered that the advance of the loan to the borrower
would enable the Group to develop the business relationship with
it and might enhance further expansion of the Group’s existing film
and TV programmes right business and operation of an online video
platform by making use of the borrower’s audio-visual product
distribution network in China (Note 23(b)).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
o B W) B2 o0t

As at 31 December 2022, interest-free short term unsecured loan
receivables (2021: approximately HK$104,994,000) were fully received
from the borrowers (Note 23(b)). Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 14 October 2022 for details of the loans.

The Company considered that the terms of the loans were on normal
commercial terms and were fair and reasonable and in the interest of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole. There was no material
impairments or write-offs of the loan receivables during the year (2021:
Same).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had shareholders’ capital of
approximately HK$36,565,000 (2021: Same) which is constituted of
3,656,472,362 ordinary shares (2021: Same) of HK$0.01 each in issue
(the “Share” or “Shares”). The Company did not carry out any fund
raising activities by issuing new shares of the Company during the
year under review.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

The Group had no material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31 December
2022.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, other receivables of HK$71,000,000 (2021:
HK$48,520,000) are used to secure borrowings of HK$74,434,000 (2021:
HK$48,918,000).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s cash flow from operations, cash on hand and assets are
denominated mainly in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Although
most of the production costs and management fees are denominated
in Renminbi, foreign currencies are needed for some investment
opportunities and cooperation plans with the PRC and overseas film
companies. The Group will continue to monitor its capital needs
closely and take appropriate measures to minimise any adverse
impact of exchange rate fluctuation on its overall financial status and
lower the Group's financial risks.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

During the year under review, the Group regularly reviewed the risk
and credit control systems of its profit centers to improve those
systems overall and mitigate credit risk. There have been no significant
changes in the Group’s risk management policy since the year-end
date last year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2021: Same).

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Details of the commitments of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are
set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group firmly believes high-caliber people are the most valuable
asset of a corporation. The Group thus places great attention on
attracting and nurturing talent. It has kept optimising its staff structure
to match its development strategy and business needs. As at 31
December 2022, the Group had 87 full-time employees (2021: 101)
and 4 part-time employees (2021: 5). The Group has in place well-
designed remuneration management and incentive mechanisms,
with employees remunerated based on their positions and work
performance, along with industry trends.

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans which are available to all relevant employees. Forfeited
contributions cannot be used by the Group to reduce the existing level
of contribution to the defined contribution schemes.

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

Saved as the film and TV programmes rights set out in Note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no material
investments during the year under review.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group is seeking for investment opportunities, including but not
limited to, in the media and entertainment related businesses in order
to expand the source of income and prospects of the Group.
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#

Set out below are the biographical details of the directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company as at the date of this annual report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Dong Ping (“Mr. Dong")

Mr. Dong, aged 61, was appointed as an executive Director on 2
September 2015, re-designated as the chairman (the “Chairman”) of
the board (the “Board”) of Directors on 15 January 2016 and is also a
member of remuneration committee and a member of nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Dong is also director of a number
of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Dong has extensive experience,
knowledge and connection in investment and operation of Chinese
media, advertisement, satellite TV, film productions and media fields
and was the former chairman of ChinaVision Media Group Limited
(now known as Alibaba Pictures Group Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1060). Mr. Dong
has been the principal investor, producer and co-producer of various
internationally renowned films, including Crouching Tiger, Hidden
Dragon (EASR#EBE) (directed by Mr. Ang Lee (&%), Devils on the
Doorstep (-3 1) (directed by Mr. Jiang Wen (ZX)), Peacock (FL£)
(directed by Mr. Gu Changwei (B &%), Let the Bullets Fly (:&F587)
(directed by Mr. Jiang Wen (X)), Journey to the West: Conquering
the Demons (Fa#z « [£E ) (directed by Mr. Stephen Chow (A £
&), Dearest (FRE ) (directed by Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter (R 8] %)),
Breakup Buddies ((TEFEHR) (directed by Mr. Ning Hao) and Dying
to Survive (32 %4#) (co-produced by Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu
Zheng). Some of these films have won numerous major awards in both
domestic and overseas film festivals. From August 2003 to April 2005,
Mr. Dong was the president of Asian Union Film and Media. Between
31 May 2005 and 11 January 2008, Mr. Dong was appointed as an
executive director of Asian Union New Media (Group) Limited (now
known as Huayi Tencent Entertainment Co. Ltd.), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 419), and was the
chairman of the board of directors from 12 May 2006 to 11 January
2008.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Dong was deemed to be interested
in 1,477,034,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood
Investments Limited ("Newwood”), 92,342,216 Shares held by
Numerous Joy Limited (“Numerous Joy"), 800,000 Shares held by
Highrise Castle Limited (“Highrise”), 42,230,000 Shares held by Mr.
Dong, 2,700,000 underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528
Shares held by Pacific Wits Limited (“Pacific Wits") and 438,625,528
Shares held by Tairong Holdings Limited (“Tairong”)) within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “"SFO"). Please refer to the section
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ Report of this
annual report for details.
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Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (“Mr. Xiang")

Mr. Xiang, aged 60, was appointed as an executive Director on 2
September 2015 and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 18 September 2015. Mr. Xiang is also director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Xiang was a partner of Weil, Gotshal
& Manges LLP, an international law firm, where he has led its China
practice since 2004. Previously, Mr. Xiang was a partner in the
Shanghai office of Clifford Chance, an international law firm from
2002 to 2004. A specialist in mergers and acquisitions, Mr. Xiang
has acted as the principal counsel in many significant transactions
including representing Lenovo Group Limited in its acquisition of IBM's
global personal computer business. He holds a degree of juris doctor
from Vanderbilt University School of Law, U.S.A. and a Bachelor of
Arts from Beijing University of International Relations. Mr. Xiang is
licensed to practice law in New York and in Hong Kong. Mr. Xiang has
been consistently ranked as one of the top mergers and acquisitions
lawyers by Chambers.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xiang was interested in 27,000,000
underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please
refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’
Report of this annual report for details.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
o

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ning Hao (“Mr. Ning")

Mr. Ning, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 2
September 2015. Mr. Ning majored in photography and obtained a
bachelor degree from Beijing Film Academy (1t )R E 82 22%) in the PRC
in 2003. Mr. Ning is a film director and screenwriter who has directed
seven films between 2003 and 2014, which were engraved with his
unique personal style and won international acclaim. All of Mr. Ning's
films have achieved strong investment returns. His directorial debut
Incense (& X) (2003) and his second film Mongolian Ping Pong (4% &
ib) (2004) were nominated in more than 50 international film festivals,
including the Berlin International Film Festival, the Locarno Festival
and the Hong Kong International Film Festival. Among these, Incense
(& N) won the Grand Prize at the Fourth Tokyo FILMeX Festival in
2003 and the Golden Prize (Asian Digital Films) at the 28th Hong Kong
International Film Festival in 2004. In 2006, Mr. Ning directed his small
budget film Crazy Stone (& #94558), which won the Taiwan Golden
Horse Awards (/&% 5 82) for the Best Original Screenplay. Crazy
Racer (7@ X /)& E) (2009), which was wrote and directed by Mr. Ning,
was produced for an investment of only RMB10 million and achieved
over RMB100 million at the box office. In 2013, Mr. Ning directed No
Man’s Land (£ A[&), which won the Annual Tribute Movie by One
Hundred Media (B REHEFEHAREF) at the 14th Chinese Film
Media Awards (Z BB EH A H). Mr. Ning also directed the huge
box office hit Breakup Buddies ({FEREHR) (2014) which grossed
RMB1,169 million at the box office in the PRC and became the highest-
grossing domestic Chinese film of the year. Dying to Survive (¥~
7= B49) (2018), co-produced by Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu Zheng, earned
RMB3,100 million in box office receipts and was nominated for several
awards at the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards, Golden Rooster Awards
and others. Crazy Alien (JEIEEISNE A) (2019) which directed by Mr.
Ning achieved RMB2,200 million at the box office.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Ning was deemed to be interested in
1,477,034,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood,
92,342,216 Shares held by Numerous Joy, 800,000 Shares held by
Highrise, 42,230,000 Shares held by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000 underlying
Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528 Shares held by Pacific Wits and
438,625,528 Shares held by Tairong) within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO. Please refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities”
in the Directors’ Report of this annual report for details.
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Mr. Xu Zheng (“Mr. Xu”)

Mr. Xu, aged 50, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 2
September 2015. Mr. Xu graduated with a bachelor degree from
Shanghai Theatre Academy (/8B EIZFt) in the PRC in 1994. Mr. Xu
is an actor, director, screenwriter and producer. He started his career
as an actor in the 1990s. Mr. Xu rose to national stardom in 2000
with the TV series Sunny Piggy (&t &% \ ), followed by other
successful TV dramas such as Li Wei the Magistrate (Z&&E E) (2002).
Mr. Xu then focused more on films, starring in comedies Call for Love
(BB EEE) (2007) and Call for Love I (B EMEIUEEF22) (2008),
Lost on Journey (AFEE#) (2010), No Man’s Land (£ A &) (2013) (for
which he was awarded the best lead actor by the China Film Directors'
Guild (FREFEEH ) in 2014) and the huge box office hit Breakup
Buddies ({FEE ) (2014) and Lost in Hong Kong (F8M) (2015). In
2012, his directorial debut Lost in Thailand (A E % 2 Z=MH) (a road
trip comedy) which he also wrote, directed, produced and starred
in, earned over USD200 million and broke the record of the highest-
grossing domestic Chinese film. In 2014, he produced and starred
in The Great Hypnotist (f&8E X E&m) (a suspense thriller film), which
achieved ground-breaking box-office success and a great reputation
in the Chinese suspense thriller film market. In 2018, Mr. Xu was
awarded the best leading actor by the Taiwan Golden Horse Awards (&
4 5 5%) for his performance in Dying to Survive (3,7~ 2 & x8).

As at the date of this report, Mr. Xu was deemed to be interested in
1,477,034,354 Shares (being 461,711,082 Shares held by Newwood,
92,342,216 Shares held by Numerous Joy, 800,000 Shares held by
Highrise, 42,230,000 Shares held by Mr. Dong, 2,700,000 underlying
Shares held by Mr. Dong, 438,625,528 Shares held by Pacific Wits and
438,625,528 Shares held by Tairong) within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO. Please refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities”
in the Directors’ Report of this annual report for details.

Ms. Li Ni (“Ms. Li")

Ms. Li, aged 37, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 21
September 2020. Ms. Li has served as the chief operating officer of
Bilibili Inc. (“Bilibili") (NASDAQ Trading Symbol: BILI) (Stock Exchange
stock code: 9626) since November 2014 and vice chairwoman of
the board of directors of Bilibili since January 2015. Ms. Li oversees
the platform operations, sales and commercial cooperation, content
ecosystem partnership, and strategic planning and investments of
Bilibili.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Tak Chuen (“Mr. Wong")

Mr. Wong, aged 58, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 10 April 2014. Mr. Wong is the chairman of the
audit committee of the Company. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, respectively. He
has over 20 years of experience in auditing, financial management,
mergers and acquisitions gained from certain senior finance related
positions in an international accounting firm in Hong Kong, companies
listed in Hong Kong and a company listed in the United States of
America. He is currently a practising Certified Public Accountant in
Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive
director of (i) Eternity Investment Limited (stock code: 764, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since 7 November
2011; and (ii) China Healthwise Holdings Limited (stock code: 348, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since 11
October 2016. Mr. Wong was an independent non-executive director
of Man Sang International Limited (stock code: 938, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from 12 July 2016 to 5
November 2018.

Mr. Li Xiaolong (“Mr. Li")

Mr. Li, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 2 September 2015. Mr. Li is a member of each of the
remuneration committee, nomination committee and audit committee
of the Company. Mr. Li has more than 20 years of experience in the
industry of information technology and telecommunications. He is
the founder and chairman of Net 263 Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange
Code: 002467), a company based in Beijing which provides integrated
communication services for medium-and small-sized enterprises and
professionals. Since September 2004, Mr. Li was the chairman of the
board of Net 263 Ltd., and since August 2006, the director of Net 263
Ltd. He was an independent director at E-Commerce China Dangdang
Inc. from December 2010 to October 2016, and an independent
director at Kongzhong Corp. from 2012 to May 2017. Mr. Li graduated
from Beijing University of Technology, majored in software engineering
of computer science. In January 2013, Mr. Li was appointed as a
committee member of the telecommunications and economic experts
of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Li was deemed to be interested in
15,060,000 Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please
refer to the section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’
Report of this annual report for details.
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Mr. Wang Hong (“Mr. Wang")

Mr. Wang, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 2 September 2019. Mr. Wang is the chairman of each
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company and a member of audit committee of the Company. Mr.
Wang is currently the vice president of Hengdian Group Holdings
Limited, responsible for the group’s overseas affairs. He once served
as the chairman of Hengdian Film and Television Production Co.,
Ltd.* (B /5 A& ERBR A F]), and produced the animation film
Monkey King: Hero is Back (Fafzsd 2 XN EE & 2K), received the highest
animation box office record in the PRC, and some TV series. He was
the chief executive officer of Asian Union New Media (Group) Limited
(now known as Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited)
(Stock Code: 0419) between January 2008 and March 2012 and was
an executive director of the company between August 2010 and
March 2012, responsible for the overall operation of the company, and
engaged in the investment of Letter from an Unknown Woman (— &g
AL ARIFRAZ), Peacock (FL#), And the Spring Comes (3 %), Under
the Hawthorn Tree (LL#&# 2 &) and some other films. He was the
president of the Travel Channel between May 2003 and February 2008,
during which he built up a new Travel Channel with an annual revenue
of over RMB200 million. He also served as the deputy general manager
of a cultural subsidiary of Poly Group between July 1991 and May 2003
and was responsible for the company’s investment business. He had
engaged in the implementation of Poly Culture’s various investment
projects related to the cultural industries. Mr. Wang obtained a
Bachelor degree of Economics in International Trade and Economics
at University of International Business and Economics in 1988.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang was interested in 200,000
Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Please refer to the
section “Directors’ Interests in Securities” in the Directors’ Report of
this annual report for details.

*  For identification purposes only
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in media
and entertainment related businesses, including development and
investment in film and TV programmes rights, as well as operation of
an online video platform.

Details of the activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
13 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of revenue
and film investment income and results by principal activities of the
Group are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 116.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group

for the last five years is set out on page 232. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company are set out in
Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme has been adopted and approved by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting held on
17 June 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The 10% limit of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") has been refreshed on
16 December 2015 and 29 June 2018. As at the date of this annual
report, the Scheme Mandate Limit refreshed on 29 June 2018 has not
yet been utilised and the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 276,805,540 shares.

On 27 April 2018, 130,700,000 options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme and no share options were exercised, cancelled or
lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2022. As at 31 December
2022, the Company has 130,700,000 options outstanding which
represented approximately 3.57% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company as at that date.
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The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share T%%TBZE‘E%ZZ\ T F+ZA=T—HLEFER
options during the year ended 31 December 2022: NEl EREES)
Outstanding Lapsed/ Exercise
at the Granted Exercised cancelled  Outstanding price per
beginning during during during at the end share
Participants Date of grant of the year the year the year theyear  of the year (HKS)
R BROEE
25% BLAH EMERTE ERRH FRTE AR%/EH ERMATH (B%TT)
Mr. Dong Ping 27 April 2018 2,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 208
R “E-\EENA=TtA
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven 27 April 2018 27,000,000 - - - 27,000,000 208
BRREE “Z-\EMA=T+H
Eligible employees 27 April 2018 101,000,000 - - - 101,000,000 208
RERES “E-\EEAZTtA
Total 130,700,000 - - - 130,700,000
e
BEEHEEEARAR - —E-"FFHK 29



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
E

Notes: Hfat -
1. The share options are exercisable as follows: 1. BEARE AR LA N B I8 T LATTE -

Number of share options can

Exercise criteria be exercised TEEE AFITEZBRESRE
(Commencing from the date of (EFEARBZERARE
the grantee’s commencement of B HHEeR)

employment with the Group)

0) On completion of the continuous ~ Up to one-third of the share 0] EEARBEZE BZAECREBREZ=S
employment of the grantee with  options granted RAEBR—F 2—

the Group for 1 year

(i) Oncompletion of the continuous  Up to two-thirds of the share iy FEBEAFEXE EZRAERLEREZ=5
employment of the grantee with  options granted RAEBRMTE 2=
the Group for 2 years

@iy~ On completion of the continuous ~ Up to all of the share options iy HEBABEZE SZAMACERLBERE
employment of the grantee with ~ granted RAEBR=F
the Group for 3 years

2. The validity period of the share options is from 27 April 2018 to 17 June 2024 2. BREZABRBAAE-_T—/\FOAZ+tHEZ

(both days inclusive) subject to the provisions for early termination contained “MFEARATERE(REERMA) - T’Eiﬁ%ﬂﬂéﬁﬁ
in the Share Option Scheme and certain vesting conditions applicable to the B 2 RAR LR RBARBRERAZE TEH
relevant grantee(s). BIEHIRR -

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 34 to the B RAEEAEIMFBENGRA M SRR T34 -
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during 2022 was the Company B EXFTIEEEI - R =~ —FREMAEGH - &
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the  Aa]skE (M B RRIEFT TR ZH  BEE
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, SHR[HEEE A QA al ST R HE A ABE 2D E
or debenture of, the Company or any other body corporate. WERE s o
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws (the “Bye-laws") or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 120 and Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 31 December
2022 are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company did not have distributable
profit to shareholders (2021: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business performance of the Group during 2022 using
financial key performance indicators and discussion on the important
events affecting the Group since the end of 2022 and the Group's
future business development that the Group may be facing are
provided in the Chairman'’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis of this annual report, the discussions thereof form part of
this Directors’ Report.

Discussions on the Group's environmental policies, relationships
with its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Group are set out
below in the Directors’ Report of this annual report. Please also refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the Group's
policies in this regard.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in addition to the
matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

1. Operational Risk

In respect of the risk factor relating to the Group’s business,
given that the Company will invest in a limited number of films,
the success or failure of these films could have a significant
impact on the Company’s results of operations in both the year
of release and in the future. Besides, unauthorised copying and
piracy are prevalent in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and other countries in Asia, whose legal systems may make
it difficult for the Company to enforce its intellectual property
rights.

Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu have extensive experience,
strong expertise and a wide business network in the media and
entertainment industry. Mr. Dong, the Company’s substantial
shareholder and the Chairman of the Board, has extensive
experience, knowledge and connection in investment and
operation of Chinese media, advertisement, satellite TV, film
productions and media fields, whilst Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu are
prestigious and successful directors and actors in Chinese movie
industry. Please refer to “Biographical Details of Directors” in this
annual report for the biographical details of Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning
and Mr. Xu.

Oon 1 June 2016, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with Mr. Chan Ho Sun Peter and Master China Films
Limited (@ company indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wong Kar
Wai) respectively, pursuant to which each of Mr. Chan Ho Sun
Peter and Master China Films Limited has conditionally agreed
to provide to the Group with certain services, and investment
and other rights, relating to film and media productions as set
forth in the relevant agreements. Further, on 6 December 2016,
the Group entered into a cooperation agreement with Mr. Gu
Changwei and Mr. Zhang Xiaoling (also known as Zhang Yibai)
respectively, pursuant to which each of Mr. Gu Changwei and
Mr. Zhang Xiaoling has conditionally agreed to provide to the
Group with certain services, and investment and other rights,
relating to film and internet drama series productions as set
forth in the relevant agreements.
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The Company entered into a cooperation agreement on 24 May
2018 with Unigue Swift Limited, a company having an exclusive
investment right of certain internet drama series productions
or films of Mr. Zhang Yimou, and the amended and restated
cooperation agreement on 11 September 2018 with Unique Swift
Limited and Mr. Zhang Yimou, pursuant to which Unique Swift
Limited has conditionally agreed to procure Mr. Zhang Yimou to
provide the Group with certain services, investment and other
rights, relating to certain internet drama series productions or
films as set forth in the relevant agreements.

The Group entered into a cooperation agreement in June 2021
vvith Shanghai Hanna Pictures Culture Media Company Limited*

BB AR EEARAT) ("Hanna Pictures”) for a
term of three years with priority right to renew the agreement.
Pursuant to the cooperation agreement, the Group, Hanna
Pictures and Mr. Huang Bo (a famous actor and director in the
PRC) will collaborate on investment and development of quality
film and TV productions.

Given the above, the Directors are of the view that the
participation of Mr. Dong, Mr. Ning, Mr. Xu, Mr. Chan Ho Sun
Peter, Mr. Wong Kar Wai, Mr. Gu Changwei, Mr. Zhang Xiaoling,
Mr. Zhang Yimou and Mr. Huang Bo in the Group and through
cooperation with them would be instrumental in the Company’s
development in the media and entertainment industry and could
migrate the risk.

If the pandemic outbreak persists for a long period, the
production and distribution plan of the Group’s film and TV
programmes right and the financial performance of the Group
for the year ending 31 December 2023 may be affected but the
financial effect of which cannot be reasonably estimated at this
stage. The Group will pay close attention to the development
of the pandemic outbreak and its impact on the media market,
and will continue to perform relevant assessments and take
proactive measures to minimise its impact towards the Group'’s
business operations and financial results.

*  For identification purposes only
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2. Financial Risks

Details of the Group’s financial risks relating to the operations of
the Group include market risk (including foreign currency risk,
price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk are
set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors during 2022 and up to the date of the annual report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman)
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ning Hao

Mr. Xu Zzheng

Ms. Li Ni

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen

Mr. Li Xiaolong

Mr. Wang Hong

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Xu Zheng, Mr. Li
Xiaolong and Mr. Wang Hong shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. All of them, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Brief biographical particulars of the existing Directors are set out in
the “Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual report. Directors’
other particulars are contained in this report and elsewhere in this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The existing Directors including the executive Directors, the non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are for a term of 2 years (except Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven, an
executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group,
there is no specific term or proposed length of services for Mr.
Xiang's appointment). All of the existing Directors shall be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Bye-
laws and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors” and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities.
The permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the
Directors as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) when the Directors’ Report
prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with section
391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) under
the Listing Rules, or known to the Company, were as follows:

EECRESFER

R-ZBE-_—F+-A=Z+—H JSESRITHRER
RARRSEEAAREZE(EEREHFLPEK
BIEEXVER) 2 B - MR RGBS - AT
BN AR BIRIEE S M ERHIEI52G6BET 2
Bl - SURERE S L EIEFIEXVERS =T R Al
ZEMBITAERTETELRRINERESFR(1EX
SADASTHAEARRR KBRS AR RS MNE
ZREZFORBIT

Long Positions in the Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 AATEREEEBE0.01T2ZERKRAE
Each of the Company and the Underlying Shares ER2ER
Number of Ordinary Shares Number of
s underlyin Approximate
LERYE UlLg G
Shares held percentage
Corporate Personal under share of the issued
Name of Directors interests interests Sub-total options Total Shares
BRET HERITRS
BEENE NGILE BAER Nt EERGBEE gt BABAL
Mr. Dong Ping 1,432,104,354 42230000  1,474,334,354 2,700,000  1,477,034,354 40.40%
R
Mr. Ning Hao® 1,432,104,354 42230000  1,474,334,354 2,700,000  1,477,034,354 40.40%
B
Mr. Xu Zheng® 1,432,104,354 42230000  1,474,334,354 2,700,000  1,477,034,354 40.40%
fRIEEES
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven® - - - 27,000,000 27,000,000 0.74%
AR EY
Mr. Li Xiaolong® 15,060,000 - 15,060,000 - 15,060,000 0.41%
TN AN
Mr. Wang Hong® - 200,000 200,000 - 200,000 0.01%

FI A
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Notes:

These Shares include Shares held by Newwood as to 461,711,082 Shares,
Numerous as to 92,342,216 Shares and Highrise as to 800,000 Shares which
are companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and directly wholly owned by Mr. Dong. Mr. Dong also personally holds
42,230,000 Shares and 2,700,000 unlisted physically settled share options
of the Company granted on 27 April 2018 pursuant to the Company’s
share option scheme adopted on 17 June 2014. On 14 April 2015, Mr.
Dong, Newwood, Pacific Wits, Mr. Ning, Tairong and Mr. Xu entered into
a shareholders agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”), which sets
forth certain rights and obligations of each of the parties in respect of the
governance of the Company following completion of the subscription for new
shares in the Company pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 14 April
2015, details of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated 5 August
2015. As Mr. Dong is a party to the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Dong is
therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Ning, Pacific
Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO.
Please refer to notes 2 and 3 for Shares held by Mr. Ning and Mr. Xu.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Pacific Wits, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
directly wholly owned by Mr. Ning. Mr. Ning is a party to the Shareholders
Agreement and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares and
underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Xu and Tairong are
interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 3
for Shares and underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong and Mr. Xu.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Tairong, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and directly wholly owned by Mr. Xu. Mr. Xu is a party to the Shareholders
Agreement and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares and
underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are
interested by virtue of section 317 of the SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 2
for Shares and underlying Shares held by Mr. Dong and Mr. Ning.

These underlying Shares are 27,000,000 unlisted physically settled share
options of the Company granted to Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven on 27 April
2018 pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 17 June
2014.

These Shares are held by Panfaith Investments Limited, which is a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and ultimately
wholly owned by Mr. Li Xiaolong.

These Shares are jointly held by Mr. Wang Hong and his spouse.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company or any of their associates
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements headed
“Related Party Disclosures”, the sections headed “Directors’ Interests
in Competing Business” and “Company Contracts of Significance/
Connected Transaction” of the Directors’ Report and elsewhere in
this annual report, no Director nor any entity connected with the
Directors had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in
any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during 2022.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements headed
“Related Party Disclosures”, the sections headed “Directors’ Interests
in Competing Business” and “Company Contracts of Significance/
Connected Transaction” of the Directors’ Report and elsewhere in
this annual report, at no time during 2022 had the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contracts
of significance or any contract of significance for the provision of
services by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

On 27 April 2021, the Company entered into the placing agreement
with a placing agent. Upon completion of the placing agreement on 5
May 2021, an aggregate of 218,130,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company were placed to not fewer than six placees, at
the placing price of HK$2.15 per placing Share. The gross proceeds
and net proceeds raised from the placing were approximately
HK$468,980,000 and HK$467,279,000 respectively.

As at 1 January 2022, HK$115,369,000 had not been used. As at 31
December 2022, the said unused amount had been fully utilised as
intended for (i) production of film and internet drama series and online
video platform business and (i) general working capital.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 27 April 2021, 28
April 2021 and 5 May 2021 for details of the placing agreement.

COMPANY CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE/
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Film Production Agreement and Director
Agreement - connected transactions

On 20 December 2021, (i) Beijing Huanshixi Culture Media Company
Limited* Gt RE+EXLEHEER AR and Taizhou HuanX|
Culture Investment Company Limited* (N\I%ﬁéﬁ(ft&éﬁﬁﬁﬁ
(collectively the “Group Companies”) entered into the film production
agreement with Hainan Ruri Fangsheng Film and Television Culture
Communication Company Limited* (§m 0B H AE R ILBERER
fR 2 |]) (“Hainan Ruri Fangsheng”), pursuant to which Hainan Ruri
Fangsheng has conditionally agreed to provide the film production
services to the Group Companies in relation to the film Something
About Us (4LH 5L 4) (formerly known as Red Carpet (&R E)) (the
“Film"); and (ii) the Company entered into the director agreement with
Mr. Ning Hao, pursuant to which Mr. Ning has conditionally agreed to
act as the director of the Film.

*  For identification purposes only
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As at the date of the film production agreement and director
agreement (collectively the "Agreements”), Mr. Ning is a non-
executive director of the Company and the sole ultimate beneficial
owner of Pacific Wits Limited, a substantial shareholder of the
Company which holds 438,625,528 Shares, representing approximately
12.00% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date
of the Agreements. As such, Mr. Ning is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules and the transaction contemplated
under the director agreement constitutes a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Notwithstanding
that Hainan Ruri Fangsheng is an Independent Third Party, Hainan
Ruri Fangsheng is the film production company proposed by Mr. Ning
to provide the film production services to the Company in relation to
the Film, and the Board noted that Hainan Ruri Fangsheng and Mr.
Ning will enter into a consultancy agreement, pursuant to which Mr.
Ning will provide consultancy services to Hainan Ruri Fangsheng in
relation to the production of the Film, to the effect that Mr. Ning will
have significant influence over Hainan Ruri Fangsheng in relation to
the production of the Film. In view of the above, the transactions
contemplated under the Agreements are aggregated and are subject
to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The transactions contemplated under the Agreements were approved
by the independent shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 21 February 2022. Please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 20 December 2021 and
21 February 2022, and the Company’s circular dated 31 January 2022
for details.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING EENBRER 2R
BUSINESS

Interests of the Directors in competing businesses to the Groupasat R-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—H BBEALEE
31 December 2022 required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of  F A - BIRIE E MR BIES 10K E 2R #H

the Listing Rules were set out as below: FEn
Nature of interest
Companies which (including close
Directors Directors held interests Major business nature associate’s interest)
EEME(BEBRBHEA
2= EEREREEZAR FTEEBEME Tz )
l\/lr Ning Hao REZEBRFHEBRA TV and movie project Ultimate shareholder
Bk g preparation, TV and movie 4R
planning
FRIBEEE  FREE
EREETF ULEEERBR AT TV production and distribution Ultimate shareholder
BRED B RERET BERIRR
ERRITERFEAULEREERA TV and movie production Ultimate shareholder
BRETE REFRE B
EmUEBEEBRA TV and movie production Ultimate shareholder
BERENE REFRIE SRR
BRETF(E8)XLEREERAA TV and movie production Ultimate shareholder
BERENE REFRIE BERRE
HBRERTEEBRA TV production and Ultimate shareholder
movie distribution BERRR
BARE B RERBERET
ARy ERZEBR AT TV and movie production Ultimate shareholder
BRE B REHRIE B
AT BHEEERA TV and movie production and  Ultimate shareholder
movie distribution SRR
BEREE REFRIEUR
BRBLT
IR ERMSEEREBR AT TV production and Ultimate shareholder
movie distribution BERRR
EARE B BERERET
B EWmEEBRAR TV production and Ultimate shareholder
movie distribution B

BB RENEFET
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Companies which
Directors Directors held interests

= ESRAREEZAF

Major business nature

TEERME

Nature of interest
(including close
associate’s interest)
EEME(BEBETEHEA
Tz )

ERARMAEZHEUCERERA

RETEERERARR

REBREEXEEFZATOL(BRER)

ERRFTRAFREREARA

ERRMERXEBEZEREHKERLQA

INJO Films Co. Ltd.
R AZBE X EEREERA

R —RERTRERARAA

PR A TR R X EERAR AR

TV and movie investments
BRETE REFERE

Movie production, radio and

TV production, cultural and

entertainment agency
ExEE BHEEHESAE
BE - SUBREL LA

TV and movie investments
BREEME RBEFERE

TV production and
movie distribution
BREARERELR

TV production and
movie distribution
BERE B REREREIT

TV and movie production
BREE REFRALE

TV and movie production
BIRET B REXEIE

TV and movie production
BERETE RELRIE

42 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2022

Ultimate shareholder
IR

Ultimate shareholder
SRR R

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

SRR R BEEEG AT
R

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

REBRREETEGAL
Z W

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

SRR R EEEG AT
R

Close associate’s interest
ZEBE AL 2R

Close associate’s interest
REBMBAT 2R

Close associate’s interest
BEBMEALT  ER
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Companies which
Directors held interests

EXZRHAREEZAF

Major business nature

FTEERME
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SR

Nature of interest
(including close
associate’s interest)
EEME(BEBREHEA
Tz )

Mr. Xu Zheng
IRIgSEAE

EBERBREAYCTEE

Beijing Joy Leader Culture
Communication Co. Ltd.
IR E2E X LEEBRA R

BERE(LBFEBARAR

BEREILEXEEERR AR

RN+ N\ BERER AT

ERNTNEXRERRAT

EEEmEX M ERER AT

BEEHEXLERER QT

Planning of TV and movie
BEREE REXEKE

Movie production and
investments
BRRERRE

TV and movie production and
movie distribution

BEREE REFEEUR
BRIBLT

TV production

BRETE RME

TV production and
movie distribution
BREERERERET

TV and movie production and
movie distribution
BEREE RERFEEUR

= e g%
B BT

TV production and
movie distribution
BREEBEREREIT

TV production and
movie distribution
ERE B RERERLET

BESREEARATF -

Ultimate shareholder
IR

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

SRR BETHE AL
2K

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

REBRRRETHEAL
< fEzh

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

SRR ETHE AL
R

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate's interest

REBRREETHEAL
< fEzh

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

SRR EEHE AT
2R

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

RRBRRBERHEA LT
o

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

RRBERBERHEA LT
2R
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Companies which

Nature of interest
(including close

Directors Directors held interests Major business nature associate’s interest)
EEME(BEEBHEA
2= EEREEEZAT FTEEKME T2 ER)
aLER(EBXLERERAT TV production and Ultimate shareholder and

The Group is principally engaged in the media and entertainment
related businesses, including development and investment in film

BEELE M ERAR QA

EBEREXCERERAT

BEEFFEELERERA

EFEFTUARMEBERER QT

E5BaTREMERAR

ERERRBEEERA

IR R AL AR A

movie distribution
BEREEREREREIT

TV and movie production
and distribution

BRENE MERERIE
VA J2 3897

TV production and
movie distribution
BEREEREREREIT

TV production and
movie distribution
BREARERELER

TV production
BERET A RME

TV and movie production and
distribution
BERETE RERFRIEL R

=

17

TV production and
movie distribution
BREEBEREREIT

TV production and
movie distribution
EREEREREFE

and TV programmes rights, as well as operation of an online video

platform.
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close associate’s interest
SRR ETBE AT
R

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

RRBRRBERHEA L
g

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

RRBRERRBERHEA L
R

Ultimate shareholder and
close associate’s interest

RRBRRBERHEA LT
&

Close associate’s interest
BEBMBA LT ER

Close associate’s interest
BB E AL 2 Em

Close associate’s interest
THMBAT 2R

Close associate’s interest
BEBEA LT 2R
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Mr. Ning, together with his family, is the ultimate shareholder of the
above companies (together “Mr. Ning's Companies”). Mr. Ning's
companies are principally engaged in the TV and movie production
and distribution in the PRC. For the film Something About Us (4
Jo ) (formerly known as Red Carpet (& RBHE)), the details of the
film production agreement and director agreement — connected
transactions are disclosed under the section headed “Company
Contracts of Significance/Connected Transaction” in this Directors’
Report. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of Mr.
Ning or his close associates was interested in any business in respect
of film production, apart from his and/or his family’s interests in Mr.
Ning's Companies.

Mr. Xu is the majority shareholder of the above companies (together
“Mr. Xu's Companies”). Mr. Xu's Companies are principally engaged in
the TV and movie production, investment and distribution in the PRC.
As at 31 December 2022, none of Mr. Xu or his close associates was
interested in any business in respect of film production, apart from his
interests in Mr. Xu's Companies.

The Directors consider that the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the movie
business of (i) Mr. Ning's Companies and (i) Mr. Xu's Companies ((i) and
(ii) together, the “Other Companies”) as (i) there is a clear separation
between the Group’s businesses and those of the Other Companies,
(i) the Group is not operationally or financially dependent on any
of the Other Companies, or vice versa; and (iii) the Board operates
independently from the boards of the Other Companies. The Board
consists of eight members, comprising of two executive Directors,
three non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. All of the Directors are aware of their fiduciary duties as a
director of the Company which require, among other things, that they
act for the benefit and in the best interests of the Company and do not
allow any conflict between their duties as a Director and their personal
interest. In the event that there is a potential conflict of interest arising
out of any transaction to be entered into between the Group and the
Directors or their respective associates, the interested Director(s) shall
abstain from voting at the relevant board meetings of the Company in
respect of such transactions and shall not be counted in the quorum.

From time to time, the Group may consider possible co-investment
opportunities with Mr. Ning’'s Companies and/or Mr. Xu's Companies
in film or other projects. Any such investments and the definitive
terms thereof would be subject to further negotiations at arm'’s length
between the relevant parties. If any co-investment arrangement
between the Group and Mr. Ning's Companies or Mr. Xu's Companies
were to materialise, it could constitute a connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Further announcement(s) in relation
to any such investments will be made as and when appropriate in
compliance with the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, save as disclosed under the section
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” in this Directors’ Report of the
annual report, the Company had been notified of the following
substantial shareholders’ interests, being 5% or more of the
Company's issued share capital under Section 336 of the SFO.

Name of shareholders Capacity

BREREE, HE &6

RZEBE-__F+_A=+—H BEAFRESFHS

ZIERZES ] —F
T EERRER

AT LS - NRAFEHM
CAVREBRE S R ERDIE

3BGIEAN AT B BITAAFE%K A £ 2 s -

Number of
ordinary
Shares held
BEz
ZEREA

Number of
underlying
Shares held®
B8z
HBERGOGEE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
BREMD
Aok

Dong Ping® (“Mr. Dong") Beneficial owner, interests of
BEF0O(ELLE) controlled corporation and a
party to an agreement required
to be disclosed under section 317
of the SFO
EmlEA  ZEHEE#ERER
W] K7 IRIR B 5 R HAE &
FEINTEETHEENER

Newwood Investments Limited®  Beneficial owner and interests of a
(“Newwood”) party to an agreement required
to be disclosed under section 317
of the SFO
BB ARBBTHOHFIREES
MEAEIEBIEIN7IRETIRERN
=

Numerous Joy Limited Beneficial owner
ZLBR AR EmEEA

Highrise Castle Limited Beneficial owner
E\DIL%EE}\

Ning Hao®@ (“Mr. Ning") Interests of controlled corporation
EEO([Z=EE)) and a party to an agreement
required to be disclosed under
section 317 of the SFO
THEE R R R A IRE
m%&ﬁlﬂiﬂlﬂﬁﬂ%m71'%2,\%
BEER
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1,474,334,354

1,474,334,354

92,342,216

800,000

1,474,334,354

2,700,000

2,700,000

2,700,000

40.40%

40.40%

2.53%

0.02%

40.40%
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Number of Number of Approximate
ordinary underlying percentage of
Name of shareholders Capacity Shares held Shares held” shareholding
BEZ BEZ REBLN
BEERE A 54 LZERHE HEBEROBB? Aot
Pacific Wits Limited® Beneficial owner and interests of a 1,474,334,354 2,700,000 40.40%
("Pacific Wits") party to an agreement required
ZHRBRAAR to be disclosed under section 317
(IZ=)D) of the SFO
EnB ARBEI O RIEES
MEAEIRBIEIN7IRAETIRERN
M
Xu Zheng® ("Mr. Xu") Interests of controlled corporation 1,474,334,354 2,700,000 40.40%
wES([REED) and a party to an agreement
required to be disclosed under
section 317 of the SFO
SRS ABER R IBERT AT IRE
BHERBEEMENTEET
BEMER
Tairong Holdings Limited® Beneficial owner and interests of a 1,474,334,354 2,700,000 40.40%
(“Tairong") party to an agreement required
FRIRIEIRBR A A to be disclosed under section 317
(B3 of the SFO
BEmlEE ARBHRTNFREFES
NEAEIRBIEIN7IRAETREDN
M
Bilibili Inc.® Beneficial owner 346,626,954 - 9.48%
NER NEE 1EE 058 i 1) B PR 8 ) EmEEA
Maoyan Entertainment® Beneficial owner 208,430,000 - 5.70%
SHARIREEO EmfAA
FMR LLC.©@ Beneficial owner 197,700,000 - 5.41%
EmEEA

*  For identification purposes only
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Notes:

These Shares include Shares held by Newwood as to 461,711,082 Shares,
Numerous Joy Limited as to 92,342,216 Shares and Highrise Castle Limited
as to 800,000 Shares which are companies incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability and directly wholly owned by Mr. Dong. Mr. Dong
also personally holds 42,230,000 Shares and 2,700,000 unlisted physically
settled share options of the Company granted on 27 April 2018 pursuant to
the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 17 June 2014. On 14 April
2015, Mr. Dong, Newwood, Pacific Wits, Mr. Ning, Tairong and Mr. Xu entered
into a shareholders agreement (the “Shareholders Agreement”), which sets
forth certain rights and obligations of each of the parties in respect of the
governance of the Company following completion of the subscription for
new shares in the Company pursuant to a subscription agreement dated
14 April 2015, details of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated
5 August 2015. As Mr. Dong and Newwood are parties to the Shareholders
Agreement, Mr. Dong is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in
which Newwood, Mr. Ning, Pacific Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by
virtue of section 317 of the SFO; and Newwood is therefore also deemed to
be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong, Mr.
Ning, Pacific Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317
of the SFO. Please refer to notes 2 and 3 for Shares held by Mr. Ning, Pacific
Wits, Mr. Xu and Tairong.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Pacific Wits, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
directly wholly owned by Mr. Ning. As Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are parties to
the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are therefore deemed
to be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong,
Newwood, Mr. Xu and Tairong are interested by virtue of section 317 of the
SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 3 for the Shares and underlying Shares held
by Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Xu and Tairong.

These Shares include 438,625,528 Shares directly held by Tairong, which
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
and directly wholly owned by Mr. Xu. As Mr. Xu and Tairong are parties to
the Shareholders Agreement, Mr. Xu and Tairong are therefore deemed to
be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr. Dong,
Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits are interested by virtue of section 317 of
the SFO. Please refer to notes 1 and 2 for the Shares and underlying Shares
held by Mr. Dong, Newwood, Mr. Ning and Pacific Wits.

Such disclosure of interests was made in the form of notice pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO disclosed by Bilibili on 24 September 2020.

Such disclosure of interests was made in the Company’s announcement
dated 14 October 2022.

Such disclosure of interests was made in the form of notice pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO disclosed by FMR LLC. on 24 January 2022.

Details of the share options granted to the substantial shareholders of the
Company under the share option scheme of the Company are set out in the
section “Share Option Scheme” in this report.

*  For identification purposes only
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, there were no
other persons who had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

According to the existing PRC laws and regulations, foreign investors
are generally restricted to invest in provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC.

In January 2018, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Beijing Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company Limited* (1t
REE X ELEE AR AR (“Beijing Subsidiary”) entered into
certain contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
with Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited* (t RE=
B E AR AR (the “VIE") and its subsidiary Beijing Hangaohua
Network Technology Company Limited* (t FE S EMER AR D
A]). Qingdao Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited* (§ BElE &
21k A BR A &) was incorporated on 28 May 2020 and wholly-owned
by the VIE (the VIE and its subsidiaries collectively the “VIE Group”).
The VIE Group is principally involved in the film and TV programmes
production and investment and the provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC.

Through the Contractual Arrangements, the Group will receive
economic benefits generated by, and obtain effective financial and
operational control and equity holders’ voting rights over the VIE
Group in order to indirectly engage in the film and TV programmes
production and investment and provision of internet audio-visual
programmes services in the PRC. The VIE Group holds some permits
including the License for Publication of Audio-Visual Programmes
through Information Network ({5 8 484& EH R FED B 57 A ) and
Telecommunication and Information Service Business Operation
Permit (B85 5 RIS E K4 & FT A 7%). Based on the advice of the
Company’s PRC legal adviser, the Board considers that the Contractual
Arrangements are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.

The financial position and results of operations of the VIE Group has
been consolidated into the Group's financial statements as the VIE
Group are regarded as indirect subsidiaries of the Group under HKFRS
10.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances
under which they were adopted, and there was no termination of
the Contractual Arrangements nor failure to terminate when the
restrictions that led to the adoptions of the Contractual Arrangements
are removed.

Particulars of the VIE Group, their registered
owners and a summary of major terms of the
Contractual Arrangements

As at 31 December 2022, particulars of the VIE Group are as follows:

Registered owners

HE_T-_—F+-A=1+—BLEFE &4%H
R/ IEREDNTH 2 BERAGBEERED A%
PEBLEAR AL - BB BURME WL HEZ IR FIARRR B
TMEZRERBERIEEHTHNIER -

VIEREREZRERAZHBRENR
BEz TR

RZEBE-—F+-_A=+—H ' VIEEEZFB®W
T

Company hames and the shareholding Registered capital Principal activities
NCIRCE BREEARRE AEMER FEER
Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture  Hu Hui (99%) RMB10,000,000 Film and TV programmes

Company Limited* I 25(99%)
I REBEEREARRAR] Ni Kelu (1%)
R I3 (1%)
Beijing Hangaohua Network Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture

Technology Company Limited*  Company Limited* (80%)
IREREARBRARAR tREESEERUEER A FEG0%)
Gu Haibin (20%)

/8 E (20%)
Qingdao Huanxi Shou Ying Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture
Culture Company Limited* Company Limited* (100%)

EEERBEERLERAT] It REE BRXXEER A F(100%)

The major terms of the Contractual Arrangements are summarised as
below:

(1)  Exclusive Services Agreement

According to the Exclusive Services Agreement, the VIE agreed
to engage the Beijing Subsidiary as its exclusive provider of
technical support and consultancy services requested by the VIE
from time to time with a service fee equalled to the net profit of
the VIE.
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@)

3)

(4)

(5)

Loan Agreement

According to the Loan Agreement, the Beijing Subsidiary agreed
to provide interest-free loans to the registered owners of the VIE
as capital contribution to the VIE. The registered owners of the
VIE, in return for the provision of loans, agreed to enter into an
Equity Interest Pledge Agreement with the Beijing Subsidiary to
pledge all of their equity interest in the VIE as security.

Equity Interest Pledge Agreement

According to the Equity Interest Pledge Agreement, each of
the registered owners of the VIE Group agreed to pledge all
their respective equity interests in the VIE Group to the Beijing
Subsidiary, as a security interest to guarantee the performance
of contractual obligations and the payment of outstanding loans
of the registered owner of the VIE Group.

Powers of Attorney

According to the Powers of Attorney, each of the registered
owners of the VIE irrevocably appointed designee of the Beijing
Subsidiary to act as their attorney on their behalf to exercise
all rights in connection with matters concerning their rights as
shareholders of the VIE.

Exclusive Option Contract

According to the Exclusive Option Contract, each of
the registered owners of the VIE agreed to irrevocably,
unconditionally and exclusively grant an exclusive option to the
Beijing Subsidiary to purchase the equity interests in the VIE
from the registered owners of the VIE, when it is permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws.

Risks associated with Contractual Arrangements
and the actions taken to mitigate the risks

The Group believes the following risks are associated with the
Contractual Arrangements:

If the PRC government finds that the Contractual Arrangements
that establish the structure for film and TV programmes
production and investment as well as provision of internet audio-
visual programmes series businesses in the PRC do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, we could be subject
to penalties and our business may be materially and adversely
affected,;

)

3)

(4)

(5)
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o Certain terms of our Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under the PRC laws;

o Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing control over our VIE as equity ownership;

o Any failure by the VIE or their respective ultimate shareholders
to perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements
would potentially lead to our having to incur additional costs
and expend material resources to enforce such arrangements,
temporary or permanent loss of control over our provision of
internet audio-visual programmes series businesses or loss of
access to the revenue from these businesses;

o The ultimate owners of the VIE may have potential conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition;

o If any of the VIE or its subsidiaries becomes the subject of a
bankruptcy or liquidation proceeding, we may lose the ability to
use and enjoy certain important assets, which could materially
and adversely affect our business; and

o Our exercise of the option to acquire the equity interests of the
VIE may be subject to certain limitations and the ownership
transfer may incur substantial costs.

The Group realised that there are regulatory risks associated with
the Contractual Arrangements. The Group will follow on the latest
developments with regards to the relevant PRC laws, rules and
regulations and seek professional legal advice when necessary.

Revenue and assets involved in the Contractual
Arrangements

Revenue and film investment loss and assets of the VIE Group of
approximately HK$1,146,000 (2021: revenue and film investment
income HK$2,907,000) and HK$446,384,000 (2021: HK$330,079,000),
respectively, are consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The above revenue and assets included
transactions and balances with the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of business of the Company were
entered into or exist during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the percentage of turnover
of the Group attributable to the largest customer and the five largest
customers combined are 29.34% and 54.29% respectively. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the percentage of purchases of the
Group attributable to the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
combined are 47.94% and 95.36% respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's largest customer
accounted for 29.34% of turnover of the Group was Bilibili, a
shareholder owns more than five percent of the Company’s issued
shares, the turnover was mainly related to sub-licensing of some
contents of the Group’s online video platform.

As at 31 December 2022, none of the directors, their associates or
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than
five percent of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in the
five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the Group.
Hence, the Group has been endeavouring to provide our staff with a
fair and harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse cultural
backgrounds are treated equally. We offer a competitive remuneration
package and great opportunities for career advancement based on
employees’ performance.

In respect of the business of the Group, the film industry is fragmented
and highly competitive. Following years of rapid development, there
is a vast number of independent service providers providing various
film and television programmes production and distribution services
and there is a number of reputable and reliable independent service
providers who have been engaged by Hong Kong and overseas film
companies for producing and distributing films and television drama
series in the PRC. Mr. Dong Ping, the Chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, Mr. Ning Hao and Mr. Xu Zheng, both non-executive
Directors, have extensive experience, expertise and connections in the
media and entertainment industries and each of them has noteworthy
background, experience, social status, personal and/or professional
achievements and connections with business partners in the film
industry, their collective knowledge and experience would enhance
the Group to identify appropriate and reliable third party service
providers and negotiate suitable commercial arrangements with such
providers to provide the necessary services to the Company.
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The Group also places effort to maintain good relationships with
financial institutions and professional advisers to maintain its
continuous growth and operation needs.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board paid attention to the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. External
compliance and legal advisers are engaged to ensure transactions
and business performed by the Group are within the applicable law
framework. Besides, the Group always maintains a safe working
environment for staff in accordance with relevant safety policies.
There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Company during 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group encourages staff to save energy, minimise the use of
natural resources and paper products. The existing businesses
of the Group are not expected to create material damages to the
environment. We will continue to take into account the environmental
protection factor in the future when planning business activities
ahead. Please also refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of this annual report for details.

REVIEW OF THE RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with the
management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed internal control and financial reporting matters
including the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company's corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.
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DONATIONS

During the year, the Group did not make any donations to charitable
and non-profit-making organisations.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There was no material event after reporting period up to the date of
this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
Certified Public Accountants. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, as auditor of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Dong Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board considers that maintaining corporate governance at high
standard is essential for enhancing accountability and transparency of
a company to the investing public and other stakeholders. Therefore,
the Company is committed to good corporate governance practices
for corporate sustainability and business growth.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
applied the principles and complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”).

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. During the financial year 2022, Mr.
Dong Ping acted as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven acted as the Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Dong Ping focuses on the leadership role in the Board to ensure
that the Board works effectively in discharging its responsibilities
whilst Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven focuses on day-to-day corporate
management matters of the Group. The Board considers that the
segregation of responsibilities among the Board members meets the
requirements under the CG Code. The roles of the Chairman and chief
executive officer are separate and exercised by different individuals,
Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code has been complied.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is vested with the key roles of formulating the Group's
corporate strategic directions and policies; monitoring the financial
performance and internal control system of the Group; reviewing
the corporate governance standard of the Company, and overseeing
the performance of management, which is delegated with the
responsibilities of executing the Board’s decision and in-charging
day-to-day operation. It also decides on matters such as annual and
interim results, notifiable transactions, director appointments or re-
appointments and company policies.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company. In preparing the financial
statements, the generally accepted accounting standards in Hong
Kong have been adopted, appropriate accounting policies have
been used and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgements and estimates have been made. The financial statements
are prepared on a going concern basis. The Directors confirm that,
to the best of their knowledge, they are not aware of material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The statement made by the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report of the annual report.

Code Provision A.4.1 requires non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The existing
Directors including the executive Directors, the non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are for a term of
2 years (except Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven, an executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group, there is no specific term or
proposed length of services for Mr. Xiang's appointment). All of the
existing Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company complied
with rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors,
at least one independent non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise, and a sufficient number of independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the board,
respectively.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, three non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors,
whose biographies are set out in the Biographical Details of Directors
of this annual report. All the Directors are high calibre executives
with diversified industry expertise and bring a wide range of skills
and experience to the Group. The Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each
other.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

The list of the Directors has been published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange, and is disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time.

The composition of the Board and their respective attendance in the
general meetings, Board meetings and other committee meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

ERGRAMANTES AN TEER=F
BUFNTEFER  EFEERALFRETE
B - 2BEEHATBBRITHAR - A%
TRTLES  AREEBREERMRESH - &
EESRBHMEHNG £ PEAENE
K/ AR -

ARFBERBZSBIIIFRTEERELTRAE
BBMGBHE T BFBE T MRERL  URREBIUIFE
HITESEBBEIAL -

EEZXEERARANBRPAEM AWM - TFERA
RETERER EmRRTIEZ A QR

Ego

BE-_E_—_F+-_A=+t—HILEE BFer
MR RESEERRERE BEFeZREMEE
LR ZABEEERNT

No. of meetings attended/eligible to attend

HE/ BREREREEAY
Regular Audit Remuneration  Nomination
General fullBoard  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
Ezelg BRZEE yMzEE REZES
REAE REHE EE 6 EE
Number of meetings EEDE 2 1 4 1 1
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman) BTRE(EE) 12 At N/ATER 1" 17
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven BRERE(THEH) 2/2 A/ N/ATR B N/ATE R N/ATE R
(Chief Executive Officer)
Non-Executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Ning Hao BEgE 072 174 N/ATER NATER N/ATER
Mr. Xu Zheng RELE 0/2 174 N/ATRER N/ATER N/ATER
Ms. LiNi Lt 012 04 N/ATER NATER N/ATER
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BU#ETEE
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BEREE 22 3/4 44 N/ATER NAPER
Mr. Li Xiaolong £\ 22 2/4 3/4 1 171
Mr. Wang Hong Fiss 0/2 3/4 4/4 1 17
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

There was no change in Directors’ information since the date of the
annual report 2021, which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken to perform corporate governance duties
and adopted the terms of reference on corporate governance
functions on 27 March 2012 for better management of the business
and affairs of the Group.

The duties of the Board in respect of corporate governance functions
shall be:

() to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance,

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iiiy  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v)  to review the Company's compliance with the code provisions
set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules and its disclosure requirements in the Corporate
Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee to
oversee particular aspect of the Group's affair. Each of the committees
had defined terms of reference setting out its duty, power and
functions. The committees report to the Board and, where appropriate,
make recommendations on matters discussed.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at 1 January 2022, the audit committee was composed of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Tak Chuen
(committee chairman), Mr. Li Xiaolong and Mr. Wang Hong. During
2022, the main role and functions of the audit committee are to review
the financial information of the Company, to oversee the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
procedures and maintain relations with the auditor of the Company.

The audit committee is mainly responsible for the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the auditor, monitor the integrity of
the Company’s financial information including the interim and final
results of the Group and oversight of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems. The terms of reference of the audit
committee are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

In 2022, the audit committee had held four meetings. During one
of the meetings, annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 was reviewed with the auditor of the Company. The
audit committee also reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial
reporting matters with the management team of the Company. The
other meetings were also held during 2022 that interim results of the
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022 and financial matters
were discussed. The audit committee also reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and financial reporting
matters with the management team of the Company.

The Company has engaged an external consultant to facilitate the
Board and the audit Committee for the evaluation of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems for 2022. An annual
internal control review was performed by the external consultant to
make recommendations for improving and strengthening the risk
management and internal control systems. The audit committee, with
the assistance of the management and the external consultant, has
conducted annual review on the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. Please refer to the section
“Internal Control and Risk Management” in this Corporate Governance
Report for the details on the review by the audit committee on the
Group's internal control and risk management for 2022.
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The audit committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG
Code for the year 2022. The audit committee reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
this Corporate Governance Report. The corporate governance report
has been reviewed by the audit committee and the Board in discharge
of its corporate governance function.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company was set up with key
responsibilities for considering and approving the appointment of
members of the Board and will meet to discuss when nomination
of new Director(s) is received or when circumstances require. In
considering the suitability of a candidate for directorship, the Board will
take into account the candidate’s qualification, experience, expertise
and knowledge as well as the prevailing composition, structure and
size of the Board and the requirements under the Listing Rules.

Under the terms of reference of the nomination committee, the
nomination committee shall, among others, identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; the candidates for directorship will be
selected taken into account a wide range of factors, including but
not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and service term. The
terms of reference of the nomination committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As at 1 January 2022, the nomination committee was composed of
Mr. Wang Hong (committee chairman and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Dong Ping (executive Director and Chairman of the
Board) and Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent non-executive Director). The
committee member met once in the year ended 31 December 2022.
The meeting was held to discuss the re-election of Directors at the
annual general meeting held on 23 June 2022.

A policy for board on diversity had been adopted in May 2013 and
a policy for nomination of Directors which sets out the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria to select and recommend
candidates for directorship had been adopted in 2019. Please refer to
the “Corporate Governance” section on the Company’s website for
the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy.
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Board Diversity Policy

The board diversity policy is adopted in 2013 and updated in 2015
which is to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Company’s
Board. In designing the Board’'s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board. The nomination committee will
review the policy and monitor the implementation of the policy.

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy is adopted in 2019 which sets out the selection
criteria and nomination procedures for appointment of Directors.
Factors assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for
directorship include but are not limited to reputation, qualifications,
accomplishment and experience, commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest and potential contribution that can bring
to the Company. Independence requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules will also be considered in case of appointment or re-
appointment of independent non-executive director. The nomination
committee will make recommendation to the Board for consideration.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was set up with key
responsibilities of recommending to the Board (i) the policy and
structure for remuneration of Directors and senior management;
and (ii) the remuneration package of executive Directors and senior
management. The Board retains the final authority to approve the
remuneration packages.

Under the terms of reference of the remuneration committee, the
remuneration committee shall, among others, make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.
The remuneration committee also make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management. This should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment. The
terms of reference of the remuneration committee were revised and
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
on 23 December 2022.
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As at 1 January 2022, the remuneration committee was composed of
Mr. Wang Hong (committee chairman and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Dong Ping (Chairman of the Board and executive
Director) and Mr. Li Xiaolong (independent non-executive Director).
The committee met once in the year ended 31 December 2022. The
meeting was held to review the emoluments of the Directors and
to review the remuneration packages of the Directors retired in the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 23 June 2022. No
Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Wing Koon, the Company Secretary of the Company, has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2022.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration payable to
the auditor of the Company in respect of audit and non-audit services
are approximately HK$3,285,000 (2021: HK$3,285,000) and HK$15,000
(2021: HK$15,000) respectively. Non-audit services provided by the
auditor of the Company were related to annual results announcement.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management and internal control are essential parts of
corporate governance. The Directors have the overall responsibility
for internal control and risk management systems, and review their
effectiveness. The Group has established policies and procedures for
risk management and internal control to ensure the proper monitoring
and control of major risks arising from the Group's activities. The
Group has engaged an external internal control and risk management
consultant (i.e. the Consultant) to perform the Group’s internal audit
function, to review and improve the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Company has put in
place risk management and internal control systems which enable the
Group to respond appropriately to significant business, operational,
financial, compliance and other risks. Furthermore, they help ensure
the quality of internal and external reporting within the Group and the
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and also internal
policies with respect to the conduct of businesses of the Group.
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The Board, through the audit committee and with the assistance of
the Consultant, have conducted reviews on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for 2022 once
and considered the Group has operated an effective, appropriate, and
adequate risk management and internal control systems (based on
the findings of the Consultants’ internal control review reports and
discussion with the Consultant). In respect of the Group’s internal
control systems, it aims at safeguarding assets from inappropriate
use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring compliance with
regulations. The management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of the internal control system.
The internal control and risk management systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks of
failure to achieve business objectives.

Along with the internal control review, the Consultant has prepared
annual review report on overall effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal control over the Company’s policies and procedures for
compliance with appendix 14 of the Listing Rules were reviewed for
the year ended 31 December 2022. Along with the risk management
review, the Board, through the audit committee and with the
assistance of the Consultant, have, among others, identified, evaluated
and assessed the key risk factors affecting the Group’s business and
its operation. During the risk assessment process, the management of
the Company has reviewed aspects including operation, compliance
and strategic areas. High-priority risks identified included strategic
risk of investing in entertainment industry, operation risks such as
uncertainties in production quality of media projects, credit risk in
relation to distributors and risks involved in compliance with various
censorship regulations, listing rules compliance, and financial data
reporting standards.

Management would from time to time review the key risks identified
and determine their responses to high-priority risks and where
necessary, report on significant changes and effectiveness of the
systems of risk management.

The Board had adopted a whistle blowing policy including procedures
for employees to report any irregularities on the affairs of the
Company.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry,
all Directors confirmed that they fully complied with the Model Code
throughout 2022.

DIRECTORS' TRAINING

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contributions to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to all
Directors for their continuous professional development. The Company
has from time to time provided Directors with materials relating to the
business and operations of the Group, latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and their responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, all existing Directors have
received the following trainings:
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS' LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for liabilities
in respect of legal actions against Directors and officers of the
Company and its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the
Group under Code A.1.8 of the CG Code. The insurance coverage is
reviewed on an annual basis.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determined
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

Pursuant to the statutory regime for disclosure of inside information
sets out in Part XIVA of the SFO with effect from 1 January 2013,
the Board has adopted an inside information policy on 27 August
2013 which sets out the guidelines to the Directors, officers and all
relevant employees of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations,
which includes, among others, all inside information must be treated
strictly confidential and disclosure of inside information must be
made in a manner that provides the public with an equal, timely and
effective access to the information, such as through the electronic
publication system operated by the Stock Exchange. Generally, no
employee or Director may disclose, discuss or share with outside
parties (except for communication with the Group's advisers who
owe a duty of confidentiality, e.g. lawyers, and other categories of
persons as allowed under the Part XIVA of the SFO) the information
of price-sensitive nature about the Company that has not been
released to the public. Please refer to the website of the Company
www.huanximedia.com under the section “Corporate Governance” for
the Company’s inside information policy.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders’ communication policy was adopted by the Board
on 27 March 2012 and last updated in July 2019. Shareholders’
communication policy and shareholder’s rights are published on the
designated website of the Company.
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RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
Enquiries other than shareholdings may be directed to the head office
and principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong as set
out in the Corporate Information of this annual report for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

RIGHT TO CONVENE SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING

Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the bye-
law 62 of the Bye-laws, the shareholder(s) of the Company holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company may request
the Board to convene a special general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of
the Company at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM 10, Bermuda for the attention of the Company Secretary and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the said date.
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RIGHT TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number of shareholders
of the Company representing not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or (i) not less than 100 shareholders, the Company shall, at
the expense of the requisitionists:

(@  togive to shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice
of the next annual general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting; and

(b)  to circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company at Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

RIGHT TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR ELECTION
AS A DIRECTOR

According to the Bye-laws, no person other than a retiring Director
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
a notice in writing signed by a shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person for
election as a Director and also a notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected (including that person'’s biographical details
as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) shall be lodged with
the Company Secretary at the Company's principal place of business
in Hong Kong provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven days and that
(if the notices are submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgement
of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no
later than seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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If such notice(s) are received less than ten business days prior to the
date of such general meeting, the Company will need to consider
the adjournment of such general meeting in order to allow the
Shareholders fourteen clear days’ notice of the proposal.

DIVIDEND POLICY

A policy on payment of dividend had been adopted in March 2019.
The policy specifies that the Board may pay interim dividends as
appear to the Board to be justified by the position of the Company and
declare and pay special dividends on such dates as they think fit. The
Company may declare dividends in general meetings of the Company,
but the declared dividend shall not exceed the amount recommended
by the Board.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of the
Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except where
the chairman of the general meeting, in good faith, decides to allow
a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative
matter to be voted by a show of hands.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains websites at www.huanximedia.com and
www.irasia.com/listco/hk/huanximedia where information and
updates on the list of Directors and their roles and functions, terms
of reference of the Board committees, procedures for nomination of
Directors for election, announcements, circulars and reports released
to the Stock Exchange and other information are posted.

The memorandum of association and amended and restated Bye-
Laws of the Company was adopted by the Board and published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on 23 June
2022. Save for the above, there were no changes in the Company’s
constitutional documents during 2022.
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The Company is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Report, which summarises the ESG policies,
initiatives, and performance of the Group, in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” ("ESG
Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules and is
issued together with the annual report. This report aims to provide our
stakeholders with a comprehensive understanding of our major ESG
policies, initiatives and performances of the Group in four dimensions,
namely employment and labour practices, operating practices,
environmental protection and community participation.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

In line with the Corporate Governance Code, the Board is responsible
for the Group’s environmental, social and governance strategies and
reporting. The Board is also responsible for evaluating and determining
the Group’s ESG-related risks, and ensuring that appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in
place. Management is responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of
these systems and reporting to the Board, which is responsible for
monitoring and reviewing the compliance of ESG-related issues with
laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, we were committed to incorporating
sustainable development into our overall business strategy. To achieve
the above objectives, the Group has implemented an effective internal
control system for environmental, social and governance, and adopted
reasonable risk management measures to embed the concept of
environmental, social and governance into our cultural system.
We judge the effectiveness of implementation based on pollution
emissions and energy usage. The Group firmly believes that the
sustainable development of an enterprise is not only to strive to create
maximum benefits for all stakeholders, but also to achieve sustainable
development through good corporate governance, corporate social
responsibility, compliance with environmental regulations and
consistent philosophy.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Material ESG issues are being identified and prioritised through
our stakeholder engagement exercise. This year, we conducted an
extensive stakeholder engagement exercise to further understand
and update what our stakeholders consider to be important ESG
issues. The list of material ESG issues was reviewed and validated by
the Board and incorporated into the Group’s planning for business
strategies and ESG initiatives. Going forward, the list of material
ESG issues will be reviewed annually by the Board. For more details
on materiality analysis of ESG issues, please refer to the sections
“Stakeholders Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” below.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The ESG Report is governed by the “Comply or Explain” principle
which is the disclosure of the recommended and mandatory Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIS”). In order to present a more balanced
picture of our ESG performance and practices, the ESG Report also
encompasses four other core principles:

- Materiality: The ESG Report shall disclose any quantitative or
qualitative ESG data that have the potential to influence the
judgment of the reader.

- Quantitative: The environmental, social and governance
objectives identified by the Group should be measurable to
facilitate comparison with previous years, competitors and
industry standards.

- Balance: The ESG report should provide an unbiased picture of
the issuer’s performance. The report should avoid selections,
omissions, or presentation formats that may inappropriately
influence a decision or judgment by the report reader.

- Consistency: The assumptions and calculation methods used
for any KPI should be consistent with previous years to ensure
that the relevant data can be compared effectively. Any changes
to the relevant assumptions or calculation methods should be
clearly disclosed to inform stakeholders.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in media and
entertainment-related businesses, including development and
investment in film and TV programmes rights, as well as operation of
an online video platform. This ESG Report covers the whole range of
our businesses, including development and investment in film and TV
programmes rights as well as operation of the online video platform.
The geographical locations of the Group’s businesses are situated in
Hong Kong and the PRC. The information stated in this report spans
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”)
which aligns with the financial year as this annual report.

The information contained in this report has been collected through
various means, including but not limited to the Group’s internal
control policies; factual evidence of the implementation of ESG-related
measures; KPIs; third-party questionnaires; and quantitative data on
the Group’s annual performance in its business operations and ESG
management.

REVIEW AND APPROVAL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the integrity
of the ESG Report and to the best of their knowledge, the ESG Report
addresses all relevant material issues and fairly presents the ESG
performance of the Company. The Board confirms that it has reviewed
and approved the ESG Report. The ESG Report was reviewed and
approved on 30 March 2023.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

To better serve our stakeholders, we have regularly refined our
corporate social responsibility (“CSR") practices by connecting with
a range of stakeholders to identify the issues that are material and
relevant to us. The Group has proactively engaged with various
stakeholder groups through different channels on a transparent
platform. Continuous improvements to the communication channels
have been made to maintain a long-lasting relationship with the
stakeholders. We have encompassed every stakeholder to improve
the Group’s relationship with the suppliers, employees, shareholders,
customers, supervisory institutions, and society as a whole. We strive
to understand their ESG concerns.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged with the following key
stakeholder groups and identified their concerns on ESG issues:

Stakeholders
SR
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Requirements and expectations
ERRHE

BB Aa KBS

RBEHRN AEERATEIEFNEBEETSE
B WRRIMPIEIRE e MBI ARENEEY)

Communications and actions
BERTE

Government/Regulatory Authorities
BT/ EEKE

e compliance with laws and regulations
EPERER

¢ support for economic development
XHEREER

compliance management

BHRER

submission of reports and payment of
taxes

EXWE LI
Shareholders e financial results reports and announcements
&S B e BERRE
e business developments general meetings
EBER RERE
e Corporate governance company website, email and hotline
rEER DR - BERAGER
¢ channels of communications press release
BRRE HER
Customers e high-quality products and services creative and quality products
P BEERMRE BIFEEER
e meeting customers’ needs protection of customer information and
iR P EE K privacy
o feedback channels RERPER RILE
REBERE dedicated customer service
EBEEP IR
email and hotline
BHRERERE
press release
HER
Employees e employees’ compensation and benefits provision of good remuneration and
EE EENHEET welfare

e career development
BEEE

e protection of occupational health
{RIBE S 12

e work and life balance
FETEEE

R R oF B0 F B AR A

regular performance reviews and feedback
TR A R R E

employee training

Ll

meetings
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Stakeholders Requirements and expectations Communications and actions
B ERRHE BRERTE
Suppliers and Business Partners e compliance with contracts o performance of contracts according to law
MR REBRY BFEH RERITEH
e communication channels o attending film festivals
BRRE BINELE
* business ethics ¢ dedicated internal control and risk
[EE3EE management
BIHAAEERERER
¢ emails and meetings
BEBREE
Community and Environment e support for charity o donation
R E YRAGEREFE BX
e eco-friendly business practices e increasing the efficiency of the use of
RERIEEBRER resources and energy

RIE RN BERE AR E

During the Reporting Period, the Group actively consulted with  RIREHRA - REEBEHEZ AL ENDE - WHEHE
different stakeholders and took measures to strengthen ties with s 58 B335 1 35 A B B 2 (R 435 B b P B A AT R »
stakeholders and maintain friendly relations with them. We regularly M EHZEMGH RS « FERE AENREBEXH -
publish interim reports, annual reports, announcements, and circulars — ASRE RSB FLI5 7 5 B8 1) 49 B T8 AT EREVE 1E /Y #
to report the progress of the Group's actions on matters of concern  RBIEN - RIFEHR - BHPURAMSAEELAIAT
to stakeholders. During the Reporting Period, we used a form of  f##EH&EREIY) - BT -

guestionnaire to understand the concerns of stakeholders, as detailed
below.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted an annual review
to determine the major concerns and interests of stakeholders on
environmental, social and governance issues through stakeholder
participation in substantive assessment surveys. According to the
influence and dependence of internal and external stakeholders
on the Group, some internal and external stakeholders (including
management, employees, customers, and suppliers) participated in
the materiality assessment process conducted by the Group for this
report. Selected stakeholders were invited to participate in a survey to
comment on key ESG topics. The purpose of the survey is to determine
the views of stakeholders on the Group’s key ESG issues and to
conduct a substantive assessment of the Group. We have assessed
and identified key environmental, social and governance topics for the
Group and assessed the importance of these topics to the business
and stakeholders to further drive our sustainable business strategy.
The following diagram shows the evaluation process:

BB Aa KBS
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Identify Issues of Stakeholders
Materiality Survey
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Issues of Materiality
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A total of 28 ESG topics were
identified and considered as
relevant to the Group with
reference to peer benchmarking
results.
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We invited internal and external
stakeholders to assess the
“importance to the Group” and
“importance to the external

stakeholders” of each issue
through questionnaires.
HPIBBE A RN DB
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The management of the Group
are responsible for reviewing and
confirming the  assessment
result, then reporting to the
Board. Based on the assessment
results, we identified 10 issues
that are extremely critical to the
Group, for details please see the
table below.
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The ranking of the Group’s material ESG issues are as follows: AEBEBAIRE LS RERZBRANNOT :
Very Important Important Less Important
IEEE BE REZE
1. Marketing communications (e.g.  11. Diversity and equal opportunity of  23. Environmentally preferable
advertisement) employees products and services
EHERWES) EEMNZ TR TFEHeE IRIREE G AN AR 75
2. Customer information and 12. Preventing child and forced 24. Energy use (e.g. electricity, gas,
privacy labour fuel)
BEFEREALRE BrlbE Takoalss T SR (0B A ~ RS - RED
38 Observing and protecting 13.  Employee remuneration, benefits o5 \water use
intellectual property rights and rights (e.g. working hours, BB B
o R AR P ANl EE A rest periods, working conditions)
1B B Er B - t8 T KA (40 TYERT 26. Community support (e.g.
4. Number of concluded legal B KBRS - TIERM) donation, volunteering)
cases regarding corrupt HETIEBE - EERK)
practices, e.g. bribery, extortion, 14.  Customer satisfaction
fraid and m\o_nexlaundering EPmEE 27. Use of materials (e.g. paper,
Eﬁ%ﬁ'ﬂﬁﬁuﬁu@%@@%{ A _ _ N _ packaging, raw materials)
(InEEEs - $h= - BREFREER) 150 Anti-corruption training provided WM S B (NARSE - B - B
to directors and staff D
5. Product health and safety MEFREIRHENREFHEI
EmEREL e - 28.  Hazardous waste production
e s BERYEE
6. Environmental risks (e.g. e le

pollution) and social risks (e.g.

monopoly) of the suppliers 17. Mitigation measures to protect

i e 7 A B8 LR (4055 32 B At environment and natural
& [ (A8 ET) resources
A IRERFE N RABIRIET ER
/. Greenﬁh ougﬁeﬁias emissions 18.  Anti-corruption policies and
m 2R whistle-blowing procedure
8. Employee development and RESUER RBREFF
training .
= P 19. Non-hazardous waste production
é o | ==
7 ;odtggggnggglce teloellin 20. Air emissions
R FERBER

10.  Selection and monitoring of —_—
suppliers 21.  Cultivation of local employment

144 1 P ) I R B R R E I

22. Occupational health and safety
BERREZS
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According to above result, some topics such as (1) Marketing
communications, (2) Customer information and privacy, (3) Observing
and protecting intellectual property rights, (4) Number of concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices; and (5) Product health
and safety, are very important to the Group. The above topics are
categorised as the main elements that drive the sustainable business
development of the Group and we will further elaborate on them in
the following sections.

FEEDBACK CONTACT

The latest business updates are available to the public through
our website (www.huanximedia.com). The Group welcomes all
stakeholders’ feedback regarding the ESG issues. Interested parties
can contact the Group to share their suggestions and opinions through
the channels listed below:

Address: 11th Floor
Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road
Admiralty, Hong Kong
Email: info@huanxi.com

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group attaches great importance to the “dual carbon” goal,
and following the deployment of the “dual carbon” goal of the
PRC government, draws on overseas experience, strengthens
the carbon footprint accounting of our film industry, and
takes the road of sustainable and high-quality development.
We strictly abide by the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, the Noise Control
Ordinance, the Waste Disposal Ordinance and the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong, and other applicable
laws and regulations, since environmental protection and energy
conservation are very important to our sustainable development.

Considering the nature of our businesses, the impact of the
Group’s business activities on the environment and energy
consumption is minimal. The Group has made efforts to integrate
environmental protection into our daily business operation. It
is reflected by our promotion of pollution prevention, waste
reduction, and recycling. For all of our investment decision-
making processes, as one of the key assessment criteria, we
perform comprehensive assessments and give due consideration
to minimise the potential impact on the environment.

BB A& RO R

REBIALER - PN EHERE - QFFER R
B QUENREBHNZERE QEBENEITHA
REONHE  UROERBFERLZEERDZEY
AEEFFEE - DAZERBEREIAREAF
BEBEZRNIZAR  RABNTXEHELE—F

f= B A%

N 57 A 7 4B B P9 A9 48 Sk (www.huanximedia.com) &
MEHMEREN - AEFBEBOMERDERRE -
HEeRERZEREREER - BEEUEANUT
REMRAEEREERZNLER

oAk BEEE
ERIE165
RED R
1ME

Eic info@huanxi.com

A. BIE

AEESEERIERIBR  ARRPEK
FITE%% | B IR BE - BEEINEER - IN3R
BEYEFNRETZE  EARKENGEE
BRZE - RABRRET(PEARKNER
BR#EER) - BEC(ERSREHIEDD) - (&
ZEHEDD - (BEMRE G RCOKSRE
HlERG - AR EMERERLER - RRE
RIRREABEHRPINAIRHERRFFTEE

ERBAXBOUEE  AEBXRBEHHIR
BRERBRNTZEEM - AEE—HEHN
BIRERBABBERLED - ENRMEND
1ET5 2~ R BE W) Ko B We O TED B HE S AR RR
Ko ERBERERRBRTNERNGE
BZ— BAETE2ANGLEEER &
ERVHRRENEERE -

BEGEEBERAR - —B-FFR 77



BB A KB R

RBEEHAR - AREETARERISRNE
YMERIZHERIER  BRBTENBRE
B MAERR B EEAERER

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with laws and
regulations related to air pollution and waste handling including
relevant regulations in the PRC, and the Group did not have any
significant environmental violations.

A1 Emissions A1 BERY

78

Exhaust emissions

The Group implements strict management of emissions
generated during our operations to meet the relevant
emission standards. We have gathered, organised, and
analysed greenhouse gas data following ESG Reporting
Guide to control emissions from the source.

Based on the nature of our businesses and the ongoing
assessment by the management of the Group, we did not
generate significant air emissions or hazardous waste.
The Group's greenhouse gas emissions are mainly indirect
emissions, which are caused by the use of electricity in the
Group's workplaces, car travel, and employee travel.

Regarding the above issues, our goal is to reduce the
emissions year by year. The Group has advocated green
office to reduce the negative impact on the environment,
such as saving energy and cutting power off in time to
reduce unnecessary waste; encouraging employees
to use teleconferencing or online conferences to avoid
unnecessary travel. Moving forward, the Group will
continue to monitor if any significant impact on air quality
from the Group's operations.
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For details of air and greenhouse gas emissions EHBERNMAEREBEMERR  F2H
performance, please refer to the table below: T :
Emission category KPIs Unit 2022 2021 Movement
B Bl HARENER By B ZEB-—F 25
Emissions from vehicles NOX kg 9.00 9.86 -9%
B Ry T
SOx kg 0.34 0.43 -21%
ey T
PM kg 0.66 0.73 -10%
R T
Greenhouse gas emissions®™ Scope 1@ tCOe 62 80 -23%
BE RSB F[E1@ M-S tiREgE
Scope 29 tCO,e 107 88 22%
#E20 M-tk E =2
Scope 3% tCO,e 17 19 -11%
el M= riREE
186 187 -1%

Intensity per employee®

BEEBEER
Emission category KPIs Unit 2022 2021
B Bl BRENER By —EBDCF —E-—fF
Emissions from vehicles NOX kg 0.099 0.093
BHERBERY Ry =
SOx kg 0.004 0.004
=Rl ) TR
PM kg 0.007 0.007
R T
Greenhouse gas emissions®™  Scope 1@ tCOe 0.68 0.75
BEREEBE RO EENE M-S ikEE
Scope 20 tCO,e 1.18 0.83
& [F] 20 W —E bk g E
Scope 3% tCOe 0.19 0.18
& [E] 3% WS iREE
2.05 1.76
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Notes:

1. Greenhouse gas emissions included emissions of carbon
dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide, where methane and
nitrous oxide emissions were converted to carbon dioxide
emissions based on global warming potential ("GWP").
Therefore, the total amount of greenhouse gas emissions is the
total amount of carbon dioxide emissions equivalent.

2. Scope 1 included direct greenhouse gas emissions from the
combustion of fuels in mobile sources (e.g. vehicles) controlled
by the Group.

g Scope 2 included indirect greenhouse gas emissions of

electricity purchased from power companies.

4. Scope 3 included the indirect greenhouse gas emissions of
disposal of paper waste at landfill and business travel by
employees.

58 The intensity calculation method is to divide the air, greenhouse
gas, and other emissions in 2022 by the Group's total labour
force of 91 (2021:106).

6. The methodology adopted for reporting on greenhouse gas
emissions set out above was based on “How to Prepare an ESG
Report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

Waste management

The Group strictly abides by the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste, the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), and other relevant regulations. The Group
manages the waste in compliance with these regulations,
and prevents waste from polluting the environment.

As we are engaged in film and TV programmes rights
investments, as well as operation of an online video
platform, there is no significant environmental issue
was noted and no hazardous waste was generated in
our business activities within the Reporting Period, and
we have not produced a notable level of air or water
pollutants. Our waste is mainly attributed to our daily
activities such as regular trash and paper used for job
management and office documents, which are non-
hazardous. We entrusted qualified third-party companies
to recycle and dispose of those non-hazardous waste.
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We hope that the amount of paper used can decrease year
by year. To reduce the generation of the non-hazardous
waste, we have established office policies related to saving
paper. First of all, the Group encourages employees to
make full use of the Group's online office system and
minimise the use of paper; secondly, the Group advocates
employees to recycle paper. For example, double-sided
printing is adopted for recycling to reduce paper waste and
reduce waste paper from the source.

Through our continuous efforts, the Group discharged
0.58 tonnes of wasted papers in 2022, decreased by
1.7% compared with the previous year (2021: 0.59
tonnes), the intensity of wasted paper was 0.006 tonnes
(2021: 0.006 tonnes) per employee. Moving forward,
the Group will continue to monitor wastes disposal.

Use of Resources

Considering the nature of our businesses, the main
resources consumed by the Group were electricity, petrol,
and water, and no packaging materials are used. The
direct energy consumption refers to the fuel consumed
by motor vehicles; the indirect energy consumption refers
to electricity consumption. During the Reporting Period,
the direct and indirect energy consumption were 135.00
MWh (2021: 133.97 MWh) and 222.37 MWh (2021: 285.58
MWh) respectively., the intensity of total direct and indirect
energy consumption was 3.93 MWh (2021: 3.96 MWh) per
employee.

Payment for water usage has been included in the
management fee to the landlord, thus related consumption
data cannot be obtained. Meanwhile, the Group did not
have problems with shortage of water supply and the
use of packaging material is not applicable to our core
business.

We aim to continuously improve the efficiency of energy
use in order to achieve the purpose of saving energy. To
better manage the use of resources and improve resource
utilisation, the Group has implemented key measures
during the Reporting Period including but not limited to the
following:

o Strictly control the power consumption of the office
building, turn off the power supply in time when the
computer is not in use, and carefully check whether
the computer, water dispenser, lighting, and other
electrical equipment are powered off after work.

A2
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o Keep doors and windows closed when air
conditioners are in use, and maintaining the
temperature at 24C inside offices.

. Enhance electronic means of communication with

e EAZHBHMAME  A/HL
EHENREERAE24T -

o IEREEEMETAEBELA -

employees.
e Encourage the virtual conferences to replace the e HEERERAREECEAETER
physical ones mostly. e

o Encourage employees to consciously develop

s TRAEEBAEBEBKEHAMKNE

the habit of saving water, turn off taps at will, and B BEFEEKERE  RPR
eliminate waste. g
e Advocate employees to take public transportation to e REEEFLAHAIBIES

work to achieve green travel.

o Actively recycle waste paper and use recycled paper
as much as possible.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The existing business operations of the Group are not
expected to pose a material impact on the environment.
However, the management had nonetheless incorporated
the factor of the potential impact on the environment and
natural resources in business operations planning. The
Group hopes that continuous improvement will contribute
to the global ecological environment.

Although the Group’s impacts on environment are
insignificant and the Group seldom uses natural resources
directly, we still encourage our employees to reduce the
use of natural resources and recycle as much as possible,
as described in section “A2 Use of Resources”.
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A4 Climate Change

At present, the impact of climate change on human beings
has become a global concern, and climate change is
affecting all aspects of our lives. The Group is not involved
in large-scale manufacturing industry and is relatively less
affected by the climate. The Group will continue to monitor
the potential risks of climate change and its impacts
on the Group's operations and adopt the appropriate
environmental protection measures as stated in this report
accordingly. However, we should not underestimate the
risks brought about by climate change, such as operational
risks, profit risks, and so on. The Group believes that all
stakeholders should work together to address climate
change, which will also be regarded as one of the most
significant risks to the world in the coming years. In order
to reduce those risks from extreme weather and natural
disasters, we have put in place emergency response
procedures, as outlined in the employee handbook, such
as procedures for work arrangements under typhoons and
black rainstorms, and safeguards to minimise loss of office
equipment and facilities, business impact, and harm to
employee safety, with details as stated below:

o During the Reporting Period, the Group has provided
insurance to office premises and employees so as
to safeguard the property of the office and safety of
employees.

J Regularly promote the knowledge of natural disaster
prevention to enhance the safety and protection
awareness of the Group’s employees.

o Strengthen the usual inspection, early detection of
hidden dangers and the use of practical preventive
and control measures in an effort to reduce the
damage caused by natural disasters.

o We regularly perform complete backups of system
data to support the resumption of critical business
operations.

In October 2021, the Hong Kong Government issued the
“Hong Kong's Climate Action Plan”, and formulated various
plans and actions, setting out the vision of “Zero-carbon
Emissions, Liveable City, Sustainable Development”. The
Group understand that climate change may have significant
impacts on our operations. The Group essentially plans to
respond to local government initiatives and follow local
governments’ emission reduction requirements. The Group
aim to reduce our emissions by 3% before 2026 from the
base year of 2021.
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B1 Employment

Recruitment

Our staff is regarded as the most important resource of the
Group. Hence, the Group has been endeavoring to provide
our staff with a fair and harmonious workplace where
individuals with diverse cultural backgrounds are treated
equally. We offer a competitive remuneration package
and great opportunities for career advancement based on
employees’ performance.

The Group has established human resources policy that
complies with the requirements of the Labour Law of the
PRC, Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and other relevant laws and regulations to
standardise employee recruitment, remuneration, vacation,
benefits, anti-discrimination, and other processes.

The Group strove to optimise the system of human
resources management to promote fairness and equality
within the workplace, human resources policy has been
established to ensure there is no discrimination on the
grounds of age, gender, marital status, family status, sexual
orientation, disability, ethnic group, nationality or religion.
In accordance with our human resources policy, the above
factors are not considered in the decision-making process
of employment, remuneration, and promotion. The Group
advocates diversified development and is keen to recruit
employees with different cultures, nationalities, and ideas,
S0 as to promote the continuous innovation of the Group.

An employment contract is required to be signed by the
employee to ensure job title, job duties, working hours,
holidays, remuneration, termination process, and benefits
are agreed.
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Working hours, rest periods, and benefits

The Group attaches great importance to the welfare of
employees, a five-day workweek arrangement is adopted
in Hong Kong and the PRC to facilitate work-life balance.
In addition to all statutory holidays (including Sundays)
employees are entitled to annual leaves, and other
paid leaves such as maternity leave, paternity leave,
compensation leave, wedding leave, and examination
leave in accordance with the Group's policy.

In addition, employees under employment contract in
Hong Kong are enrolled in Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and are entitled to the Group’s medical insurance,
including global outpatient and inpatient medical plans
upon completion of their probationary period. The Group
has also purchased full liability insurance for all employees
in accordance with the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Cap.282). For those employees under
employment contract in the PRC, they are covered by Old-
Age Insurance. The Group has also purchased other basic
social insurance and housing fund for our employees in
the PRC to protect their legal rights and interests.

Employees enjoy medical benefits, provident fund scheme
(if applicable), and other benefits subject to the Group’s
policies.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 87 full-time
employees (2021: 101) and 4 part-time employees (2021: 5).
Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full-time or part-time), age group and geographical region
are as follows:
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s employee
MASEEEMALENT

turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region are as follows:

29% 28%

19% 19%

14% 13%
7%
02 202 22 0 2 0 222 20
“ECCE CEC-F CECCECEC-E ECCECEC-E “ECCECEC-F
Turnover rate by gender Turnover rate by geographical region
REREI DR AR RiESE D HRAL R
B Male Female B Mainland China Hong Kong
St i A B Ay, BA
26% 26% 26%
8% 8% 8%
222 20 22 20 22 20
ECCECEC-E “ECCECEC-F “ECCECEC-F
Turnover rate by age group
RERHERE DR A=
B Below 30 Il Between 30 and 50 Above 50
30BR AT 30-50%% 5078 A
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B2 Health and Safety

The Group is committed to creating a healthy and
safe environment for all employees while promoting a
sustainable corporate culture. We believe that safe working
does not only uphold the adherence to people-oriented
principles but also preserve our talents from exposure
to occupational diseases or injuries, no matter severe or
minor.

Safety guides in respect of reducing occupational hazards
in the office working environment were circulated to
employees to advise employees to address more attention
to health and safety issues. Our administration department
is involved in ensuring the health and safety of employees,
for example, employees are prohibited from piling up
garbage in the office corridor, and the administration
department monitors office hygiene from time to time in
an effort to provide a clean and safe working environment
to employees. We also participate in fire emergency drills
annually to ensure the safe evacuation of all employees in
the event of any disaster.

In addition to the physical health of employees, the mental
health of employees is equally important. We believe that
proper rest can relieve the fatigue caused by work very
well, so we adopt a five-day workweek in Hong Kong and
the PRC and motivate our staff to keep a practical and
reasonable work-life balance.

In the meantime, we support our contractors and
business partners, such as film management teams, in
giving high priority to health and safety issues, in terms
of occupational hazards. We understand their concerns
about occupational health, and exchange experiences with
them through communication or meetings. Also, we have
visited film sets to understand the working environment
and health conditions of the crew from time to time.
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Given the outbreak of the pandemic, the Group has taken
the following measures to safeguard the employees:

o Setting up an emergency team in the PRC and Hong
Kong to monitor and respond to the development of
the pandemic;

o urging employees to wear masks and report their
physical conditions to the Group in a timely manner;

J Providing hand sanitiser and surgical masks to
employees and visitors (if necessary);

o Encouraging employees to hold meetings online or
by phone to minimise physical contact; and

o Adopting flexible working hours and working from
home to reduce social contact.

There is full compliance towards Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance and relevant regulations that protected
employees from occupation hazards. The Group also
complied with Labour Law of the PRC and Law of the PRC
on the Prevention & Control of Occupational Diseases.

Based on the Group's emphasis on the health and safety of
its employees, the Group has never lost working days due
to working-related casualties, and no employee has been
injured or died due to work in the past three years.
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B3 Development and Training

The Group attaches great importance to the training
and continuous development of employees. As part
of the Group's valuable assets, we strongly support
the development of employees and help them enrich
their knowledge, skills, and working abilities. During the
Reporting Period, we arranged employee training, covering
management skills, and other professional training, to fully
meet the training needs of employees. In addition, we
also provide a subsidy of HK$8,440 (2021: HK$4,600) for
employees who participate in 54 hours (2021: 49 hours) job
skills training courses.

Apart from professional training, we believe that our
employees should also have the opportunity to acquire
learning experiences through work assignments to help
them build up their on-going job skills that will help them
grow professionally.

In addition to the above, the Group will also conduct
salary evaluation and review based on the performance
evaluation results of employees in January annually,
so that the Group and employees can review their
personal performance and development, and put forward
improvement methods and corresponding training, so as
to promote the personal development of employees.
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During the Reporting Period, the percentage of employees RBEERAN - AEERNZINEER S
trained in the Group was 14% (2021: 12%) and the total LEB1A%(ZE=—F : 12%) © SFHE
training hours of this year were 54 hours (2021: 49 hours), SR B A4/ N (= —F - 49/)
for details please see the chart and table below: B BEFBERL TERRIIEK
Percentage of employees trained Percentage of employees trained
by gender by employee category
RERIE DB RESERESH
FlEEES L FilEER DL

38%

62%

= Male Female ®m Executive management
St g i THREEE
= Middle management
PREEE
General/Operational staff
—RIRIEET

Average training hours completed per employee by gender
RERE S  BEEETRIZINTIIEFH

90

Unit 2022 2021
By —B-=F —B-—F
Male 1% Hour /)\B 0.6 0.6
Female Z 1% Hour /J\B% 0.6 0.3

Average training hours completed per employee by employee category
REEERES  BEEETAZTIN TR

Unit 2022 2021

By —E-= t - St
Executive management 17 & 12 [Z Hour /N8 0.4 0.4
Middle management /4 & 12 |8 Hour /N8 0.8 0.9
General/Operational staff —f& /1 {EE T Hour /J\B 0.6 0.3
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B4 Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the Labour Contract Law
of the PRC, the Labour Law of the PRC, the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
other applicable employment laws and regulations.
According to the mandatory provisions of the law, child
labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within
the Group. During the recruitment process, the age and
identity of all employees of the Group are verified and
background checks and reference checks (if necessary)
are conducted by our human resources department based
on the information provided by applicants before hiring,
among other sources. Applicants who fail to meet the legal
requirements would not be hired.

There is full compliance towards relevant national and local
regulations that prohibits child or forced labour. During
the Reporting Period, we did not receive any complaints or
reporting of child labour or forced labour.

BB Aa KBS

B4 B TiE%

AEBEBEET(PEARKMES
BEDE) - (PEARKMELHZE)
BB IGH (FREDIFES7E) AR E M E
ROREEREER - REBBEEN
BEIRE  AKRBEBREET &R H S
T EHRERET  ZFINANERED
RERMEREASEMERENFR
ket WREBEHRBEARENER RE
ER  ETESRERBEAEM
FE) BREBRTNHFATSHE
B e

AEBREETEBBREE TR
THBREEERZER - RREHA - &
I AR BCBIE M E TSR FIE TH MY
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B5 Supply Chain Management B5 fitiEfEiEE
The Group’s suppliers mainly provide us with various film AEBWHENEIZERBMBERESES
and TV programmes production and distribution services, T NERE B REEBITIRES & EUE
and broadcasting rights licensing. The details of the B Al ERE D NHEEEE T
number of suppliers by region are set out below: BEEHWT -
No. of suppliers by geographical region 2022 2021
REE D WHEFHE —E-CfF B
The PRC & 15 24
Hong Kong &7 1 1
Others HAb 25 18
Total 485+ 41 43
BEGBREEERAT - —E-—FFRH 21
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Business contract management is of fundamental concern
to us. The Group has established policies and procedures
related to supply chain management to regulate the
selection and monitoring process of suppliers. According
to those policies, the Group follows the principles of
fairness and consistency in supply chain management by
implement uniform screening criteria when selecting each
supplier. All suppliers and contractors shall comply with all
legal requirements and standards related to environmental
standards, intellectual property rights and anti-corruption.
The Group requires each company to maintain sound
records of supplier selection and evaluation for the Group’s
supervision and inspection to ensure that all selection and
evaluation processes comply with the above principles.

We monitor and eliminate any ESG risks in our supply chain
by evaluating suppliers’ products and services against our
purchase principles during procurement. In addition, the
Group has required suppliers to purchase insurance for the
production team in the contract terms to ensure that the
relevant risks have been identified and transferred.

The Group comprehensively evaluates the capabilities
of suppliers based on their service quality, market
strength, and practical experience. In addition to the
above-mentioned standards, the environmental and
social responsibility of suppliers is also one of the
significant elements examined by the Group. When all
other conditions are met, we prefer to choose those
suppliers that are environmentally friendly, because we
do encourage and expect our contractors and business
partners to uphold a high standard of morality that is
similar to ours. We have been monitoring our suppliers
through communication and site visits, and continuously
assessing their environmental impact.

At present, the Group has established solid cooperative
relationships with numbers of suppliers. We advocate
that these partners abide by strict ethical standards
with us (including but not limited to the perspective of
environmental and social issues). The Group always
maintains strict quality supervision over the services and
products provided by suppliers, and continuously and
comprehensively evaluates the compliance of suppliers in
terms of their environmental and social responsibilities and
service quality.
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B6 Product Responsibility

Product responsibility

The Group is principally engaged in media and
entertainment-related businesses. It recognises that
proper advertising of services and products (e.g. films and
TV programmes) provided as well as a timely response is of
great importance to the long-term business development.
The Group makes every endeavor to comply with the
relevant legislation.

Being an investor in the media and entertainment field,
the Group has always placed utmost importance to
the safeguard and protection of intellectual property
rights, encompassing the management of confidentiality
and information sharing. The Group complies with all
intellectual property-related laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Trade Marks Ordinance, Cap. 559,
the Copyright Ordinance, Cap. 528, the Prevention of
Copyright Piracy, Cap. 544, Trademark Law of the PRC,
and Copyright Law of the PRC. Clauses are included in the
film investment agreements and other related cooperation
agreements to protect the Group's interests in the films
and TV programmes rights which it invested in, such as the
Group's income rights, distribution rights, and copyrights in
the productions.

In addition, the Group has strengthened supply chain
management to ensure that the relevant copyrights used
in the production of film and TV programmes have been
licensed before being used or referenced. Once any act
deemed to be infringing occurs, the Group will immediately
take legal measures to ensure that the legitimate rights
and interests of the Group are protected.
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With the increase in number of users of “huanxi.com”,
the Group has become more and more aware of the
significance of information security and user privacy
protection. The Group was strictly in compliance with
the regulation of the Cybersecurity Law of the PRC to
protect users’ personal information. In addition, we
have established information security and user privacy
protection mechanisms to reduce the risk of user
information leakage. We use a variety of means to raise
employee awareness of information privacy and data
security, for example, we used the company intranet
to deliver critical information. In addition to enhancing
employee awareness, we regularly monitor and check
the system bug to ensure the security of consumers’
registration data.

Product quality

The Group is principally engaged in media and
entertainment-related businesses. The Group always
looks for good investment opportunities that bring
high economic returns for Shareholders and provide
more choices for customers. The Group attaches great
importance to the quality management of film and TV
programmes, and dedicates a lot of time, resources, and
money to each work in order to meet the expectations of
the audiences, because the quality of our films depends
largely on consumers’ preferences and we do multiple
rounds of review before the film is released. In addition
to our own requirements on films, entertainment content
in the form of films or TV series is also required to be
reviewed and approved by the regulatory authorities prior
to release. The primary administrative authority of the PRC
government responsible for censoring such content is the
National Radio and Television Administration. Relevant
laws and regulations mainly include: Copyright Law of the
PRC and Film Industry Promotion Law of the PRC. During
the Reporting Period, there was no breach of relevant laws
and regulations.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s film, Yanagawa
(2 &MEA) directed by Zhang Lu and starring Ni Ni and
Zhang Luyi, released in cinema circuits. The Group has
also actively cooperated with film directors and other
strategic partners in order to enrich its creative team and
its film and TV content to meet the entertainment needs
of the public. The Group believes that the cooperations
will facilitate its access to opportunities in film and TV and
new media investments, as well as enrich the content and
accelerate the business development of its online video
platform, “huanxi.com”.

The Group strives to improve its products and services
while listening humbly to customers. Our customers
submit their complaints through after-sales hotline. Upon
receiving a complaint, we will timely refer the issue to the
respective department head for handling and monitor the
progress of complaint handling to ensure that customer
feedback is addressed properly. During the Reporting
Period, the complaint handling rate was 100%. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not involve in product
sales and sales return issues.

Anti-Corruption

Corruption, whether within the business sector or involving
the public sector, would erode the level-playing field
and our core value of fairness, and impede the efficient
operation of the market. We strictly abide by the anti-
corruption programme, a guide for listed company and was
issued by the Independent Commission Against Corruption
(the “ICAC"). The Group is committed to achieving the
highest possible standards of openness, probity and
accountability, and to preventing bribes, extortion,
fraud, and money laundering. Employees at all levels are
expected to conduct themselves with integrity, impartiality
and honesty. It is every employee’s responsibility and in all
interest of the Company to ensure that any inappropriate
behavioral or organisational malpractice that compromise
the interest of the shareholders, investors, customers and
wider public does not occur.

The Group's whistleblowing policy has been uploaded
to the Group’s website (www.huanximedia.com). The
policy sets out the procedures for employees to report
any suspected fraud, malpractice, corruption or any
other unethical behaviour, as well as the investigation
procedures. The Group requires that whistle-blowing
must be made in standard written form and presented
to the Board for internal investigation by our executive
management or external engaged auditors, if possible, the
Board will respond to the whistleblower.
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The Board and its committees of the Group demonstrate a
strong commitment to anti-corruption business practices
and zero-tolerance of corruption and ensure that the anti-
corruption measures are effective and up-to-date through
monitoring and reviews.

In addition to establishing a whistle-blowing reporting
channel for employees, the Group also arranged
anti- corruption training for employees to ensure that
subordinate personnel are familiar with and comply
with the Group’s anti-corruption policy. Moreover, the
employee handbook mentioned that the Company is
entitled to terminate the employment contract with any
employee who is bribed with money, gifts or commission,
etc., and reserve the right to take further legal actions
against such person. The Group disseminate information
on anti-corruption occasionally to raise the awareness
among employees.

The Group has strictly adhered to relevant laws and
regulations, including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
and the PRC's laws and regulations regarding anti-
corruption and anti-money laundering, including but
not limited to the Criminal Law of the PRC and the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the PRC. During the Reporting
Period, there was no legal case or dispute in respect of
bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering against our
employees and the Group.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to making employees part of the
community. We encourage assistance in and participation
in conventions, conferences, exhibitions, and events held
by business communities relevant to our businesses,
with a particular focus on organisations promoting
the development of media industries and community
partnership.

Due to the impact of the pandemic, the Group did not
devote any resources to community investment during the
Reporting Period. However, we will do our best to provide
more employment opportunities for community members
in the coming time, and to progress and develop together
with the community. At the same time, we generally
capture public preferences through online research, as we
are in the media business that enriches the lives of people
in the wider community. We will continue to work hard and
innovate to make people’s leisure time no longer boring.
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

Aspects, General
disclosures and KPIs
BE  —REER Description Corresponding Section
BRENES it HEEE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT: H04
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | A1 Emissions BEAT#)
it impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
EEERARAZREHN  MARTINHES - AEREZENNE ENBRRETHETAGEX
PENRELERRINER
KPI R B G I2AL1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data A1 Emissions Sk
HRmBE RRE S REE
KPI B3R 48 IR 12A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where | A1 Emissions ¥

appropriate, intensity
EREE) RREEk @E) RERBERE I E) R(NER) BE

KPI B8 iR 12A1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
FELEEENAE R R(ER)ZE

Not applicable to the Group's
businesses

TERRAEEER
KPI BBg2 B AIE1ZA1 4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity AT Emissions HERH
FELEZENLEE(EAE LB BE
KPI R B UG 1EA1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them A1 Emissions HEx)
BRI AN E B ERAREELE EMENE ST
KPI BAREAUEIEA16 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of reduction | A1 Emissions #5#)

target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
BREREZRESENNAE - RERFETARRE R RRAEIELE SMRRA S5

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EEA2: ERER

General Disclosure
—BRE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials
BRERERBELR K REMETEOBE

A2 Use of Resources & &

KPI BB AE iR 12A2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (KWh in ‘000s) and intensity

A2 Use of Resources & &z

RERENNERR/SMREFERETATARHE REE
KPI R B MG 12A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity A2 Use of Resources & {5 3
BEKERBE

KPI AR iE 3R 12A2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
BRFTET L M RE ARG B R RAEEIEL A RMRRM SR

A2 Use of Resources & B (3

KPI BIRREERIEIRA24

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them
HCKBERKE LT EEARE  URMTUNR AR EERAEELE ERRERNSR

A2 Use of Resources & & (&

KPI AR AR 1225

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced
SRR ENHNEE B E) R(NER) B EEEMEE

Not applicable to the Group's
businesses
TERRASEEHK
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Aspects, General
disclosures and KPIs
BE  —-REER
BRENEE

Description
it

Corresponding Section
REEH

Aspect A3; The Environment a

EHA3 : BERARER

nd Natural Resources

General Disclosure
it

Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impact on the environment and natural resources
REETAHRERAREREREATENHR

A3 The Environment and Natural
Resources
RERKRER

KPI B3R 4E IR 1ZAS1

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them
BB EDER R RAR A RN EAY ZRERNERE B 2NTY

A3 The Environment and Natural
Resources
BERKAER

Aspect A4; Climate Change
BEAL: RIFE1L

General Disclosure
—HER

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer
HREHEE R M e YT ARV ENEARBEEZSENICR

Ad Climate Change R iRk

KPI R B MG 12AL

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them
BIBERTHEHBTAREY ENEARKARSE - RIEHTY

Ad Climate Change RIS

Aspect B1: Employment

BEB1: ER

General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | B1 Employment (1%

vt impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare
BETHREE BERES  IRE - BE- T it RERIREMFERETN
PR RETHETABEAT ENREEERANNER

KPI R RS 1ER1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age group and geographical | B1 Employment (E(&
region
RER - ERER(MEZBIGER) - FRATRLEHSNES LY

KPI BB R4 R 1ER1.2 Employee tumover rate by gender, age group and geographical region B1 Employment (&%
IR ERARRMEENNESRALE

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

BEB2: RERZ2

General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | B2 Health and Safety

—RHRE impact on the issuer relating to providing a Safe working environment and protecting employees from e
occupational hazards
BERMARETERERREREEHEBE AENRR RETHRETAGEAT ENEREERA
&R

KPI B EAUE 12821 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years including the reporting | B2 Health and Safety
year BERZ2
BEZF(AEREER) BEATIUAMARRLE

KPI B2 R7513B2.2 Lost days due to work injury B2 Health and Safety
AIGRATERE BERZ2

KPI & B 12823 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are implemented and | B2 Health and Safety
monitored BERZ2

HEFRPNBRREER2ER - UREBRITRERTE
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Aspects, General
disclosures and KPIs
BE  —-REER
BRENEE

Description
it

Corresponding Section
REEEH

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEB3 : #RE R

General Disclosure
it

Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities
ARRTEERTIIFRANAZRRENEE - HAEIED

B3 Development and Training
BRRE

KPI AR UE 1383 1

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. Senior management, middle
management)
RENREEERNRRERE  PREREHANTIIEEEAL

B3 Development and Training
BE RIS

KPI B3R 7E 1283 2

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category
BRAIRESERE S - §HEE TR TR

B3 Development and Training
BERE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EMBA: HIEE

General Disclosure
—BRE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour
BEMLEIRRHNSINNERETHETABERYENERZERRINER

B4 Labour Standards 5 T2

KPI B3 48 I8 124 1

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour
BB AR ENNEE B BT REHNAT

B4 Labour Standards & T 2%

KPI A2 3E 2B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered
EREERERENRERERBRMRRN SR

B4 Lahour Standards 4 T2

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Mana
[BEBS : HEREERE

gement

General Disclosure
—HBR

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain
ERERRNRE R ERRIK

B5 Supply Chain Management
fEEER

KPI B 248 76 12851

Number of suppliers by geographical region
BRSNS E

B5 Supply Chain Management
e

KPI 348 W45 1285.2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored
HLEEERREENEN  nESTEBENNEREHE - URABRTRER A

B5 Supply Chain Management
ftEgEER

KPI B3 48 45 1285.3

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply chain, and how
they are implemented and monitored
HAEBAN S EESERENEE R ERRNER  UREBANTREESZ

B5 Supply Chain Management
ftEgEn

KPI 3§48 708 12B5 4

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored
RIEREHEERREZARRER RRBHED - URABSITREEE

B5 Supply Chain Management
HERER

BESREEARATF -

—E-=5F8 99
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Aspects, General

disclosures and KPIs

BE —-REER Description Corresponding Section
BREVER g HEEH

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

EMB6 - EREML

General Disclosure
it

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress

FEUMREERARBNERERS B RERBSEURBRANIE RETHEIAS
EAVENRBERRANINEH

B6 Product Responsibility
ERED

KPI BB B 12 12B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons
BENCBRERSET AL 2 EREERTMARKNEA L

B6 Product Responsibility
EmEf

KPI B 42 15 1286.2

Number of products and services related complaints received and how they are dealt with
RN ER RRBERFSE AR E

B6 Product Responsibility
EmEfE

KPI 387046126 3

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights
il R E R RE NS EEEBNED

B6 Product Responsibility
EmAf

KPI B3 2 iE 1286 4

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures
EiEERTARRERRLET

B6 Product Responsibility
EmEf

KPI BA§R4E 706 126 5

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored
HEEEEHRERABHCE - URBBRTRERFE

B6 Product Responsibility
EmAf

Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption
BEB7 : R&S

General Disclosure
W55

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
BRVLLBE 9% KFRARBNERRETHETAREAY ENRBZRRADINEH

B7 Anti-Corruption R &35

KPI s AR I 1571

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases
RESEAHETAZEEERITCEENESTARHNAE RFDLER

B7 Anti-Corruption R &35

KPI B2 #5127 2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored
HhEEERERER  UREBRTREE S

B7 Anti-Corruption k&35

KPI A48 781287 3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff
HLRESRE TRENRESE

B7 Anti-Corruption R &35

Aspect BS: Community Investment

EMBS - HERE

General Disclosure
W55

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities' interests
BEMHEZERTRETAEBFENEEENRRAEHEDEZRHENROTE

B8 Community Investment
HERE

KPI s AR I 1588,

Focus areas of contribution

B8 Community Investment

SIERER HREE
KPI SR & g 1288 2 Resources contributed to the focus area B8 Community Investment
TEFERABAER HREE
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To the Shareholders of Huanxi Media Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Huanxi Media Group Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 116 to 231, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR S REPORT
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights
classified as intangible assets

o Valuation of film rights investments

o Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How our audit addressed
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter
Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets

Refer to Note 2.9, Note 4(b), Note 19 and Note 22 Our procedures in relation to the impairment
t0 the consolidated financial statements. assessment of film and TV programmes rights
Classified as intangible assets included:

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR S REPORT
¥ 57 bz B R e A

FARESERE)
AMNETNALE
BREHEE BRFHEE

PEBENREZBZRBRBROHEFG

#2NGAHBRRMEL HE RABEIBARVEELEY
A) - M 19K MEE22 o RERBIRENREFERFR

As described in the accounting policies in Note
2.8 and Note 2.9 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has classified () completed
film and TV programmes rights, (i) film and TV
programmes rights under production, (i) licensed
film and TV programmes rights and (iv) software
and license as intangible assets. All these
rights are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment.

Completed film and TV programmes rights
that are subject to amortisation and licensed
film and TV programmes rights are tested for
impairment when impairment indicator existed,
while completed film and TV programmes rights
and under production that are not subject to
amortisation are tested for impairment annually.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had
completed film and TV programmes rights
of approximately HK$37,725,000, film and
TV programmes rights under production of
approximately HK$600,234,000 and licensed
film and TV programmes rights of approximately
HK$56,102,000 and they collectively represented
approximately 31.4% of the Group's total assets

Obtained an understanding of the
management's internal controls and
assessment process of impairment
assessment of film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and other inherent
risk factors.

Evaluated the outcome of prior period
assessment of impairment assessment of
film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible assets to assess the
effectiveness of management's estimation
process by comparing the carrying amount
in the prior year against the respective
actual performance during the year, if any.

Evaluated and tested the key controls over
the impairment assessment of film and TV
programmes rights classified as intangible
assets performed by management,
including the selection of sources of
information, determination of fair values
less cost of disposal and the relevant key
assumptions used.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How our audit addressed
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets
(Continuea)

Completed film and TV programmes rights that - Completed film and TV programmes rights that
are Subject to amortisation are Subject to amortisation

In determining whether there is any impairment o Assessed the reasonableness of
indicator on respective completed film and the sources of information used by

TV programmes rights that are subject to management in identifying impairment
amortisation, the Group considered factors indicators, including management's
such as current market condition, political assessment on current market condition,
environment, latest regulatory changes, and political environment and latest regulatory
whether there is any adverse change on the changes.

expected performance and distribution plan.

Based on management’s assessment, no ¢ Examined the relevant correspondences

impairment indicator has been identified for with joint investors and/or film production

these film and TV programmes rights during the house engaged by the Group on sample

year. hasis to evaluate the progress of the
production of the film and TV programmes
rights and the distribution plan for the
completed titles.

o Discussed with management and
compared with available market
information to assess the expected
performance and distribution plan.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BRETSEGE)

How our audit addressed BAMETNAEE
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter BRENEE BREHEE
Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets ~ 7 EEENEEZEZREHBIRENREFE(E)

(Continuea)

Completed film and TV programmes rights — Completed film and TV programmes rights
and under production that are not subject to  and unaer production that are not subject to
amortisation amortisation

In relation to completed film and TV programmes e
rights and under production that are not subject

t0 amortisation, management performed annual
impairment assessment by determining the
recoverable amount through fair value less cost

of disposal approach using the discounted cash
flow forecast (‘DCF"). Based on management's
assessment, the Group has recognised net
impairment loss of approximately HK$6,083000 ¢
for these film and TV programmes rights during
the year.

Compared the contractual commitments
of respective film and TV programmes
rights on a sample basis with, and
discussed with management in relation to,
the financing plan on the commitments
in order to complete the production and
marketing plan.

Challenged and evaluated the key
assumptions used by management in
determining the fair value less cost of
disposal such as expected revenue,
estimated costs and discounted rates
on a sample basis with reference to
the contracts and publicly available
information, if any.

o Involved our internal valuation specialists
t0 assess the reasonableness of model and
assumptions used in the DCF, including
the discount rate.

o Considered the potential impact of
reasonably possible downside changes in
key assumptions adopted in determining
the fair value less cost of disposal.

o Performed specific inquiries with
management about the major crew
members and their background,
experience and profile, and performed
relevant search through external
sources on media coverage on the
related popularity of the crew members
to corroborate with management's
production plans.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

How our audit addressed
Key Audit Matter the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets
(Continuea)

Licensed film ana TV programmes rights Licensed film and TV programmes rights

In determining whether there is any impairment  «  Evaluated the reasonableness of
indicator on the licensed film and TV programmes management’s assessment in determining
rights, management considered them related the existence of impairment indicator.

to the Group's online video platform. The

Group's licensed film and TV programmes ¢  Evaluated management's impairment
rights are available for subscription on its online assessment by assessing the DCF used in
video platform which is considered as a cash calculation as set out below:

generating unit (the “Platform CGU"). Based

on management's assessment, the actual

performance was behind the original forecast, - Assessed the competency,
representing an impairment indicator, triggering a capabilities and objectivity of
need to perform an impairment assessment. the independent external valuer
by considering its qualifications,
In carrying out the impairment assessment, the relevant experience and
Group engaged an external valuer to support the relationship with the Group.
determination of the recoverable amount based
on the income approach using the DCF which - Assessed the methodology
involves significant estimates and judgments adopted and checked the
including discount rate and terminal growth rate mathematical accuracy of the
applied in the DCF of the Platform CGU. Based underlying DCF calculation.

0N management's assessment, no impairment
provision is required for the licensed film and TV
programmes rights associated with the Platform
CGU as at year end.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR S REPORT
3 7 % BR e A

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of film and TV programmes rights classified as intangible assets

(Continuea)

Licensed film ana TV programmes rights
(Continueq)

We focused on auditing the impairment
assessment of the film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets because the
carrying amounts of the film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets and other
intangible asset are significant to the consolidated
financial statements and the identification
of impairment indicator and impairment
assessment of these assets are subject to a
high degree of estimation uncertainty, as well as
significant judgments involved in the selection of
assumptions used.

Licensed film and TV programmes rights
(Continued)

- Assessed the reasonableness of
the key assumptions adopted by
management in its DCF, including
the discounted rate and terminal
growth,

= Involved our internal valuation
specialists to assess the model
and assumptions used in the
valuation, including the discount
rate and terminal growth rate.

Based on the procedures performed, we
found the judgments and assumptions made
by management in relation to the impairment
assessment of film and TV programmes rights
classified as intangible assets to be supportable
hy the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

Valuation of film rights investments

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Refer to Note 2.9, Note 3.3, Note 4(c), and Note  Qur procedures in relation to the valuation of
film rights investments included:

22 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, film rights investments
of the Group included financial assets of
approximately HK$244,731,000 and financial
liabilities of approximately HK$970,000,
represented approximately 11.1% of the Group's
total assets and 0.1% of the Group's total
liabilities. The changes in fair values recorded in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and presented as
film investment loss, net during the year was
approximately HK$2,730,000.

The fair values are determined by management
based on the income approach using the DCF
which involves key assumptions with significant
estimates and judgments including expected
revenue, estimated costs and discounted rates.

108

Obtained an understanding of the
management's internal controls and
assessment process of valuation of film
rights investments and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and other inherent risk factors.

Evaluated and tested the key controls over
the valuation of film rights investments
performed by management, including
the selection of sources of information,
determination of DCF and the relevant key
assumptions used.

Evaluated the outcome of prior period
valuation of film rights investments to
assess the effectiveness of management's
estimation process by comparing the fair
values determined in the prior year against
the respective actual performance during
the year, if any.

Assessed the methodology adopted
and the reasonableness of the sources
of information used by management in
developing the DCF.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of film rights investments (Continued)

We focused on auditing the valuation of film
rights investments because the carrying amounts
of the film rights investments are significant to
the consolidated financial statements and the
valuation of these assets and liabilities is subject
t0 a high degree of estimation uncertainty, as well
as significant judgments involved in the selection
of assumptions used.

o Challenged and evaluated the key
assumptions used by management in
determining the DCF such as expected
revenue, estimated costs and discounted
rates on a sample basis with reference
to the contracts and publicly available
information, if any.

o Involved our internal valuation specialists
to assess the reasonableness of model and
assumptions used in the DCF, including
the discount rate.

o Considered the potential impact of
reasonably possible downside changes in
key assumptions adopted in determining
the fair value less cost of disposal.

Based on the procedures performed, we found
the judgments and assumptions made by
management in relation to the valuation of film
rights investments to be supportable by the
available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights

Refer to Note 4(d) and Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had
prepayments for film and TV programmes
rights of approximately HK$813,690,000 which
represented approximately 36.8% of the Group's
total assets. The prepayments were made
under the agreements with film directors and/
or film production companies in relation to the
acquisition of future film and TV programmes
rights.

The Group has performed an assessment on
whether impairment indicator exists for the
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights.
Management considered the status of film and
TV programmes rights investment plans and the
progress of utilisation of the prepayments. Based
0N management's assessment, no impairment
indicator was identified for the prepayments
for film and TV programmes rights as at 31
December 2022.

110

In evaluation of management's assessment
on whether impairment indicators existed
for the Group's prepayments for film and TV
programmes rights, we have performed the
following procedures.

* QObtained an understanding of the
management’s internal controls and
assessment process of the arrangements
with film directors and/or film production
companies and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and
other inherent risk factors.

o Evaluated the outcome of prior period
assessment of impairment of prepayments
for film and TV programmes rights to
assess the effectiveness of management's
estimation process by comparing the
carrying amount in the prior year against
the actual utilisation during the year, if any.

o Evaluated and tested the Group's key
controls over the assessment process of
the arrangements with film directors and/
or film production companies including the
selection of information and assumptions
used.

o Inguired with management on the status of
film and TV programmes rights investment
plans with film directors.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed

the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of prepayments for film and TV programmes rights (Continueq)

We focused on auditing the impairment of
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights
because the carrying amounts of prepayments
for film and TV programmes rights are significant
to the consolidated financial statements and
the identification of impairment indicator and
impairment assessment of the prepayments
are subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty.

o Inspected the correspondences between
the film directors and management
related to the progress of utilisation of the
prepayments on a sample basis.

o Interviewed certain film directors for
confirming the understanding of the terms
of the agreements and compared the
plans of utilisation of prepayments against
management's investment plans.

o Circulated confirmations with
counterparties as to the balances of
prepayments as at 31 December 2022.

Based on the procedures performed, we found
the judgments made by management in relation
to the impairment assessment of prepayments
for film and TV programmes rights to be
Supportable by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Chun Yu.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

¥ 57 bz B R e A

BB REMBRRAENE
E#E)

BREAEZZESREH  FARMCHTER
BB R ERERER W RMPIERE A
EREHMNASEFERMBILIENMEBERME
IR - UREEROBERT - BUAHEREBLE
EERENTTESRMOPEEE -

HEEZZESRBNERT - HAEEWLER
HARGEVBRRNETRAER - AMEKH
REEIR - JAEXBEVREPHEAFELER -
BRIBAEER T AFARNEELSIR - EHE
ERNBEAT MREEBHERMBREFBERX
FHRERNEMERRBEELENARNE - RIDR
ETNEERETBBZER °

HERNBYZAEESNETEEABARMAIK
:T':o

BORUKESGTT A EHA
HEBATAD

BB —E-_=F=A=1H

BEEEEERRLAR - —BEZ2FFER

115 IR



A 18 g M A 4 v WY AR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #

rE -

F+-A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= T
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B RE BET T BT T
Revenue and film investment (l0ss)/ W REFLE (BB,
income, net A - JF58 5 13,630 158,353
Cost of revenue Wz 2 AR 9 (106,251) (219,444)
Gross loss Ei8 (92,621) (61,091)
Other income E A 7 2,527 2,314
Other gains, net Haplas - 58 8 6,264 2,517
Selling and distribution costs SHE R AR 9 (5,568) (24,588)
Administrative expenses ITBRE 9 (123,322) (140,562)
Net impairment losses on financial assets CREERENEEL
and contract assets REBEFE 3.1(b) (8,491) (998)
Operating loss REEE (221,211) (222,408)
Finance income B A 1 3,844 8,451
Finance costs Hi%E R 1 (5,905) (6,063)
Finance (costs)/income, net s (BR) WA - FE 11 (2,061) 2,388
Loss before tax BB AIE R (223,272) (220,020)
Income tax credit/(expense) FriEfiEe,/ (%) 12 1,460 (15,537)
Loss for the year rEEBE (221,812) (235,557)
Loss for the year attributable to owners RATHER AL
of the Company REEBRE (221,812) (235,557)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSWE |NCO|V|E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 ﬁf:fgiii‘f’:ﬂ =+—HLLFE

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
{hE=s BT T BT
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hitn2m(EE), ik
Item that will not be reclassified to BT EEN TR
profit or loss: HAE -
Exchange differences arising on translation — ¥ EEHE A2 5| &
of functional currency to presentation EAZEHREZE
currency (11,103) 7,150
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: At & EF D HE 18752
HE -
Exchange differences on translation of MEGINETG 2B Z5E
foreign operations (93,918) 27,311
(105,021) 34,461
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEZEEEAE (326,833) (201,096)
Total comprehensive loss for the year KRAREEANBGAREE
attributable to owners of the Company ZHEIBRE (326,833) (201,096)
Loss per share for loss for the year BAREEABLREE
attributable to owners EBiEzEREE
of the Company
— Basic and diluted (in HKS) - EARREE(B%IT) 16 (0.06) 0.07)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other  FilifRA B R HEMEE KR KE
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the  Bj&& °
accompanying notes.
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AT31DECEMBER202 A—ZE - +—-_A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= T
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T BT T BT T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - RS RS 17 786 1,341
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 29,283 22,069
Intangible assets B EE 19 - 2,416
Deposits and prepayments e REMNK 23 78,450 101,414
Prepayments for film and B NERBIRETER K
TV programmes rights 21 449,968 488,756
Film and TV programmes rights B RERBIRE 22 144,887 307,296
703,374 923,292
Current assets nBEE
Prepayment for film and BN ERBIMRETER R
TV programmes rights 21 363,722 394,414
Film and TV programmes rights B N BB hRE 22 793,905 333,593
Trade and other receivables, deposits JFEE L5 R 5 B B At R LRRR I
and prepayments e RBERR 23 285,373 480,234
Contract assets BHEE 5 10,262 11,385
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRZEMEE
profit or loss 24 65 3,409
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFE 25 53,634 115,369
1,506,961 1,338,404
Total assets BEERAE 2,210,335 2,261,696
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
0 B SIR Dl A

AT31DECEMBER2022 A—E -+ -FA=+—H

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P BT T BEETIT
Equity ez
Share capital fi& A 30 36,565 36,565
Reserves et 31 1,291,871 1,618,704
Total equity ey R 1,328,436 1,655,269
Non-current liabilities FERBERE
Lease liabilities HEaE 18 17,193 13,454
Deferred tax liabilities EERIERE 29 12,112 14,677
29,305 28,131
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables FEA BR SR E b B 5k 26 145,031 188,809
Film investment funds from investors RKEKEER ?'-E%%xﬁmlﬁ 27 524,471 197,332
Film and TV programmes rights B RERBINRE 22 970 1,483
Contract liabilities AHEE 5 30,052 31,469
Borrowings (BN 28 108,267 100,281
Lease liabilities HEBaE 18 12,722 9,055
Amount due to a related party JEfS— R BEE AT FIA 35 182 15,137
Current tax liabilities ENEAFIE B & 30,899 34,730
852,594 578,296
Total liabilities =Rk 881,899 606,427
Total equity and liabilities EERaERsE 2,210,335 2,261,696
The consolidated financial statements on pages 116 to 231 were F1M6EETBEZGAPBRRECR T -_=F=

approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and were signed

on its behalf:

Dong Ping

ZE¥
Director
o

A=tHEESgHE YHTIEEKRESS

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

#E
Xiang Shaokun, Steven
HAR
Director
=
ARG B T A S0 3% P R M B — OF B RE o
BEEHEEEARAR - —E-"FFHK
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

A 3 HE i 58 B e

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 A =E = —

F+-A=+—H

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATHEE AEL
Share Treasury
capital shares Reserves Total
[N EFRG f*E ot
(Note 30) (Note 31)
(FtzE30) (FFsE31)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
At 1 January 2021 R-_ZE-—F—HF—H 34,727 (1,613) 1,413,319 1,446,433
Loss for the year REFEE - - (235,557) (235,557)
Other comprehensive income H 2 mEas - - 34,461 34,461
Total comprehensive loss NEEEHEEIBREE
for the year - - (201,096) (201,096)
Transactions with owners: BE A E’Jx\ :
Issue of ordinary shares, FITE AR IR ZRAR)
net of transaction costs 2,181 - 465,098 467,279
Share option scheme: IEAR AT & -
—value of services provided - BIRHERG 2 EE - - 2,612 2,612
Shares repurchased A g (343) 1,613 (61,229) (59,959)
1,838 1,613 406,481 409,932
At 31 December 2021 RZEBE-_—F+=-A=+—H” 36,565 - 1,618,704 1,655,269
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_%—H—H 36,565 - 1,618,704 1,655,269
Loss for the year REEBRE - - (221,812) (221,812)
Other comprehensive 10ss HEi2mEER - - (105,021) (105,021)
Total comprehensive loss AEEZHEEBARE
for the year - - (326,833) (326,833)
At 31 December 2022 R=-B-—_F+=H=+—8 36,565 - 1,291,871 1,328,436
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read -l 45 & #E 2 5 B 3% 8 B BE P Bt 73 — GBI 8 o

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

120

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HGERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
{h=s BT T BT
cash flows from operating activities RETEMEEZEHERE
Cash used in operations REEBFIEAZIRE 32 (46,357) (468,281)
Income taxes paid EATFTEH - (1,256)
Net cash used in operating activities RETEMERZEESFE (46,357) (469,537)
cash flows from investing activities RETBFEEZHESRE
Interest received B HE 2,027 255
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWE - BEREREMS
plant and equipment KB 32 - 3
Acquisition of financial assets at BEAVEFABRZ
fair value through profit or l0ss TREE - (8,242)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at HERAFEGFABERZ
fair value through profit or loss TREEMSREIA 2,175 7,841
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB E# % - 5 K& E (144) (147)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REFBHFEE, (R Z
investing activities R&FE 4,058 (290)
cash flows from financing activities METEBFEEZHERE
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BITERRFTSIE - 468,980
Share issue transaction costs AR TR KA - (1,701)
Shares repurchased EAEEr) - (59,959)
Advance from a related party KE—RBEAT 28R 32(a) 15,000 15,137
Repayments to a related party EE—RWEALZHE 32(a) (29,955) =
Proceeds from borrowings EESGIESE ¢ 32(a) 111,111 66,345
Repayments of borrowings BEER 32(a) (94,907) (18,094)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRZAEEH D 32(a) (12,955) (16,094)
Interest paid EATHE 32(a) (1,610) (14,041)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BETET(ER), EEZ
financing activities RE&FHE (13,316) 440,573
Net decrease in cash and RekALEEZRHDFE
cash equivalents (55,615) (29,254)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHzReRIBEEE
of the year 115,369 142,140
Effects of exchange rate changes on EXEGFHHMENIREEFEZ
cash and cash equivalents ,E/% (6,120) 2,483
Cash and cash equivalents at end FHR2BEESRESEE
of the year 25 53,634 115,369

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

GENERAL

Huanxi Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the
registered office of the Company is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal place
of business in Hong Kong is 11th Floor, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding and film investment
company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
media and entertainment related businesses which include
development and investment in film and TV programmes rights,
as well as operation of an online video platform. The activities of
its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 13.

These consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise
Stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 3 YO 285 e B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiE—ZE - —&F+_-A=+—H Jtir

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation

@)

(b)

(©)

Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("HKCQ") Cap. 622.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
and annual improvements for the first time for their
annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2022:

Covid-19-Related Rent
concessions

Property, Plant and Equipment
- Proceeds before Intended Use

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

HKAS 16 (Amendments)

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contracts
= Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Annual Improvements

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

Annual Improvements

Projects 2018-2020 Cycle
Revised Accounting Merger Accounting for Common
Guideline 5 Control Combinations

The amendments and annual improvements listed above
did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in
prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect
the current or future periods.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2 FESEEBEGE

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 RBBEE)
(d) New standards and interpretations not yet (d) [HRFAZHETERIRZFE

adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments
to accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for the 31
December 2022 reporting periods and have not
been early adopted by the Group. These standards,
amendments or interpretations are not expected to
have a material impact on the entity in the current or
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future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

transactions.

FEEERATE -

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

RUUT HE
HzEHEBRZ
SEHBEXR

HKFRS 17
BBV BREERFE175%
HKFRS 17 (Amendments)

BAMBHRELERSE175HETA)
HKFRS 17
BAEMBHSENE17H

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
(Amendments)

EA T EAE 1R B BT RS LR
EEREF 295 UEETA)

HKAS 8 (Amendments)

BB EFERIFERUSETA)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

EEGEERFE 125 IEFTA)

Insurance Contracts

REEE A

Amendments to HKFRS 17
Insurance Contracts

HEBVBEREENE1TRRBRENZ
&&]

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information

BRERBEBMBHRELRE 175K
AN WELRNE - LEEHR

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

SRTBRAKE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

BIHEETE R

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities Arising from
a Single Transaction

e - HEENEERBEHEBN
RIETIE
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
Ao B T 5 e A Fi

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiE—ZE - —&F+_-A=+—H Jtir

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

()

New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted (Continued)

2.1 RBEEE)

2 FESHEERBMERE

(@) KRR FETER R 25 (E)

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RULTHE
RZEEBRZ
S HEEXK

HKFRS 16 (Amendments)
BBV R ERERFE 165 BETA)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

BB ERE1RUEFTA)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

BB au+—/?t—/ﬁ‘]%15ﬁ(f ETZ’K)
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

FEnBESR(CTE_TF)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments)

BRWBHREERE10RLEAES
#ERI| 5 28557 (1B FTA)

The Group is in the process of assessing potential
impact of the above new standards, amendments
and interpretations that are relevant to the Group
upon initial application. It is not yet in a position to
state whether these standards, interpretations, and
amendments will have a significant impact on the

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
BEOAFNAERE
Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
BERREBIIERDHE
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
MR ARG RSERE B &
Presentation of Financial Statements
- Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause
HEMERNES - ERAHSEREXK
BEEFOEHERNDE
Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture
%ﬁ%ﬁ%éﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁ ;—:’A EIE

B EREZER

Group's results of operations and financial position.

BESREEARATF -

B TR
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—ZE_HWHE—-HA—H
1 January 2024
—E_HWE—-A—H

1 January 2024

—E-mF—H—H

To be determined
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation

126

(1)

(ii)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(refer to Note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations
which prohibit or restrict foreign control of
companies involved in provision of internet content
and other restricted businesses, the Group operates
its business operations within these areas in the PRC
through certain PRC operating entities, whose equity
interests are held by certain management members
of the Group (“Nominee Shareholders”). The Group
signed Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
operating entities. The Contractual Arrangements
include exclusive management services and
business cooperation agreement, exclusive option
agreements, equity pledge agreements, powers of
attorney and spousal consents letters, which enable
the Group to:

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2022

2 FESEEBEGE

2.2 HmERA
() HMEAE

B8~ B 45 AN SR B A 1R A
MEER(BREREBLER) - &
AEE 2 BT B M AR
BEAZED®R ARKF R A E
B2 EHN  SLAENEBEY
EREHCTERFEZRTOR
B AIASEZESZER - 18
RARNEHEEZEANEEE B
EEESA AR - W& LS
BEAERLESEEAR -

AEERABEBEEBELS
FEARR (2BIF3E23) -

SERARAEARS  EHREEE
NRARIERZRERKHE TS L
e REREBETSYHHE - X

AR RIBR SN = H 8 & BB & 5t
REEAFTERELRHE - UE
PRELAEE B P ER AR BR — 2K

(i) BBERLZHIEHHIHE L A

A ST B R SRR i 2 B R
EBBEATREMRZREIEL 2
D A HY SN R R OR 2 ROR
B ARBEEETHEELEE
BEBRERAKEE TEEREX
BE(BERRDEFR)ETEHER
EFAREFEE - AREDHE
TEEKLERRECNLHE A
MZHERBREERGEEXK
BfEhE BREREGZ - K
RERY  BERZEERERBR
B EEAKERSN



2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements (Continued)

o govern the financial and operating policies of
the PRC operating entities,

. exercise equity holder voting rights of the PRC
operating entities;

o receive substantially all of the economic
interest returns generated by the PRC operating
entities;

o obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to
purchase part or all of the equity interests in
the PRC operating entities at any time and from
time to time, at the minimum consideration
permitted by the relevant law in China at the
time of transfer; and

. obtain a pledge over all of its equity interests
from its respective Nominee Shareholders as
collateral for all of the PRC entities’ payments
due to the Group to secure performance of
entities’ obligation under the Contractual
Arrangements.

Accordingly, the Group has rights to control these
entities. As a result, they are presented as entities
controlled by the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (Continued)
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(i)

(iv)

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations of
each investor, rather than the legal structure of the
joint arrangement. The Group has joint operations.

Joint operations

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations
and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements
under the appropriate headings.

Changes in ownership interests

When the Group ceases to consolidate for an
investment because of a loss of control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 ﬁifz::iJrfﬂ =+—H Jtir

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHEBEMEZE
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations 2.3 ¥a6t

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred;

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business;

o equity interests issued by the Group;

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are,
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any noncontrolling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the noncontrolling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

AEBERBEBEHEHABEBEEH
AR MAwmet e MR T ARE
MEE - WE—RMNBRREREIKE
B :

s MBEREENAFE:

s WRBXRBHREAEAMBRZA

&

s  AEEBHITRME:

© AAREZBELHEAEER
BB ATHE: &

o RZWE R E R 5t R A AR
ZRFE -

EXBAMTABEBN A BRI EEAR
PrAENBERIAB BN FHERK
BHB A FEE (D BEHIIMERER
5N - ARBREE R KEELER AT
BB EEE B KB E B E 5
BEFENDBELIIEINKEBEER
NEREE Sy F

W RE AR R R A O EE AR B STBH ©

HEEAKEERLAT - —E-2FF% 129 N



g 0 B 5 e M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

130

The excess of the:
o consideration transferred:;

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity; and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity,

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified
as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiE—ZE - —&F+_-A=+—H Jtir

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in @ manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM").

The executive directors of the Company, as being the
CODM, assess the financial performance and position of
the Group, and makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
() Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
("RMB") while the consolidated financial statements
of the Company are presented in HKS$, which
management considers that it is more convenient to
the shareholders as the Company is a listed company
in Hong Kong.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

132

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally
recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in
equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges
and qualifying net investment hedges or are
attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, within finance costs. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the profit
or loss on a net basis within other gains, net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

° income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

° all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iv)  Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of
the currency translation differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

134

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their
residual values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the
case of leasehold improvements and certain leased plant
and equipment, the shorter lease term as follows:

33% or over
the lease term,
whichever is shorter

o Leasehold improvements

o Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% to 33%

o Motor vehicles 20%
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in
profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Software and license

Separately acquired software are shown at historical
cost. Licenses acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have
a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises software and license with a useful life
using the straight-line method over five years.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Film and TV programmes rights

136

Film and TV programmes rights under production

Film and TV programmes rights under production are
carried at cost, less accumulated impairment loss, if
any. Cost includes all direct costs associated with the
production of film and TV programmes rights.

Film and TV programmes rights under production are
transferred to “Completed film and TV programmes rights”
upon completion of production.

Completed film and TV programmes rights

Ccompleted film and TV programmes rights are carried at
cost, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. The cost of film and TV
programmes rights is apportioned between the exhibition
and licensing, if applicable. In case that apportionment
is applied, the cost related to exhibition is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of estimated useful
lives or the first public exhibition period. The cost related
to licensing is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of estimated useful lives or the underlying
license periods. The apportionment, estimated useful
lives and amortisation are subject to management’s
review at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimation being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Film rights investments

Film rights investments are the Group’s investments in
film production project which entitles the Group to share
certain percentage of income to be generated from the
related film based on the Group’s investment portion as
specified in respective film rights investments agreements
but the Group has no control nor joint control over the
investments. Film rights investments are carried at fair
value.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiE—ZE - —&F+_-A=+—H Jtir

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Film and TV programmes rights (Continued)

Licensed film and TV programmes rights

Licensed film and TV programmes rights represent the
Group’s investment in film and TV programmes rights
licenses. The Group acquired the licensed rights from
outsiders for broadcasting of films or TV programmes
series on its online video platform or sub-licensing the
license rights to other parties, if applicable. Licensed
film and TV programmes rights are carried at cost, less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Licensed film and TV programmes rights are amortised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives up
to two years. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimation being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Derecognition

Film and TV programmes rights are derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising
from derecognition of film and TV programmes rights are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESEEBEGE

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets 210 ERMEERE

Assets that have an indefinite useful life and/or not

BREAEAFHL /K TAEANE

available for use are not subject to amortisation and are EVEFTEN K /,\tiigﬁ RE A
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if A AEBREEHABEREHETE
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they ENREEARER E'Jﬁiiﬁfim‘ 17
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment BlE - HhEERBAEEMBRE

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate FURIRMEE ] B8 A N B Br a1 /WE il

that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately

A o BEEEEREENREERLER
WEeHE s ZHER - AIRESERE
ENATEREEXNAREREERE
ZFHREE - RAMRENS - A%
BRI B BRI E IR A (ERARE
ELEBYREMEESEEMARNG S
EEBMN)Z2RERA)NREKEE D

identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent BERER - HEBERNESRHEERR

of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets BEHRERRETRT - UETHRERS

(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered AT REE o

an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the

impairment at the end of each reporting period.

2.11 Investments and other financial assets 211 RERHMWERMEE

(i)  Classification () ZHE
The Group classifies its financial assets in the REBRATFEHMNEHE S/
following measurement categories: BEETHE -

138

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

BEERBRAFESAEME
RS BREE R

o HIREHNKAGES -

The classification depends on the entity’s business SEIRARERERESRHEE L
model for managing the financial assets and the ¥BEAURREREZENEK

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will be recorded in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in
profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

f 3 YO 285 e B
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

140

(Continued)

(i)  Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains,
net together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and
foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/
(losses). Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other gains/(losses) and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or l0ss.

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial asset at FVTPL
are recognised in other gains, net in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised since initial recognition.

For other financial assets, it is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Financial liabilities

142

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at
initial recognition, at amortised cost.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at
fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities
at amortised cost, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the

obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires.

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business.
They are generally due for settlement within one year and
therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
and other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. See Note 23 for further information about the
Group's accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1(b)
for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand and deposits held at call with
financial institutions.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 30).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, for example as the result of a share
buy-back, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is
deducted from equity attributable to the owners of the
Company as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the
owners of the Company.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within the credit term. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.18 Borrowings

144

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated
and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to
extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap),
a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, which is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity
instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the

Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHEBEMEZE
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Borrowing costs 219 BEAE

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

Ccurrent income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the company
and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESEEBEGE

2.20 Current and deferred income tax 2.20 BNEA R IEFE AT SR (42)

146

(Continued)
Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

(i)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
nonmonetary benefits that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current
employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
fulltime employees in the PRC are covered by various
government-sponsored pension plans under which
the employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. Contributions to these
plans are expensed as incurred.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses and profit-sharing where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iv)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or when an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.
The Group recognises termination benefits at the
earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b)
when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring
that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the
payment of terminations benefits. In the case of an
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the offer.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period are discounted to present
value.

2.22 Share-based payments

148

(i)

Employee options

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Group's employee option scheme,
the executive short-term incentive scheme and share
appreciation. Information relating to these schemes
is set out in Note 34.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Share-based payments (Continued)

(i)

Employee options (Continued)

The fair value of options granted under the employee
option scheme is recognised as an employee benefits
expense with a corresponding increase in equity.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(e.g. the entity’s share price),

° excluding the impact of any service and
nonmarket performance vesting conditions
(e.g. profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g. the requirement for employees
to save or holdings shares for a specific period
of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the entity revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-market vesting and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Share-based payments (Continued)

(i) Share-based payment for cooperation with a film
director

Equity-settled share-based payment for cooperation
with a film director is measured at the fair value of
the goods or services received or the fair value of
the equity instrument granted if the fair value of
goods or services cannot be estimated reliably. The
share-based payment is recognised as expenses in
accordance with “HKFRS 2 — Share-based payment”
unless the goods or services qualify for recognition
as assets.

2.23 Provisions

150

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHEBEMEZE
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition 2.24 Wz TR

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the
services is transferred to the customer. Depending on
the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the services may be transferred over
time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods or services is transferred over time if
the Group's performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer,

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
services. Specific criteria where revenue is recognised are
described below.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability,
depending on the relationship between the entity’s
performance and the customer’s payment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

152

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right
to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers a service to the customer, the Group
presents the contract as a contract liability when the
payment is made or a receivable is recorded (whichever
is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration for the services that the Group has
transferred to the customers but is not yet unconditional.
A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
requited before payment of that consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been
met for the Group’s activity as described below:

Content production

The Group invests in and produces entertainment content
such as film and TV programmes series.

Revenue derived from box office income and sub-licensing
of film and TV programmes rights is recognised at a point
in time when the control of the entertainment content is
transferred to the customers so that the customers can
direct the use and obtain associated benefit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiE—ZE - —&F+_-A=+—H Jtir

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Subscription services of online video platform

The Group offers subscription services to members or
customers with exclusive access to the contents of the
Group's online video platform.

The Group is the principal in its co-operations with
partners, including consumer electronics manufacturers
(TVs and cell phones), mobile operators, internet service
providers and online payment agencies, that provide
access to the subscription services or payment processing
services as the Group retains control over its service
delivered to the customers.

The subscription fee receipts are generally for services to
be delivered over time, the receipts are initially recorded
as contract liabilities and revenue is recognised rateably
over the subscription period as services are rendered and
presented. Customers who prepay the subscription fee
but do not activate the service before activation period
expires are referred to as breakage. The Group recognised
an expected breakage amount as revenue in proportion to
the historical pattern of rights exercised by the customers.
Upon expiry of the service period, the unutilised portion of
the prepaid packages are fully recognised in profit or loss.
Payments made to the partners, are recorded as expenses.

2.25 Film investment income

Any gain or loss on the film rights investments that are
subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised on a net
basis in the period in which it arises.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at FVTPL and at FVOCI. Dividends are recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right to receive
payment is established. This applies even if they are paid
out of preacquisition profits, unless the dividend clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of an investment.
In this case, the dividend is recognised in OCI if it relates
to an investment measured at FVOCI. However, the
investment may need to be tested for impairment as a
consequence.

2.27 Interest income

154

Interest income from financial asset at FVTPL is included in
the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost and
financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of
other income.

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see Note 11. Any other interest
income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 ﬁifz::iJrfﬂ =+—H Jtir

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHEBEMEZE
POLICIES (Continued)

2.28 Earnings per share

(i)

(1)

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

. the profit attributable to equity owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

° the after income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

o the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.29 Leases

156

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

J variable lease payments that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date,

o amounts expected to be payable by the group under
residual value guarantees,

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.29 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability,

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,

o any initial direct costs, and

o restoration costs.

Entity-specific details about the Group's leasing policy are
provided in Note 18(c).

2.30 Dividend distribution

2.31

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HHRERERE

3.1 Financial risk factors 3.1 BIEREZE

158

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial
risks and how these risks could affect the Group’s
future financial performance. Current year profit or 10ss
information has been included where relevant to add
further context.

The Group’s management monitors and manages the
financial risks relating to the operations of the Group
through internal risk reports which analyse exposures by
degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market
risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

There has been no change to the types of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.

(@ Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC
with most of the transactions denominated
and settled in RMB, the functional currency of
relevant group entities.

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation
of HK$ arising from foreign currency trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables and borrowings.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

0

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and

A 17 S 5 R Y
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monetary liabilities at the end of reporting BREEWT
period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
=Fi BE

2022 2021 2022 2021
B CE - F B —T-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T PEME T IT BETT BT T
HK$ T (5,723) (5,597) 79,141 181,224
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3
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIEBEMREEEZ

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIKEBEEE
(@  Market risk (Continued) (a) mEEREE)
() Foreign exchange risk (Continued) () SMNEEE)

Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The following table details the Group's TRANAEEGARE R
sensitivity to a 5% (2021: Same) increase and BEER EARTRES%(Z
decrease RMB against HK$. The sensitivity rate T —F R HBRE o
of 5% is used when reporting foreign currency MEZERABRINE R
risk internally to key management personnel TENEBHRE R R A 2 SR E
and represents the management’s assessment L= A5% - REEEEI
of the reasonably possible change in foreign EERAIEE LR AEED
exchange rates. The changes in loss for the MmiEH 2 71l o RFEEE
year represented HK$ strengthen 5% (2021: ZEBBREBELARKE
Same) against RMB. For a 5% (2021: same) EEAS%(ZT=—% : 18
weakening of the above foreign currencies &) o i Lo 5 A R RS
against RMB, there would be an equal and BE5%(—ZT=—%F : #HE) -
opposite impact on the loss for the year. AlgdyrFEEBEEEXNRS

BE 2 HRER -

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Changes in loss for the year REZEEZ EE
HKS B 2,753 6,586

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2022
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

@)

Market risk (Continued)

(i1)

(i)

Price risk

The Group's exposure to equity securities price
risk arises from investments held by the Group
and classified in the consolidated statement of
financial position as financial assets at FVTPL
(Note 24).

To manage its price risk arising from
investments in equity securities, the Group
diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the
portfolio is done in accordance with the limits
set by the Group.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2022, if price of the Group's
investments in equity instruments that are
traded in active markets had been increased/
decreased by 200 basis point and all other
variables were held constant, the loss for the
year of the Group would have been decreased/
increased by approximately HK$1,000 (2021:
HK$68,000), resulting from the net fair value
changes of the financial assets.

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk arises
from cash at banks.

The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
other receivables, film investment funds
from investors and borrowings. Management
considers that the fair value risk in relation to
the fixed-rate other receivables, film investment
funds from investors and borrowings is
insignificant as the other receivables,
film investment funds from investors and
borrowings has a short maturity period.

3

BESREEARATF -

MR EIE (E
3.1 BBEKREEGE
@ wEmEBGE

i) EREEE

AN 55 B R AN 3B 5 (B 4K [ B 2R
BAEERFRERREETH
RREZPDEBRATFER
ABHEZSREEMNRE (M
£X24) o

REBERABEREES
mEEAR - AEES HE
BEME - RABAND M
ToAR U AN 4 B R O I
7 o

ﬂt
3

C

B E DT

R_ZE-——_F+=-A=+—
B WASEBERERTS L
BEEMNESRT AKREERIE
o,/ w2001 E 2 - AT
EEMEREFIE A%
ENAFEEBRERD
4B #1,000T (ZE=—
i H168,0007T) © IS
MEENRATFEZS)FHEA
@( °

(i) FIEmE

AEEZREREMNERR
KERITHES -

7N £5 18] 7 A 52 B[] RE ) 2K A9
HpEUWHRIE - REREE
VERIRE IR M AESKIA R
ZRFEMNERER - ERE
B EREE N R H A
JEWFH - KEREENE
AL E FOA KSR H B fE
HAMRAEE - MUEREE M R EY
HiMEYIR - REKRESE
VEFRE KA MEREH
ZRFERBRIETEK -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

162

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continueq)

@)

Market risk (Continued)

(iif)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy in relation to fair value
and cash flow interest rate risks. Management
monitors the Group’s exposure on an ongoing
basis and will consider hedging the interest

3

R EE (2
3.1 B¥EBEEE
@ HEmEE)

(i) FIE = &)

A& E B A e E A
BERBERREN R AR
MR RSP RR - EEER
BEZEASERR - X HR
EFEBZEH A ERE

rate risk should the need arise. B o
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

Regarding the cash flow interest rate risk,
the sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments at the end
of the reporting period. For variable-rate bank
deposits, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of the relevant asset outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2021:
Same) increase or decrease represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2021:
Same) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's loss for the
year would have decreased by approximately
HK$208,000 (2021: HK$303,000).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

0]

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The
credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
financial assets, cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, contract assets, film rights
investments, deposits and other receivables.
The carrying amounts of these balances
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to these assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk,
management has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
management considers that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as
40% (2021: 64%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest debtor.

3

BESREEARATF -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

MR EIE (E
3.1 BBEREEGE
b) EEEE

() EBEE

FERREZEEEEERE
AEENEERREZRE
TREE BRaLkBREF
B BEER  AHNEE -
EXMERE  REeMHEM
FEWGRIR - R E B ERE
BNAKERZEEEME
Rz &=EERR -

SABEERREERE B
BEECZK—BERAEEERE
FERE  FEFLLEAM
ERERF - ARARKRIRE
THREEBBMER - 1
Sh - REBERHREHRRE
EEREE 2 AT E £ 5 -
IARE (R 3L XU B 2 & BR AT
REMBERE - Bl &
BEERRAKEZEERR
ERBERIE -

AR ERAEBRAES A
ZHEEEREREEN
A0%(ZT=—F : 64%) * K
SEGEEETREERR -

B TR
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

164

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i1)

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets

The Group has two types of assets that are
subject to the expected credit loss model: trade
receivables and contract assets and other
financial assets carried at amortised costs.

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected credit loss provision for
all trade receivables and contract assets.
To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

For trade receivables and contract assets,
management has assessed the expected credit
losses based on the background and reputation
of the customers, historical settlement records
and past experience, and expected realisation
plan for long aged balances including offsetting
with certain payables. Management also
considered the default rates and loss given
default from external rating agency report and
forward-looking information that may impact
the customer’s ability to repay the outstanding
balances. As at 31 December 2022, the 10ss
allowances of approximately HK$10,128,000
and HK$172,000 (2021: HK$6,990,000 and
HK$55,000) were recognised for trade
receivables and contract assets respectively
based on the expected credit losses rates
ranged from 0% to 29% (2021: 0% to 19%)
applied on different groupings.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiE—ZE - —&F+_-A=+—H Jtir

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i1)

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade

3 BXEREEEE
3.1 B¥REBEZEE
(b) EEmERBE)

() TBEEREXEZENRE
(#)

YRR R ENEEGE)

RTZA=+—8  BKK

receivables and contract assets as at 31 REREHEENBRERE
December reconcile to the opening loss 165 B2 HR 9] /&5 18 % 1 W BR 10
allowances as follows: ™
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BRI
Trade receivables FE Ut BR X
At 1 January n—H—H 6,990 8,606
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowances F NER 2 EiE
recognised during the year G 3,776 (1,820)
Exchange difference MEHZ=R (638) 204
At 31 December R+=—A=+-—H 10,128 6,990
Contract assets EHEE
At 1 January Kn—H—H 55 62
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowances 4 N 2 BB B
recognised during the year #mn, CRd) 125 ©9)
Exchange difference PE W =58 (8) 2
At 31 December R+=—B=+—8 172 55

BEEREEARAR - —F2FF% 165 N
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

166

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i1)

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets are
written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group,
and a failure to make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables
and contract assets are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line
item.

3

R EE (2
3.1 BKEBEZEE
(b) EEmEBEE)

() THBEEREXEZENRE
(#)

YRR R ENEEE)

RUEARANEERES
I H 28 W] Uy (o] B A3 o 30 AR
A1 8 A W Bl RIE B R R
B (AR EE) BB AR
B 7K £ (8] £k ) 1) i S8 KA T &
K RBEVEH A NN -

YRR R A KB EMRE
BI85 R 25 M A HRE
1R E o B R UR[EI S5 AT IR
HHNEEELAR—HEE -

Other financial assets at amortised cost HEERAGTENE S

The credit quality of the other receivables has HMEWHRIENEEERT
been assessed with reference to historical B2EEBRZEHFEY
information about the counterparties B AR EE S E R

default rates and financial position of the
counterparties. As at 31 December 2022, the
loss allowances of approximately HK$8,349,000
were recognised for other receivables (2021:
HK$3,954,000).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIEBEMREEEZ

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MEEKBEEGE
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) 1=EEEGE)
(i) Impairment of financial assets and contract (i) Z=HEEREVNEERE
assets (Continued) (#&)
Other financial assets at amortised cost REHEK AT ENEtMES R
(Continued) BEGE)
The closing loss allowances for deposits and R+=ZA=+—H ' %&&k
other receivables as at 31 December reconcile H b i W AR SRR HA R s 18 9
to the opening loss allowances as follows: HHEATEBERERBREHERD
T
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
At 1 January m—H—H 3,954 1,109
Increase in loss allowances recognised 4F AR 2 &5 18 B & 1 AN
during the year 4,590 2,827
Exchange difference EHZR (195) 18
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 8,349 3,954

BEGREEERAR - —F--FF8 167 1R
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

168

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(©

B ERER(E
3.1 BIEBEEE

Credit risk (Continued) (b) 1=EREEGE)
(i) Net impairment losses on financial and contract (i) RIEzmAEREI RS A
assets recognised in profit or loss BEZREEEFE
During the year, the net impairment losses on FR - REZAERNEH
financial and contract assets recognised in MENEEZREBEFE
profit or loss were as follows: LU
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Provision for)/Net reversal of EWRERRENEEY
impairment losses on trade BB 1E (BE)
receivables and contract assets B e (3,901) 1,829
Provision for impairment losses on HEMep&EE 2 RE
other financial assets Es1E R (4,590) (2,827)
Net impairment losses on financial CREEREGNEEY
assets and contract assets WIEBEFE (8,491) (998)
Liquidity risk () mBELERE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$53,634,000,
and short-term borrowings of approximately
HK$108,267,000, and the Group had net cash used
in operating activities for the year of approximately
HK$46,357,000 and loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$221,812,000. Management considers the Group
does not have any significant liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the consolidated statement
of financial position date to the contractual maturity
date. Balances due within 12 months equal their
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not
significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #( % —

Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

=

3 UBEREEE
MBEBREEE

(c) FEBELEEGE)

F+-A=t—BLFE

Weighted 0n demand Total
Contractual maturities of average  orless than 1-3 3 months undiscounted Carrying
financial liabilities interest rate 1 month months to 1year 1-3 years cash flows amount
ARER -z =fiB FAERRS
SREBRNANENA MEFHHE  FHR-EA =R 2-F -B=% REAE REE
% HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
AR BETT BETT BETT BB BB
2022 —EoCE
Non-derivative financial FiTESRAR
liabilities
Trade and other payables R R E ML
O - 128,946 - - - 128,946 128,946
Film investment funds from REREENEZRE
investors B - - - 524,471 - 524,471 524,471
Film rights investments BYIRERE - - - 970 - 970 970
Borrowings & 1.36% 74,434 33,955 - - 108,389 108,267
Lease liabilities HERE 4.33% 1147 3,442 9,179 17,707 31,475 29,915
Amount due to arelated party  FEF—REEALHE - 182 - - - 182 182
204,709 37,397 534,620 17,707 794,433 792,751
2021 —E--F
Non-derivative financial FiESRAR
liabilities
Trade and other payables FERERREMEN
FE - 171,384 - - - 171,384 171,384
Film investment funds from REREEMEFRE
investors A - - - 197,332 - 197,332 197,332
Film rights investments E%Hﬂé&ﬁ - - - 1483 - 1483 1,483
Borrowings ez = = 18917 51,364 = 100,281 100,281
Lease liabilities HERE 390% 1,501 3898 4,320 14,040 23759 22,509
Amountdueto arelated party R —RBEALIE - 15,137 - - - 15,137 15,137
188,022 52,815 254,499 14,040 509,376 508,126
BEAAEESRAT - —2--F4% 169 N
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

170

3.2 Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt which
includes borrowings in Note 28 and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and various reserves.

Management reviews the capital structure periodically.
As part of this review, management considers the cost of
capital and the risks associates with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of management, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through new share
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt or reduction in capital.

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2022
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # =

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

(i)

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standards. An explanation of
each level follows underneath the table.

f 3 YO 285 e B

—F — —

=

3 HXRREEE

3.3 QP{EME

()  RFEEERF

Ft-A=1+—

HILFE

7 8 8 ot 7 TE X B % R R P RERR
RIEAFEFENESBRTARY
1B B AT 1 O 2l S fd 5t - BB
HEBEE A TEMBEASE
ZAEMNER  AKREERRESR
EARERESH T AN =1

Level 1 Level 3 Total
E—R F=R st
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE BT BETT BETT
Recurring fair value BN FEE
measurements
At 31 December 2022 HR=-T=-_—fF
+=HA=+—H
Financial assets SREE
Hong Kong listed equity BELTRAES
securities 24 65 - 65
Film rights investments BYRERE 22 - 244,731 244,731
65 244,731 244,796
Financial liabilities cEas
Film rights investments BERRERE 22 - 970 970
BEGEEEERAR - —B==FF% 171
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIEBEMEEEZ

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFREMRFE)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ()  RAFEZEBRFE)
Level 1 Level 3 Total
EF— E= @t
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

By aE BETT AB¥TT BETx

Recurring fair value BEENFEFE
measurements
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F
+=-—A=+—8H
Financial assets EREE
Hong Kong listed equity BB LEMRAES
securities 24 3,409 - 3,409
Film rights investments BMRERE 22 = 247,770 247,770
3,409 247,770 251,179
Financial liabilities A= N=N
Film rights investments BRI E 22 = 1,483 1,483
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for FAN - EE—RRE_LK2EL
recurring fair value measurements during the vyear. ERCEUHEATEFEETE
For transfers in and out of level 3 measurements see B F-MaEmEARE LG
(iii) below. 28T X E(ii)E -
The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and AEEBKEEERRRS R
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the N BERBRBHEARLE LIS
end of the reporting period. e
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives,
and equity securities) is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the
Group is the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity
securities.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

. the use of quoted market prices or dealer
quotes for similar instruments; and

° for other financial instruments — discounted
cash flow analysis.

3 BERE
3.3 AR EMRF(E)
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3

174

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BIEBEMREEEZ
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFEEMFE#E)

(i)~ Fair value measurements using significant

(iii) FRAZAXT BT ABIFET

unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3
items for the year:

RARFPETE(FE=ZR)

FRUFE S MIEE G F RS
& :

Film rights
investments
ERERE
HK$'000
BETT
Opening balance 1 January 2021 R-TE-—F—HA—AHV&ER 164,331
Additions b i 171,500
Changes in fair values NEEE 75,586
Derecognition or settlement RIETER R GEE (170,548)
Exchange differences MEH ZR 5,418
Closing balance 31 December 2021 KRB —F+-A=+—BNREH 246,287
Additions b 20,618
Changes in fair values N EEE (2,730)
Derecognition or settlement 12 HERR R (814)
Exchange differences EHZE% (19,600)
Closing balance 31 December 2022 R-B-Z-F+-A=1+—HWHIREER 243,761

The key unobservable input includes the expected
cash flow derived from the investments and
discounted rate. If the expected cash flows were
increased/(reduced) by 5%, the fair value would
increase/(decrease) by approximately HK$12,188,000
(2021: HK$12,314,000). If the discounted rates were
increased by 1%, the fair value would decrease by
approximately HK$4,136,000 (2021: HK$3,905,000)
and if the discount rates were decreased by 1%,
the fair value would increase by approximately
HK$4,030,000 (2021: HK$4,194,000).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #iZ = = —F+=-H=+—H Jtir

CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom
equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise
judgement in applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(a) Revenue derived from content production
and film investment income

Management considered whether it was appropriate to
recognise the revenue from content production and film
investment income, net, of approximately HK$13,630,000
(2021: HK$158,353,000) in the current year, which is in line
with the Group’s general policy of recognising revenue and
film investment income as set out in Notes 2.24 and 2.25.

In making the judgement, management considered the
detailed criteria included satisfying the performance
obligation and the right to receive payment for the
recognition of revenue derived from content production
and measurement of film investment income set out in the
applicable standards. In the event where the criteria are
met but the final statement of the relevant film has not yet
received, judgement is required to estimate the revenue
and related costs of the film investment.

4 EERMEFTRFAE

RAEGAVBHRRABERGHET  BRR
% HEBRILSAERER - BEEERFEA
AR B S AT R IRAETT A -

AT RHE AT EE T - L VERBE
KEMEMER  BRERARBERLTHRER
AEMNAEEZERELVBHZENRRKE
(ESEV

(@) ARREFEEZWERERRE
A

EEBEERAFEHRALREANTH
1’&24&%&?&%&%4&)\ RN
B#13,630,000L (ZFE=—F : B
158,353,00071:>E:.LEE. g SE=N i)
FE2.24 %2 25FT# A B AN B RE R M
REFZRERAZ — BB -

RIELHEE - EEEERERANTH
%EEZ% s NFTEERRERAZE

REAFFEZHERE  BRETKE
%f&&%i%ﬂﬁ KRR - HTE
SEERARRIEEEZNRERE -
AR ERFRE EE N Wat RARREAK A
FER A -
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Measurement of film and TV programmes

176

rights classified as intangible assets,
and impairment of license and software
development costs

At the end of each reporting period, management assessed
the cost apportionment, amortisation policy and estimated
useful lives of the film and TV programmes rights classified
as intangible asset, license and software development
costs. The determination of cost apportionment,
amortisation policy and estimated useful lives requires
management’s significant judgement.

Other than the amortisation, management also i) assessed
whether impairment indicator existed on completed film
and TV programmes rights and available for intended
use, licensed film and TV programmes rights, license and
software development costs and ii) assessed impairment
for film and TV programmes rights either completed but
not available for intended use or under production and
provided impairment up to its recoverable amount in
accordance with the respective impairment assessment.

() Inrespect of the completed film and TV programmes
rights but not available for intended use or under
production, the recoverable amount of the associated
film and TV programmes rights was determined by
using the fair value less cost of disposal approach.

In determining the recoverable amount, the Group
takes into consideration both internal and external
market information, for example, the expected
revenue, the estimated production cost, the
estimated selling and distribution expenses, the
discounted rates and the general economic condition
of the relevant markets.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
has recognised a net provision for impairment of
film and TV programmes rights of approximately
HK$3,971,000 (2021: HK$1,998,000). Any reasonable
changes in assumptions used in this assessment,
including the forecasted revenue and discount rate,
may not result in a material additional provision
being made in the consolidated financial statements.
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W ANER T 5 B #L - Pl a0 TR B
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BITRAX - BRBEXARBETS
HV BB LI ©

REBEZEE

BHE-_T-_—_F+=-A=+—H
IHFE  AEEEBREZNE
REIRERBEREFENBE
3,971,000 (ZE = — 4 : B
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #iZ = = —F+=-H=+—H Jtir

4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continueq)

(b) Measurement of film and TV programmes
rights classified as intangible assets,
and impairment of license and software
development costs (Continued)

(if)

In respect of the Group’s license and software
development costs, together with the film and TV
programmes rights available for subscription on the
Group's online video platform as well as licensed film
and TV programmes rights, they are the essential
elements of the Group’s online video platform.
Management identified the Group’s online video
platform as a cash-generating unit (the “Platform
CGU"), which is the basis for impairment assessment
of Group’s license, software development costs
and film and TV programmes rights available for
subscription. The recoverable amount of the Platform
CGU was determined based on the present value of
the expected future cash flow generated from the
Platform CGU.

Management determined that impairment
indicator existed for the Platform CGU as the actual
performance was behind the original forecast,
representing an impairment indicator, triggering
a need to perform an impairment assessment. In
carrying out the impairment assessment of the
Platform CGU, Management used the fair value
less cost of disposal approach to determine the
recoverable amount by discounting future cash flow
forecast which involved key assumptions including
discount rate of 25%. compound annual growth rate
of 21.2% and terminal growth rate of 3%. As at 31
December 2022, the carrying amount of licensed film
and TV programmes rights available for subscription,
software development costs amounted to
approximately HK$56,102,000 (2021: HK$90,559,000),
and HKS$nil (2021: HK$2,416,000), respectively. Any
reasonable changes in assumptions used in this
assessment, including the forecasted revenue and
discount rate, will not result in a material provision in
the consolidated financial statements.

4 EEMEETREGE

TRREBENEEZEXRELRE
ARAE R B DA BF A R R B A B
BRARE (E)

(b) 2

(il BMAKEKFTIEREFRERK
AmE B ERASEEZEEF
AEAEHRENEY REEBEIR
BUARERE,EZRERBEIMR
B HARNEEERRBETEN
EEnE - -EEESAEEMNTE
BEBTERERFACEEBN
([FeREELENM]) WAERE
EFral s - SR AR H#
REZEY NERE RERERFT
EHER - FARESELENL
ARESBENRETFEREESE
BUNEEZEBERRASTE
WREET -

EEERAE FAESELBEM
BEREFR  RAABBERESR
BHBERREED  HFERED
% MEBETRETS - BT
FTeResELEBENNRETMN
B BEEESBBRARRRSHE
788 FRADQFERBEKAK
WA EEEARE£5E B85
REBBHK  BEIRRE25% -
EAFEBRER2I 2% M REIEE
E3%  RZTEZZF+-A=+
—E AHRE I EREZEY
EREIREREGRERAZ
EEE%%%UE%@;‘M%S()AOZOOO
(=T = —4F : B#90,559,000
T RBEETL(ZE—F B
2,416,0007T) ° &t T AR (B
%ENW sRBBRER) ZEREE
T B E R A TSR
%#ﬁhéﬁ%%
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4 CRITICAL ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continueq)

(c)

(d)

(e)

178

Fair value of film rights investments

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of film rights
investments amounted to approximately HK$243,761,000
(2021: HK$246,287,000). The respective fair values are
determined by using valuation technigues. Details of the
judgement and assumptions have been disclosed in Note
3.3.

Estimated impairment of prepayments for
film and TV programmes rights

At the end of each reporting period, management
assesses whether the impairment indicator existed for
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights based on
the contract terms of the agreements, estimated budget
of the proposed production and the progress on how the
prepayment has been used or realised.

Based on management’s assessment on the prepayments
of film and TV programmes rights, management
determined that no impairment provision to be charged to
prepayments of film and TV programmes rights during the
year (2021: Same).

Loss allowances of trade receivables and
contract assets

The loss allowances of trade receivables and contract
assets are based on assumptions about risk of default,
expected loss rates and forward-looking information.
Management uses judgements in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the calculation,
based on the past history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking information at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs
used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).
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REVENUE AND FILM INVESTMENT (LOSS)/

INCOME, NET

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS

An analysis of the Group's revenue and film investment (loss)/

#

FA-AEENKEREF

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 ﬁfz_g::iJr A=+—H Jtir

5 WHEREXREEE WA

KRE (B8, K

income, net, for the year, net of sales related tax, is as follows: A FBEREEHEBHE) DO T ¢
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Revenue e
- Share of box office income - DEEEKA - 2,158
— Sub-licensing of film and - P EBXRERBIRE
TV programmes rights 4,258 32,548
- Other media related revenue — H b i BE AR B U e 12,102 48,061
16,360 82,767
Film investment (loss)/income, net BEXRE (BB, WA - F8 (2,730) 75,586
13,630 158,353
Information about major customers FEEFEHR
During the year, revenue and film investment (loss)/income, net FR - WAEELWREREZRE (B518), /I

derived for the customers contributing over 10% of the total
revenue and film investment (loss)/income, net of the Group are

A FEEMBI0REFELEZ WA RER

Tﬁﬁ(@ﬁﬁ)/%)\ FRRIAT

as follows:

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BRI

Customer A ZPA 3,999 85,349

Customer B =FB 3,249 N/AT i

Customer C =FEC N/ATRE R 26,752
The revenue and film investment (loss)/income, net was derived W R BEZRE (B18), WA - FEEREH

from investment in film and TV programmes rights in the PRC

and Hong Kong.

BESREEARATF -
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5 REVENUE AND FILM INVESTMENT (LOSS)/
INCOME, NET (Continued)

Contract assets and liabilities

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities

related to contracts with customers:

KEREFRE(BER) KA - F
w#E)

BHNEERER

AEECHERATEEFPANEENEER
BfE:

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T
Contract assets BHEE 10,434 11,440
Loss allowances (Note 3.1(b)) B8 (M9 5E3.1(b) (172) (55)
Contract assets, net BHEBE  FH 10,262 11,385
Contract liabilities EHEE 30,052 31,469
Significant changes in contract assets and EHEERBENERES

liabilities

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, contract assets represent
unbilled revenue arisen from the share of box office income,
sub-licensing of film and TV programmes rights and other media

related revenue in accordance with the contract terms.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, contract liabilities mainly
represent receipt in advance in relation to the co-membership
arrangement with other online platforms operated by different

business partners.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIASTATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # =

SEGMENT INFORMATION 6

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors
who review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The Group’s operations
are currently organised into one reportable segment which is
investment in film and TV programmes rights. The CODM reviews
the Group's consolidated results of operations in assessing
performance of and making decisions about allocations to this
segment. Accordingly, no reportable segment information is
presented.

Geographical information

The Group's current operations are mainly located in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group'’s revenue and film investment
(loss)/income, net, net of tax is presented based on the location
of the operations of the relevant business units. Information
about the Group's non-current assets by geographical location
of the assets are detailed below:

7 ERE #

f 3 YO 285 e B

- F+-A=+— Etﬁr

HTEFCRAMNATIEZLERRE AR
EHAKENANRE  EEFHEEERD
BRER - ZKE@E’W«%%%%EEE#EM\—MT

EE;;:&/'\_L

BEBEEZREGRBIRERE - T8

RERRENF AR BRERRE LD
FORRAERETEBHNAKENGREEER
Ao EIt - BMEZIIR 2R EER -

tEE R

AEERKNEE T EMRFELERE

AEE 2w K

BEXRE (BB WAFE

(R IR) ERHE BRI B XA 2
5 - MEEMMEMEI D ZAKBEFRBDEE

ERFENT :

Revenue and
film investment
(loss)/income, net

Non-current assets

LES T 75

(B18), WA 8 IRBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F —E-— =B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
The PRC AT 13,630 149,977 687,192 899,440
Hong Kong B - 8,376 16,182 23,852
13,630 158,353 703,374 923,292
BEGREEABRAR - —EFF# 181
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

7 OTHER INCOME 7 HkA
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Government grants (Note) BT # B (B ) 576 286
Sundry income FMIBUIA 1,951 2,028
2,527 2,314
Note: Government grants mainly represented the subsidies of approximately MisE: BUNEBEEREREASBRSMRMUEIGE

HK$576,000 (2021: Nil) received from Employment Support Scheme
of the Hong Kong government and Nil (2021: HK$286,000) received
from the PRC government. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other
contingencies attaching to these grants.

W B 7 7 Bh 478 #576,000T(ZE = — 4 -
D) RMFEBRFREZHBAS (T =—
F A #286,0007T) © 7% 5 1 B BE T A A
RERMOEG MR BEE -

8 OTHER GAINS, NET 8 Hkzx - FE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Gain on film investment funds from investors & B & & M E 1% 4 708 2 e
(Note 27) (B 5E27) - 273
Net fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets A FEzF AR Z & B EED
at FVTPL (Note 24) RNTE(ER), W F 58 (M E24) (1,169) 3,008
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) PE W Wz (B518) %58 5,985 (1,056)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BEREZEEE
equipment - @
Gain on dissolution of subsidiaries S YNGR Ey 1,446 =
Others EHh 2 296
6,264 2,517
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # =

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B T 5 e A Fi

- F+-A=+— Etﬁr

EXPENSES BY NATURE 9 BMEBEEISZHEX
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T BET T BT T
Employee benefit expenses EERNAZ(TRIEES
(excluding directors’ remuneration FNE ARG A2
and share-based compensation) ) 10 56,290 54,929
Directors’ remunerations B 14 21,322 30,149
Share-based compensation LAR% (D B E 2 12 B &
to employees 10 - 2,612
Depreciation e
- Property, plant and equipment - - WE MR 17 654 1,747
- Right-of-use assets - FREEE 18(b) 13,171 15,066
Short-term leases expenses HHHEERY 18(b) 1,250 593
Legal and professional fees EEREXER 5,111 6,561
Travelling and entertainment expenses 2 ik & & B 5 52 4,799 7,373
Advertising and marketing expenses BEREHEFAEZ 5,568 24,588
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE B 19 2,288 4,790
Amortisation of film and ENASER N ok 5
TV programmes rights 22 83,991 212,678
Net impairment losses on film and B RERBINRE
TV programmes rights RIEBEFE 22 6,083 1,998
Pre-production development costs B HARLVE A B A AR 13,889 =
Auditor's remuneration Z SN &
— Audit services - BZRE 3,285 3,285
- Non-audit services - BT 15 15
General office expenses —RIRAEEA 2,958 4,403
Insurances Rz 1,641 1,524
Others Hit 12,826 12,283
Total cost of revenue, selling and Was 2 A ~ SHE &
distribution costs and 7 SERC AN DA J2
administrative expenses T 258 235,141 384,594
BEGBREEERAT - —E-—FFRH
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

10 BERAFAX(FTREBEESHH)

2022 2021

—E-CF T

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BETT

Wages, salaries and bonus TE  HeRkiti 48,201 46,747
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  BIRE A — B E HREHE 7,518 7,578
Others HAth 571 604
56,290 54,929

Share-based compensation VARS 17 7 B 1 2 357 B - 2,612
Total employee benefit expenses EERFFZ B 56,290 57,541

(@) Pensions — defined contribution plans (@) BIRE - BEMKETE

BB R U (R AT AR R R 2 FE A

K o

No forfeited contributions is available to reduce the
contributions payable in future years.

Contributions totalling approximately HK$258,000 (2021:
HK$651,000) were payable at the end of reporting period.

w5 HAR FE (< (SR A2 5B 40 R 8 258,000
T(ZE=—%F : B%651,0007T) °

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEHEEMEAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include two (2021: two) directors

whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in
Note 14. The emoluments payable to the remaining three

FR AEEIEERMEALTEER
H(ZE-_—F -MRBEF - HMER
BRIAPME SE1AFT R DA » F R E R
=R(CEI—F: ZR)ALTZBem

184

(2021: three) individuals during the year are as follows: ™
2022 2021
—EC-_F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT T IT
Salaries and other benefits e RHART] 7,635 6,609
Performance related bonus BRIVBEHZIELL - 1,531
Share-based compensation VAR 193 /3 B 2 57 B - 2,024
Retirement benefits RIRTEF 36 36
7,671 10,200
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B A 5 R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EERFBEX(FTEEEEEH)
(EXCLUDING DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION) (&)
(Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EEBREMEALT(#E)
The number of employees among the five highest paid FANTFUTHENAEESME AL
individuals whose remunerations fell within the following FEES A :
bands:

Number of individuals

AE
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—F
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 7T 2 7 #2,000,0007T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 752,500,001 7T 2 74 ¥ 3,000,0007T 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 753,000,001 T 2 /%8 % 3,500,0007T 1 -
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 755,000,001 T 28 % 5,500,0007T - 1
3 8
The number of directors among the five highest paid FWNTUTHENAEZEESME AL
individuals whose remunerations fell within the following RHEE AR :
bands:
Number of individuals
AE
2022 2021
—E-_—F e S
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 T 2% % 2,000,0007T 1 -
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 75 #6,000,0017T 28 % 6,500,0007T -
HK$18,000,001 to HK$18,500,000 785 1518,000,001 7T = %8 # 18,500,000 1 -
HK$22,500,001 to HK$23,000,000 722,500,001 7T 2 7% #£ 23,000,000 - 1
2 2
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

11 FINANCE (COSTS)/INCOME, NET 11 BBER), WA B8

2022 2021
—EC-F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEET T

Finance income B R WA
Bank interest income RITH B HA 112 124
Other interest income E b B HA 3,732 8,327
3,844 8,451

Finance costs B EH

Finance charges for lease liabilities MEBE Y%A (HFE18(bD)

(Note 18(b)) (1,610) (631)
Interest expenses on a borrowing —SERZFEAX (8) -
Interest expenses for film investment funds REREENEFREREZ

from investors FERAX (4,287) (5,432)

(5,905) (6,063)
Finance (costs)/income, net BMIE(ER) WA - B (2,061) 2,388
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12 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

under the Law of the PRC on Corporate Income Tax (the “CIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the CIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Pursuant to the CIT law, 10% withholding tax is levied on the PRC
sourced income on foreign entities without establishments or
places of business in the PRC.

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No provision for Hong Kong
profits tax has been made in the consolidated financial
statements as the relevant group entities have incurred tax
losses (2021: Same).

No overseas profits tax has been calculated for the group
entities that are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI") or Bermuda as they are exempted from tax (2021: Same).

Income tax (credit)/expense (credited)/charged to the profit or
loss represents:
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

12 FrEBiE% (BAxR)

RIFBEGEAFVOE(EEMFVE] ki
EFEBAERED B —TENF—A—
Bt - PEKMEAR ZHER25% °

RIBEXMABTL - LARNFT BIEARILHE
BREXSANINEERAREIRNF E
B RE YA B R 10%H BT ©

MEFE 2 BEME TG R A BRBOE
AR E16.5%H - AR IABEEEERE LR
HEE RUERGEMBEHRRARETEHN
SURELNEB(CZE-—F : BR) -

HRERBEBARESHNARENLZER
ERENRGHL  UHMERZEEEE RS
EEINEHR(CE-—F : R -

Gt/ Hik B BEAAEH ER) FX T

15

2022 2021

—=E=-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Current tax BNERFR 18 - 1,060
Deferred income tax (Note 29) EIEFTIS L (B 7E29) (1,460) 14,477
Income tax (credit)/expense Frs®i GE%) /X (1,460) 15,537

BEEEEERRLAR - —BEZ2FFER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #{ &£ =& ==

12 INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (Continued) 12

The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

F+-A=+—HIFE

FrigBiig %, (BAX) (&

AERZEHREER) X BRGEBERE
fizmR e R < BRBIBRERMNT

2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Loss before tax PR RIES 18 (223,272) (220,020)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates REARSBEEE 2 Bt R
applicable to loss in the respective STEZHIE
countries (47,571) (46,408)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose A BEMB ZMAX 4,479 3,903
Income not taxable AR WA (1,585) (430)
Tax loss not recognised KRR HIEEE 43,921 57,717
Utilisation of tax loss not recognised BRAERBIBEE (572) -
Withholding tax TERL - 792
Others Hh (132) (37)
Income tax (credit)/expense s (E%) Fx (1,460) 15,537

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 21.3% (2021:
21.1%). The change in weighted average applicable tax rate was
mainly caused by a change in mix of profits earned or losses

incurred by the group entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIASTATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

13 RAFRETEWMBRAFE

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of
operation and kind issued share capital/ Effective economic
Name of entities of legal entities Principal activities registered capital interest held by the Group
H/SERER BEITRE/ FEEfE
151 ERERER TEEY TREAFE BERCERE
2022 2021
—EC-CE 2%
Beijing Huan Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited & e BREAAR Investments AK#100,000,0007T
PRBBREULBEEARAF BEYREREIRERE
Huan Huan Xi Xi (Tianjin) Culture Investment The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited @& PE - BREFAR investments AR 100,000,007
BEBEE(RR)ULREERAR BV REREIRERE
Taizhou Huanxi Culture Investment The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights USD40,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited #&® P BREAAT investments F£60,000,0007C
aMEELREERAF EYRERERERE
Beijing Huanshixi Culture Media The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes rights RMB30,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited 9&® e BREAAR investments AR #30,000,0007
FRBTEXLERERAF BEYREREIRERE
Gain Flow Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Online video platform development  USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
IERZERERAR ERERAES /% BRAR ERVRBTAERE ERTLRR
Power Thought Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Film and TV programmes rights USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
NBREERAR EBEMARS/E% BRAR  investments I ERR
BYREREIRERE
HX Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited company Film and TV programmes rights HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
BEREBERERARA B8 BRAR investments BT LRk
EYRERBINERE
Wiz Limited Hong Kong, limited company Provision of management services  HK$1 ordinary share 100% 100%
EMERAR B8 BROA to the Group BEAITERER
AARERAERRYG
BEEEEEERAT - —2-=FF8% 189 N
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #; &

13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

F+-A=+—HIFE

13 RAFAETEMBRAFEE)

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of
operation and kind issued share capital/ Effective economic
Name of entities Principal activities registered capital interest held by the Group
BRIREK/ FREME
1 TTEY SMERGFE BERCERS
2022 2021
—EC-CE —E--%
Graceful View Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
RBEMREE/B% BRAT  RERR X2 1Eak
Sinofocus Media (Holdings) Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
REERERERAT EBERRES/B% BRAR REER ETERR
Huanxi Entertainment (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding HK$10,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%
HERL(FR)ERARA REHR 10,000 BR
Huanxi Media Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding HK$1 ordlinary share 100% 100%
REYAREGRLA RARR BRI LRk
Joyful Sky Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
EXRERARAF RBEMREE/B% BRAT  RERR el -l
Mansford Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
EBERRES/B% BRAR REER R TLRR
Noble Fort Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong, limited company Investment holding USD1 ordinary share 100% 100%
RBEMREE/B% BRAT  RERR el -l
Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes production  RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited ®®&® FE - BREEAR and investment AR 10,000,000
IREEERULERARS W EYREREAERRE
Beijing Hangaohua Network Technology The PRC, limited liability company ~ Provision of internet audio-visual RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited ©&® PE - BREFAT programmes services AR10,000,0007
EREREBEMRARARE REETHBERENE RS
Qingdao Huanxi Shou Ying Culture The PRC, limited liability company ~ Film and TV programmes production  RMB3,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited ®&® FE - BREMAR and investment AR 3,000,000

EERE B UL BR AR

EYLERMERIERRE
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13 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

M

These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-owned enterprises of
Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau corporate body under the PRC Law.

This subsidiary is registered as wholly-owned enterprise of foreign-
invested corporate body under the PRC Law.

These subsidiaries are registered as enterprise invested/controlled by
natural persons under the PRC Law.

The English names for the PRC subsidiaries are for identification
purposes only.

These subsidiaries are controlled by the Group by virtue of the
contractual agreements effective from 19 January 2018. Beijing Huan
Sheng Xiao Yu Culture Media Company Limited (“Beijing Subsidiary”) is
a wholly-owned enterprise of Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau corporate
body in the PRC. The Group operates an online video platform in
the PRC through contractual arrangements with its affiliated PRC
entities, Beijing Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited and Beijing
Hangaohua Network Technology Company Limited and Qingdao
Huanxi Shou Ying Culture Company Limited (the “VIE Group”). Beijing
Subsidiary has entered into a series of contractual arrangements with
the VIE Group and their respective shareholders. These contractual
arrangements enable the Group to (1) have power to direct the
activities that most significantly affect the economic performance of
the VIE Group; (2) receive substantially all of the economic benefits
from the VIE Group in consideration for the services provided by
Beijing Subsidiary; and (3) have an exclusive option to purchase all
or part of the equity interests in the VIE Group at the minimum price
permitted under the PRC laws, when and to the extent permitted by
the PRC law, and request any existing shareholders of the VIE Group
to transfer all or part of the equity interest in the VIE Group to any
entity designated by the Group at any time in its discretion. The Group
believes that its ability to exercise effective control give it the rights
to receive substantially all of the economic benefits from the VIE
Group in consideration for the services provided by Beijing Subsidiary.
Accordingly, as the primary beneficiary of the VIE Group and in
accordance with the HKFRSs, the Group consolidates their assets,
liabilities, results of operations and cash flows in the consolidated
financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 which principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. Management is of the opinion that to
give details of other subsidiaries would result in particulars
of excessive length. None of the Company’s subsidiaries had
issued any debt securities at year end
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

13 RAFAEEMBRAFEE)

() REHEA AR EEDIER A4 SREA
BARE -

@ ZMBRARRETBEAMEMABIERELE
ENBEDE -

@ ZEWMBARREBEFEEANEMABERAR
B EREE -

@  FEEBRAREXEHERSE -

G ZEWBARBASEREEBE=-Z—N\F—A
THABRERNE LR ZES - tREBBXE
XEBEER AR (TERMBARD A —E
RAENABREABELE - AEEBBE
HMBTEEEILTBE R EERATR
IRERERERBERATRSSEHEGM
XEBR AT (VIEER DA HOLZEER T EE
E—EAEFEBETE - L RMBARIEHEVIES
B URBESERETL—RINEGHTHE -
ZEAHNLHSAREBMBIA B IIEFISVIE
EEZEERBEESEAVENTE QM
VIEE BUKEUB RS0 £ B IS - 1R BRIt =M B
ARRERBZRE RQZEBERBEE® -
AfERBER A HREBER - RPBE
BAMZREEREBRVEEE Z 2 KIH K
o 3 2 SR VIESE BT {r] 3R A AR 3R 17 AN 5 [ Bs s
MBI EZ R EEEREVIEEE 2 2B o
Bt - AEERE - BEHITHEERIEFESHE
BREMVIEEBUEB A D EE R - 1AL
R EARRERENRE - At - fEAVIEE
ENEZEZHA - RRBEEBV KRS ER -
AEEBRECEE  BfE HEXERRS
REEREGMBERERPLGAE -

ERAVARRR =T == —E-—4%F
+—A=+—BZWEBRA r BHAEEZ
¥EREEEAFEFENL A c BRIE
I BARIFE  EEERACSERERA
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 14 ES 2@ RER

(a) Directors emoluments (a) EEE&

The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid AEEEN REMNARRESH B0
and payable by the Group are set out below: ™

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—E-_—Ff+-A=+—-RILEE

192

Pension costs-
defined
Salaries and Performance contribution Total
Fees  other benefits  related bonus plan emoluments
BEE BRERHA -
He HFERHEMER BH2RA BEMRNEE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB BETT BETT BETT
Executive directors HTESE
Mr. Dong Ping Rt 330 1,476 - - 1,806
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Note ii) B35 5% 4 (FifsEi) - 18,058 - 18 18,076
Sub-total Nt 330 19,534 - 18 19,882
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Ning Hao BEEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Xu Zheng fRELE 240 - - - 240
Ms. Li Ni Tkt 240 - - - 240
Sub-total NG 720 - - - 720
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BEREE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Xiaolong FINEEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Wang Hong T4 240 - - - 240
Sub-total N 720 - - - 720
Total @it 1,770 19,534 - 18 21,322
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The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #

(a) Directors emoluments (Continued)

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continueq)

Et

A 17 S 5 R Y

14 EECEFNRERE

(@) E=M<(E)

Ft+-A=+—HILFE

AEECNRENARAREZNFHMD

and payable by the Group are set out below (Continued): T :
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
Pension costs-
defined
Salaries and Performance contribution Total
Fees other benefits related honus plan emoluments
BER BIRERA -
we  HeREAMET B B L3NG E) HonEg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BT BETT
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Dong Ping ER 315 1,502 4,300 - 6,117
Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven (Note ii)  JB 4338 4 A (B %) - 18,274 4,300 18 22592
Sub-total gt 315 19,776 8,600 18 28,709
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Ning Hao BEkE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Xu Zheng RIS 240 - - - 240
Ms. Li Ni FEEL 240 - - - 240
Sub-total NGt 720 - - - 720
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHFTEE
directors
Mr. Wong Tak Chuen BEREE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Xiaolong =Y\ 240 - - - 240
Mr. Wang Hong Fi%sE 240 - - - 240
Sub-total gt 720 - - - 720
Total @it 1,755 19,776 8,600 18 30,149
BEEHEEEARAR - —E-"FFHK 193 IR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continueq)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

194

Directors emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The performance related bonus is determined by reference to
individual performance of the directors and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”).

(i) Mr. Xiang Shaokun, Steven is the chief executive officer of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above included these
services rendered by him as the chief executive officer.

For the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors waived any emoluments for the year
(2021: Same).

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2021: Same).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2021: Same).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services
(2021: Same).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year, there was no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors (2021: Same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|ALSTATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 ﬁifz::iJr A=+—H Jtir

14 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

14 EECEFNRERE

(f) Directors’ material interests in ) EENRS  ZHEIEHUNEK

transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 35, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year (2021: Same).

e

BREESSPIMBEE I RERHFR
Eﬂﬁﬁ‘ﬁ IE{EHEK’%@/A&$
ARMEENETBEERERS (EH
&&F’ﬁ&)ﬂ’]$%l%ﬂ‘%$ﬁﬁ§fiﬁ€cﬂi
RS ZHEAEHN(ZFE=_—F 8

[Al)

15 DIVIDENDS 15 RE
Neither dividends were paid, declared or proposed for the vear, RAFEA - WERN - SIRSEZIKMNER
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting IRE - MBEMERERE - TEZBRNE
period (2021: Same). ARE(ZE=—%F : #8R) °

16 LOSS PER SHARE 16 BREE
(a) Basic (@) &=

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

BRERNEBDRARBEES AEEE
BFEREBBRAN A fER
PRAS) BRIAFE RN E 31T 8 Bz ¥
BHETH -

during the year.
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F

Loss attributable to owners NATIGEER AFELERE (GBS T )

of the Company (in HK$'000) (221,812) (235,557)
Weighted average number of ordinary AN ESREARREEEE 2

shares for the purpose of basic and TR nAE B (FAR)

diluted loss per share (in thousands) 3,656,472 3,598,117
Basic loss per share (in HK$) BREREE(BET) (0.06) (0.07)

(b) Diluted (b) #%

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic 10ss per share
as there were no potential dilutive shares in issue during
the year (2021: Same).

BESREEARATF -

HRAFABERAEEHEREZE
BTk WERESERESRENR
EBERAR(ZT=—% : {8R) -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17 M%¥ - BERXE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE
HENELE HERZE AE “E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI ARTT ARTT ARTT

At 1 January 2021 W-Z-—-%—A—H
Cost KA 5,496 3,054 4,724 13,274
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (4,849) (2,190) (3,307) (10,346)
Net book amount FHFE 647 864 1,417 2928
Year ended 31 December 2021 BHE-S-_-f+-A=t-H

ItEE
Opening net book amount BRI E 647 864 1417 2928
Additions e - 147 = 147
Disposals HE - ) - (7)
Depreciation charge (Note 9) HEER () (554) (392) (801) (1,747)
Exchange differences BHER - 11 9 20
Closing net book amount BREmFE 93 623 625 1,301
At 31 December 2021 W_E-_—F+-A=1+-H
Cost KA 5,011 3,060 4,740 12,811
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (4,918) (2,437) (4,115) (11,470)
Net book amount FHTE 93 623 625 1,341
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E--_E+-A=t-H

LFE
Opening net book amount BOEEDFE 93 623 625 1,341
Additions B - 144 - 144
Depreciation charge (Note 9) FEER (M9 (93) (274) (287) (654)
Exchange differences EHER - (25) (20) (45)
Closing net book amount BARREFE - 468 318 786
At 31 December 2022 RZE-ZF+ZA=1+-H
Cost KA 4,807 2,723 4,692 12,222
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (4,807) (2,255) (4,374) (11,436)
Net book amount FEFE - 468 318 786
Depreciation charge are included in administrative expenses of WEE A ATTHA L85 654,0007T (=
approximately HK$654,000 (2021: HK$1,747,000). ——1F : 7¥1,747,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B A 5 R B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

18 LEASES 18 #HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a AN AEBIEAERBAZHEERR -
lessee.
(@ Amounts recognised in the consolidated (@) REEHMBRARBRAZEHE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the FREMBIKRAKEYEESHBN SRR
following amounts relating to leases: LU
As a lessee TERAAA
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BUET T BT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Properties LES 29,283 22,069
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current ED 12,722 9,055
Non-current FETRED 17,193 13,454
29,915 22,509
No additions to the right-off-use assets during the year FAMEEECRAREE (S = —
(2021 Nil). F:FT)o

BEGREEERARF - —F==-FF% 197 IR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

18

198

LEASES (Continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

NOTES TO TH CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 #HE(ZE

(b) RZEBEEREMEEIKLERE
e ok |

FEEmhHEMEENRER2EEE

comprehensive income shows the following amounts MEESFENT -
related to leases:
2022 2021
—EC-CF T
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
F5E BT T BT T
Depreciation charge of ERAEEEZINEER
right-of-use assets
Properties ES 9 13,171 15,066
Finance charges (included in VAT GIAMBER)
finance cost) 11 1,610 631
Expenses relating to short-term 2 i EARAF X
leases (included in GFATTHRX)
administrative expenses) 9 1,250 593

The total cash outflow for leases for the year was
approximately HK$15,815,000 (2021: HK$17,318,000).

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiE—ZE - —&F+_-A=+—H Jtir

18 LEASES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

The Group's leasing activities

The Group leases offices and equipment. Rental contracts
are typically made for fixed periods of 3 years except for
short-term leases.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Termination options

Termination options are included in a number of property
and equipment leases across the Group. These are used
to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing
the assets used in the Group's operations. The majority of
termination options held are exercisable by both parties.

18 #HE(ZE

(c)

(d)

BESREEARATF -

AEBNHEEEE

AEBHEERRERERE HEANB
FR] A3F R EE HIR (B A ERR AN o

MERRRENEEETER 8585
BRI GR MRS - REBAARER
FIAEEEMNEREDI  HEHZED
BRI - FFEERETNSRES
BEPELR ©

R
AEEZENERRBEERERBSRIE
1E - EZ%TE%U?HEAEE BEAKEERGE

BANEERSRRSEERER
1 - Ffr?%%&ﬂfééﬁa‘% DA HEESTTHE

—E-CEEH
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS mEEE
Software
development
License costs Total
HAE BMABERA Hrg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T BEETIT
At 1 January 2021 RZE—_—F—H—H
Cost FX AR 836 23,539 24,375
Accumulated amortisation BT (814) (16,477) (17,291)
Net book amount REFE 22 7,062 7,084
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE—_ZT—-—%F
+=—A=+—BIt&E
Opening net book amount BRI ER T A 22 7,062 7,084
Amortisation charge (Note 9) BB R (5E9) (22) (4,768) (4,790)
Exchange differences MEH ZRE - 122 122
Closing net book amount HCRERE B - 2,416 2,416
At 31 December 2021 =B —4F
+=—A=+—~”
Cost R AR 858 24,165 25,023
Accumulated amortisation RETEE (858) (21,749) (22,607)
Net book amount IREFE = 2,416 2,416
Year ended 31 December 2022 ®HBE=-Z=-=
+TZA=+—HLFE
Opening net book amount BRI ER T A - 2,416 2,416
Amortisation charge (Note 9) BB R (EE9) - (2,288) (2,288)
Exchange differences EHZER - (128) (128)
Closing net book amount BARBRTE R {E - - -
At 31 December 2022 N-—E—-—
+=—A=+—8H
Cost R AR 792 22,283 23,075
Accumulated amortisation AT (792) (22,283) (23,075)
Net book amount REFE - - -

Amortisation charge is included in cost of revenue of
approximately HK$2,288,000 (2021: HK$4,768,000) and no
amortisation charge is included in administrative expenses (2021:

HK$22,000).
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20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

e

@QX ¥

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIA STATEMENTS
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TE-F+-A=+—HIEFE

20 RERESIHNETMTE

AEERFETIEMTA

2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: REHEN T ENSREE ¢
Trade receivables FEU AR X 62,571 136,088
Other financial assets at amortised cost HMIZ#ER AT EN S RMEE 177,288 277,732
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeFEE 53,634 115,369
Financial assets at FVTPL: BEATEFABSCCRIEE
Film rights investments BRRERE 244,731 247,770
Hong Kong listed equity securities BB LMRAES 65 3,409
538,289 780,368
Financial liabilities tREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHENITENSRBE
Trade and other payables JE A~ BR 3R B2 E A0 B A< 5RTIR (128,946) (171,384)
Film investment funds from investors REREENEFIRERIEA (524,471) (197,332)
Amount due to a related party JEfS—RBAE AT RIE (182) (15,137)
Borrowings EEN (108,267) (100,281)
Lease liabilities HEAE (29,915) (22,509)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL: BEAFEFABR 2 CRIAE
Film rights investments B RERE (970) (1,483)
(792,751) (508,126)

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the
financial instruments is disclosed in Note 3.1. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the

carrying amounts of each class of financial assets mentioned

above.

AEER ST AAXTNZBREBRNHES
BE - REPRNEAREERBRMO & Lt
ERTMEERREE °
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21 PREPAYMENTS FOR FILM AND TV 21 EXRERBIRERANLR
PROGRAMMES RIGHTS
2022 2021
—E-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Non-current FERE
Prepayments for film and TV programmes £ & & EREIMRETE S (HEa)
rights (Note a) 449,968 445,893
Prepayment for film directors’ fee B8 Em B TAA (MU E35(b)
(Note 35(b)) - 42,863
449,968 488,756
Current E
Prepayment for film and TV programmes B RERBINREEN KD
rights (Note b) 363,722 394,414
Total 4858 813,690 883,170
Notes: Mz
(@  The prepayments for film and TV programmes rights represent the @@ HEZREREIREENFERNEEREKRT
prepayments made by the Group to respective parties in relation to ROEEREREIRERSHELZEMRK -
the film and TV programmes rights which is yet to be concluded. The ZERNABBERN A ERHEZEYRERE
prepayments will form part of the contribution by the Group for the xR E 25 H HE - HEGTEBES R
investments in the proposed film and TV programmes rights. The EERERE—SHETE -
related terms will be further agreed between the respective parties
upon the signing of the agreements.
()  The prepayment for film and TV programmes rights represents the b ZEZRERBNREENRIEANEE R —HE

N 202
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=—=— —

E-E -+ A=t+—HIEE

prepayment made by the Group in relation to the distribution right,
broadcasting right, new media broadcasting right and related income

rights of a film.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiE—ZE - —&F+_-A=+—H Jtir

22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS 22 EXRERBIRAE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Completed film and TV programmes rights B 52k 2 B 52 & B8 B (ft7£a)
(Note a) 37,725 43,145
Film and TV programmes rights under BUER 2 B REBHRBIRE
production (Notes a and e) (FfsEake) 600,234 259,415
Film rights investments (Notes b and c) B RERE (b Rke)
- Financial assets at FVTPL “BAFEFABRZEREE 244,731 247,770
- Financial liabilities at FVTPL “BAFEFABRZEREE (970) (1,483)
Licensed film and TV programmes rights R 2 B X BAR B M (i Ed)
(Note d) 56,102 90,559
937,822 639,406
Represented by: 255
Non-current assets EMBNEE 144,887 307,296
Current assets MEVEE 793,905 333,593
Current liabilities mENEE (970) (1,483)
937,822 639,406

BESREEARATF -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS 22 EXNERBIIREE)
(Continued)

Completed Film and TV

fimandTv  programmes Licensed

programmes rights under Film rights film and TV

rights production investments  programmes
(Note a) (Notesaand e) (Note b)  rights (Note d) Total

BRBZEER BFHZEY ERECZEYR

EREMRE EREGE  B¥MERE ERAINE
(GEE) (Fr&take) (Pt &Eh) (FraEd) ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Asat 1 January 2021 R=E--%—-f—H 92,510 167,479 164,331 140,948 565,268
Additions i 569 118,856 171,500 83,017 373,942
Changesin fair values Note ¢) ~ ATEZE) (fitc) - - 75,586 - 75,586
Transfer g% 25010 (25,010 = = =
Amortisation (Note 9) B (9 (76,269) - - (136,409) (212,678)
Derecognition or settlement RIEERGHEE - (5,390) (170,548) = (176,439)

Net impairment loss FIEEEFE (39 (fita)

(Note 9) (Note a) - (199) - - (1,998)
Exchange differences EHES 1,325 5978 5418 3,003 15,724
As at 31 December 2021 RIB--#1t-A=1+-8H 43,145 259,415 246,287 90,559 639,406
Additions i - 413,143 20,618 54,800 438,561
Changes in fair values (Note )~ AFEEH (Hiztc) - - (2,730) - (2,730)
Transfer Bl - (36,032) - - (36,032)
Amortisation (Note 9) () - - - (83,991) (83,991)
Derecognition or settlement RIERERAEE - (2,784) (814) - (3,598)
Net impairment oss REBRFE () (Mzka)

(Note 9) (Note a) (2,112) (3,971) - - (6,083)
Exchange differences EHES (3,308) (29,537) (19,600) (5,266) (57,711)
As at 31 December 2022 WZBZ=f+=A=+-H 37,725 600,234 243,761 56,102 937,822
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiE—ZE - —&F+_-A=+—H Jtir

22 FILM AND TV PROGRAMMES RIGHTS
(Continueq)

Notes:

@

During the year, the Group recognised a net provision for impairment
of completed film and TV programmes rights of approximately
HK$2,112,000 (2021: Nil) and film and TV programmes rights under
production of approximately HK$3,971,000 (2021: HK$1,998,000) in cost
of revenue.

The balance represents the Group's investments in film productions
which entitled the Group to predetermined percentage of income to
be generated from the films based on the Group’s investment portion
as specified in respective film rights investments agreements.

During the year, the Group recognised film investment loss, net,
amounted to approximately HK$2,730,000 (2021: film investment
income, net, amounted to approximately HK$75,586,000) based on
the Group's investment portion as specified in respective film rights
investments agreements.

The balance represents the acquired license rights from independent
third parties for broadcasting licensed films or TV programmes series
on the Group’s online video platform and sub-licensing the license
rights to other independent third parties, if applicable.

The Group has entered into certain joint operation arrangements
to produce and distribute three films (2021: four). The Group has
participating interests ranging from 50% to 75% (2021: 50% to 57%)
in these joint operations. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying
amounts of intangible assets recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position relating to the Group’s interests in these joint
operation arrangements are approximately HK$371,297,000 (2021:
HK$88,053,000).

22 EXRERBIREE

MaE

@@ AEERFAERETKZEY KEREINRE
AR F A 2,112,000 (T = —4 -
T) R EUER 2 BE K ER B R E #5558
#4975 %53,971,0007T (ZF = —4F : 71,998,000
TO)RT AW S Z PR o

b) ZEHBREAEEREZREZERE  RIEHBE
EYREREBEMEAZARBRELY
AEBERRRAEEZANLZEEZHK
BEEZIRA -

© REHESERELREREMERZAEER
B AEBREFARREZRERHE  F
BEHARE2,730,000 (Z 2 =—4F : ERRENR
A SR ERA A 75,586,0007T) °

d) ZEBREEBYE=7TREEMNFAIREE AR
EARENAEGEATAEREREZEY X
BHE - RAMEMBLE =T KEFAEE M
) e

€ AEBECIUGTAEEBLTHURERS
T=ZHEH(ZT=—F : W) $'§IEAEZ
EEEEBRPZ2EERN TS0%E75%(=
Z—4F : 50%E57%) c R-E - _F+— H_
+—B RAEBRZEEEEB Tz ERS
FHRAMBERARANERZEFEENER®R
B4 AE1371,297,000t(Z S = —F : B
88,053,0007T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 23 BURERRREMERFIE - 2T

Il 206

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS SSEEREN
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Trade receivables FEULAR X
- Share of box office income - MHEEWA 1,091 1,183
= Sub-licensing of film and - OREZRERBIRE
TV programmes rights 7,839 18,453
= Film rights investments - ERERE 63,653 122,472
- Others - Htb 116 970
72,699 143,078
Loss allowances (Note 3.1(b)) BB (M EE3.1(h) (10,128) (6,990)
62,571 136,088
Deposits ®e 5,060 6,426
Prepayments (Note a) FE (M 5Ta) 113,636 139,547
Other receivables (Notes b and c) oAt e Ui 2k 38 (Pt sEb K2 C) 190,905 303,541
Loss allowances (Note 3.1(b)) B8 (M 5E3.1(b) (8,349) (3,954)
301,252 445,560
363,823 581,648
Represented by: EvlV=
Trade receivables FEUR AR X 62,571 136,088
Deposits by 668 2,820
Prepayments LR 39,443 41,664
Other receivables H b IR 190,905 303,541
Loss allowances e (8,214) (3,879)
Current portion BVEAER 5 285,373 480,234
Deposits i 4,392 3,606
Prepayments SEENE 74,193 97,883
Loss allowances [EgisEa ] (135) (75)
Non-current portion JERNERER & 78,450 101,414
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

@

The prepayments mainly represent the prepayments made by the
Group in relation to a) pre-production development of identifiable
film and TV programme projects; b) acquisition of licensed film rights
from independent third parties for broadcasting on the Group's online
video platform; and c) co-membership arrangement with other online
platforms operated by different business partners.

As at 31 December 2022, other receivables include short-term loan
receivables net of loss allowances of approximately HK$28,131,000
(2021: HK$202,465,000), which represented by loan receivables from
independent third parties of approximately HK$9,326,000 (2021:
HK$67,580,000) carried interest at 10% per annum, approximately
HK$18,805,000 (2021: HK$29,891,000) carried interest at 6% per
annum and no interest-free loan receivables (2021: approximately
HK$104,994,000).

As at 31 December 2022, other receivables of HK$71,000,000 (2021:
HK$48,520,000) are used to secure borrowings of HK$74,434,000 (2021:
HK$48,918,000) (Note 28).

23 BUWRRREMBEBRRE - £E

REMNRGE

MaE

@)

BESREEARATF -

ZEENRETEEASEBRU T EROEN
o a) R AAIE R R EREIA B HO AT R ER
% h)REE =T B EEREZ ERREAR
AEENERGIATBER - ROETREBLE
EBHEENEMR LT ENBAE R LY -

R-_TBE-_—H#+-_A=+—8 HEkX
BRFEHERE R (R BIERE) OB
28,131,0007t (ZZF = — 4 : 5%202,465,000
7T) ¢ E OB S = 7 B KB 9,326,000
TT(ZT = —4 : B#67,580,0007T) 1% F
K10%:T 2~ 475%18,805,000c(—F = —
& B #29,891,00070) IR FFR6%aT B R
REEBKEZRARB(ZTE-_—F : H)BHK
104,994,0007T) °

RZZE-—F+-A=+—8  HtbEKFHE
5 #71,000,0007T (Z B = —4 : #148,520,000
JT) 5 R R 3R {8 38 874,434,000t (ZE = —
£ #148,918,0007T) (i 5E28) -

B TR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 23

BURARAEMEERRE - &2

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments are

&?EN'TA( )

JE U BR AR e Bt R WSRO~ e RFB RS

denominated in the following currencies: ITNBEEEE -

2022 2021
—E-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
RMB AR 213,267 261,845
HK$S T 131,341 291,305
usD e 19,215 28,498
363,823 581,648

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net R+ZA=+—8 ' BRERKGORkEE#&

of loss allowances, based on invoice date or date of settlement

BREZAHMABERRAYZREDOTN

statement are as follows: ™

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT IT
0— 30 days 0£30H 625 105,317
31-90 days 31290H - 834
91-180 days 912 180H 778 -
181 — 365 days 181£365H - 2,080
Over 365 days 3658 A 61,168 27,857
62,571 136,088

The credit period is generally within 30 days from invoice date R EFTEIR  EEMRATE ARERH

FAEFERREEAERZ B30 NA °

or the date when the settlement statement is duly confirmed as
stipulated in the respective agreements.

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, the
carrying amounts are approximated their fair values.

RRE RN SRM A EE R - HRE
BEENFERE -
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24 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group classifies equity investments that are held for trading
as financial assets at FVTPL.

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL include the

f 3 YO 285 e B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

BAFEFABRGEZEREE

AEEBFERH cREREDER/ERF
Bt ANBRZEREE -

BHERAFEFABRSFTENESREED

following: T
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Hong Kong listed equity securities BB LTIRAES 65 3,409

See Note 2.11 for the remaining relevant accounting policies.
Amounts recognised in profit or l0ss

During the year, the following (loss)/gain were recognised in
profit or l0ss:

TS SEE - F2HME2.11 -
RBas B8 L TR

FR - AT (ER),WaEe NEEER

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BUET T BT
Net fair value (loss)/gain on equity BAFEFGTABR IR
investments at FVTPL recognised WEREM S - FERER
in other gains, net (Note 8) AFEEE), M FEE (M ES) (1,169) 3,008

Risk exposure and fair value measurements

Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk is provided
in Note 3.1. For information about the methods and assumptions
used in determining fair value see Note 3.3.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

25 BERAEEE

2022 2021
—EC-F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEET T
Cash at banks RTINS 53,565 115,264
Cash on hand FEMNRE 69 105
53,634 115,369

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following RERREFETIATIEEE -

currencies:

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEET T
HK$ e 5,356 34,670
RMB AR B 41,835 74,240
Others Eih 6,443 6,459
53,634 115,369

Bank balances and cash comprised of cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits that are interest-bearing ranging
from 0.01% to 0.35% (2021: Same) per annum and have original
maturity of three months or less.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has cash and bank
balances amounting to approximately HK$48,253,000 (2021:
HK$80,656,000) which are held in the PRC. These cash and
bank balances are subject to the rule and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2022
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26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE — T - —F+_A=+—HILFE

26 FEIRRFRRE AN

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Trade payables FEATBRIK 117,847 165,318
Other payables Hofh FE A FRIE 24,350 12,819
Accruals EstER 2,834 10,672
145,031 188,809

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are

approximated their fair values.

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the trade payables based
on invoice date or date of settlement statement are as follows:

FEAS AR M EL A B (S SRR BRE(E B E A F

(ERIEES

RTZA=1—8 BARFEREZAH

SEERR BRI BRI

2022 2021

—E-CHF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT T T

0—30 days 0Z=30H 3,073 243
31—-90 days 31=90H - 1,132
181 — 365 days 181£365H 170 102,482
Over 365 days 365H A F 114,604 61,461
117,847 165,318

Trade and other payables are denominated in the following

& 11 BR SR B L B S SRIR TS DA T 1) B 5t

currencies: 17 :
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
RMB AR 134,092 169,566
HKS S 10,939 19,243
145,031 188,809
BEEEEERRLAR - —BEZ2FFER 211



g 0 B 5 e M

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

27

28

I 212

FILM INVESTMENT FUNDS FROM 27 REREENEFZRENE
INVESTORS
The amounts represent investments made by certain investors in ZERIBRE TREEREAEEMBELR
respect of film rights held by the Group. In accordance with the BELRIRE - RIBBRAREMZEOBER
terms of the respective investment agreements, the investors KREEBREBRELAEENLADIHERZR
are entitled to recoup their investment amounts as appropriate Prig EMREATEAMWANKBERE 8
by the predetermined percentage of income to be generated (WERA) - ZE5 oA EYIRB KA E -
from the theatrical release of the films. The financial liabilities
were measured at amortised cost.
No gain or loss on film investment funds from investors was RBE_Z__F+_A=+—RHILLFE "
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022. During the AEEGERAKREREENETRENA
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised a gain on s EE N E TS —F+ A=+
film investment funds from investors amounted to approximately —HIEFE  AEEREERE HERER
HK$273,000 upon the theatrical release of the respective REREENEXRERBZREHNAEL
film because the net proceeds entitled by the investors in 273,0007T © REZEEERBERABIRE HE
accordance with the respective investment agreement was less ERERMMASRIBFRENREEMEE
than the film investment funds contributed by the investors. VERARE IR o
BORROWINGS 28 &R
2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Unsecured borrowings IR IEK 33,833 51,363
Secured borrowings (Note) BEAEREE) 74,434 48,918
108,267 100,281
Note: As at 31 December 2022, the borrowings are secured by other M EE

receivables of HK$71,000,000 (2021: HK$48,520,000) (Note 23).

As at 31 December 2022, except for a borrowing amounted
to HK$33,833,000 is interest-bearing at 4.35% per annum and
repayable within one year, the borrowings are interest-free
and repayable within one year (2021: all the borrowings were
interest-free and repayable within one year).

Due to the short-term nature of the borrowings, the carrying
amounts are approximated their fair values.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # =

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The analysis of deferred income tax is as follows:

29 EFEFTER

—F — —

=

f 3 YO 285 e B

BEFEHROMAT

Ft+-A=+—HILFE

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

Movements on the deferred income tax account are as follow:

At 1 January 2021

Charged to consolidated
statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income

Exchange differences

At 31 December 2021

At 1 January 2022

Credited to consolidated
statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income

Exchange differences

At 31 December 2022

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
BERIEEE 6,704 7,270
EETIBEE (18,816) (21,947)
(12,112) (14,677)
BEEFSHEE 2 E8T ¢
Deferred tax Deferred tax
liabilities assets Net total
Changes in
fair value of
film rights
investments Tax loss
EYREREZ
DR EEE BIEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
RZE-_—F—H—H (8,985) 8,985 =
Mk BEGREEE R
HEip 2w zEE
(12,550) (1,927) (14,477)
P 5 = =8 412) 212 (200)
RZE——F
+=—A=+—8H (21,947) 7,270 (14,677)
R-ZE-_—_%—H—H (21,947) 7.270 (14,677)
AL A EE REMD
2HEKER
298 1,162 1,460
PE 5 =58 1,700 (595) 1,105
R-ZIBE-Z—F
+=ZBA=+—H (19,949) 7,837 (12,112)
BEEEEERRLAR - —BEZ2FFER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 29 EEFFBH(E)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unrecognised
tax losses of HK$936,750,000 (2021: HK$753,297,000) available
for offset against future profits of which the amount of
approximately HK$503,580,000 (2021: HK$402,281,000) may be
carried forward indefinitely and the amount of HK$433,170,000
(2021: HK$351,016,000) will be expired in five years from the year
of assessment.

Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$3,759,000
(2021: HK$9,507,000) have not been provided for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of subsidiaries of approximately HK$37,589,000 (2021:

REREHIR - AN B A K 88 88 2 0s 7 2 ok
MR I8 E 18 BB 936,750,0007T (- & — —
& : B¥753,297,0007T) @ HF A4 B
503,580,0007T (= F = —4F : /& 1402,281,000
n)TﬂﬂliEH;ﬁ L8 N A EE 433,170,000
—E - : B#351,016,0007T) 1 & 75
FERTAERER °

BT PSR B E4)E83,759,000(Z T ——
F : B #9,507,0007T) I & BhFH B A R A R B
2 N 4975 #637,589,000 T (Z 2= —F : B
#95,068,0007T) 1A /R B FE A 2 B0 R AT 4= B

e RELENDTARBRE - EHAR
RTHER  BRAAEEREHE %Hﬁé‘@%%%
R E AR EENA R ARKRE A8

HK$95,068,000) in the PRC. The unremitted earnings are used
for reinvestment. The income tax liability is not recognised,
because the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of

the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary B o
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
30 SHARE CAPITAL 30 B
Number
of shares Share capital
B8 E [}
HK$'000
T T
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREEB0.01T2EER
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZZE=Z—F—H—8 "
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —ZE-—4%+-A=+—H"
T F-HA—BK
-+ -A=+—H 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRARE :
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-—F—HF—H 3,472,732,362 34,727
Issue of ordinary shares (Note a) Br7EmAR (i ska) 218,130,000 2,181
Cancellation of ordinary shares (Note b) P8R T m AR (T 5ED) (34,390,000) (343)
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 R=-ZE-_—f+-_HF=+—H -
and 31 December 2022 —EB--F-F—-HRK
—E-__—_F+—-H=+—H 3,656,472,362 36,565

B 214  HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2022



30 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note a:

Note b:

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company entered
into the placing agreement with a placing agent. Upon completion
of the placing agreement on 5 May 2021, an aggregate of
218,130,000 ordinary shares were placed to not fewer than six
placees, at the placing price of HK$2.15 per placing share. The
gross proceeds and net proceeds raised from the placement were
approximately HK$468,980,000 and HK$467,279,000 respectively.

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company repurchased
33,150,000 ordinary shares from the market from 1 June 2021 to 29
July 2021. The shares were acquired at an average price of HK$1.80
per share, with prices ranging from HK$1.50 to HK$1.95. The total
amount paid to acquire the shares including transaction costs was
approximately HK$59,959,000. During the year ended 31 December
2021, 33,150,000 ordinary shares repurchased and 1,240,000
treasury shares at the beginning of reporting period, have been
cancelled and approximately HK$61,572,000 has been deducted
from share capital and share premium.
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30 BA&(E)

Mf5Ea -

FiED

BESREEARATF -

RBE-ZT-_—F+=-A=+—HItF
B ARRIEEEREBITIEESHE - B
—E-—FRARAEKEEHREE A
218,130,000/ E AR AL E T T DR /N B &
A REEBASREEERMNAE2.157T °
BLESEMBRBRERFED R ANBE
468,980,0007T K& 7 ¥ 467,279,0007T °

AREET—H2EMNBRATR=-T=—%F
NA—BE_Z-_—FtA-t+hBHH
fE T35 B8 [233,150,0000% & BA% ° ;2 EM
DEFHWREE ATRB1.807T - BIEN
TAE1S50TEBE1.957T - WEKRGKHZE
[T4a%E (BIER S A) #1775 %59,959,000
e RBE-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HLtHF
& - B85 [ 2 33,150,0000% & 38 A% K A 3R &
BRI FTEE B 2 1,240,0000 E 7 A D B F i
$H5 - #978%561,572,0007T B 7 B A B B 17 4
BRI -

B TR
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31 RESERVES 31 f##E
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARREEAEL
Share-based Accumulated
Share payment Translation losses
premium reserve reserve (Note) Total
URpRER RIAEER
R RE FRzfRE ELfE (M=) k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2021 R-E-—-F—f—H 3,102,745 99,003 55,435 (1,843,864) 1,413,319
Loss for the year KEEER - - - (235,557) (235,557)
Other comprehensive income Hth2Ehas - - 34,461 - 34,461
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  AEE 2R/ (F5iE)
for the year k] - - 34,467 (235,557) (201,096)
Transactions with owners: BEBANRS :
Issue of ordinary shares, net of FILERRIIRR S
transaction costs PA) 465,098 - - - 465,098
Share option scheme: BiRiErE
- value of services provided -ERERE 2 EE - 2,612 - - 2612
Shares repurchased BERH (61,229) - - - (61,229)
403,869 2,612 - - 406,481
At 31 December 2021 i
+-R=+-H 3,506,614 101,615 89,89 (2,079.421) 1,618,704
At 1 January 2022 RZZB--f-f-H 3,506,614 101,615 89,896 (2,079,421) 1,618,704
Loss for the year ~EEBR - - - (221,812) (221,812)
Other comprehensive loss Hth2EER - - (105,021) - (105,021)
Total comprehensive loss rEEXHERAHR
for the year - - (105,021) (221,812) (326,833)
At 31 December 2022 R=B=Zf
+ZRA=+-H 3,506,614 101,615 (15,125) (2,301,233) 1,291,871
Note: The capital reserve arising from the Group reorganisation represents W SEEEEEZBEARBENEAAGARKE

216

the difference between the nominal value of the share capital issued
by the Company in exchange for the aggregate nominal values of
the share capital of the subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$2,099,000 (2021: Same) is included in the accumulated losses.

The contributed surplus represents the aggregate amounts of capital
reduction and share premium cancellation attributable to the capital
restructuring and the capital reorganisation of the Company during
prior years amounted to approximately HK$149,220,000 (2021: Same)
is included in accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 32 REREXRME
2022 2021
—=E-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Loss before tax KRBt Al B 18 (223,272) (220,020)
Adjustments for: BMTYEIRFE -
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BEREEZTE
equipment 654 1,747
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEEZTE 13,171 15,066
Amortisation of film and TV B MBI BIMRE 2 #EiE
programmes rights 83,991 212,678
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE B 2,288 4,790
Net impairment losses on film and TV B NEREIREZ
programmes rights BIERBEFE 6,083 1,998
Net impairment losses on financial CRMEENBHNEEZ
assets and contract assets BB EFE 8,491 998
Pre-production development costs A B R VE R B R AR 13,889
Gain on dissolution of subsidiaries REMB AR 2 K (1,446) =
Non-cash employee benefit expenses IR EEBMAZ
- share-based payments - ARG BEME 2 R - 2,612
Finance costs/(income), net MISEBRA,(KA) - F4E 2,061 (2,388)
Net fair value gain on financial assets BEATEFABRIERERE
at FVTPL A ERERFRE 1,169 (3,008)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEYE - BEREEEE
and equipment - 4
Gain on film investment funds from REREENEFIREFIE
investors pdl - (273)
Operating cash flows before working EEESEPHI LERETE
capital changes (92,921) 14,204
Changes in working capital: EBESEY :
Trade and other receivables, deposits JFEE U5 BR 0 % EL At JE LR TR
and prepayments e RIEMR 164,474 (275,491)
Contract assets BHEE 119 27,609
Film and TV programmes rights B RERBINRE (472,150) (222,825)
Prepayments of film and TV B NERBIRETER K
programmes rights 38,968 (236,019)
Trade and other payables JE AT AR 3R B L M FE 5 3R (37,366) 107,614
Film investment funds from investors REKREENELIRERIE 351,493 86,000
Contract liabilities aHaE 1,026 30,627
Cash used in operations REXBEREAZRS (46,357) (468,281)

BEEEEERRLAR - —BEZ2FFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 32 HeRERMEFHE)
(Continued)
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from RiFEReNERA  HEWE  BERK
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: HRTERIERLE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Cost disposed HE R AR 328 10
Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (328) ©)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE - KEREZEEE
and equipment - @)
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(Continued)

32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

f 3 YO 285 e B
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32 BE&ERERMZHE)

(@) REMEES2REYHK

Interest
payable
included in
other Amount
payables  Borrowings duetoa
HPN:L (Note 28) related party Lease
58 EES Eff-% liabilities Total
ZERFIS (Hrit28) BEALFE HERE BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BETT BETT
At 1 January 2021 RZZ-—F-A—H 1879 50,036 - 21277 79,192
Financing cash flows, net BERERE  FE (13,410 48,251 15,137 (16,725) 33253
Lease modification REET - - - 17,166 17,166
Accrued interest expenses FEAMERR 5432 - - 631 6,063
Exchange differences B ER 9 1994 - 160 2,253
At 31 December 2021 RZBZ—§
+-A=t-H - 100,281 15,137 22,509 137,927
At 1 January 2022 RZBZZ¥-A-H - 100,281 15,137 22,509 137,927
Financing cash flows, net BERSRE  FH - 16,204 (14,955) (14,565) (13,316)
Lease modification RERBE] - - - 20,933 20,933
Accrued interest expenses A MERR 4,295 - - 1,610 5,905
Exchange differences EXES (110) (8,218) - (572) (8,900)
At 31 December 2022 R=B==f
+ZA=1-H 4,185 108,267 182 29,915 142,549

The table above details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

BESREEARATF -

ERFINAKERARERBELZAE
2% BRASRIRSED - BEE
BELZABRERASREIRKASR
EYRAKREGERERERTIEAS
MELRDEL2HEREZAE -

B TR
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32 NOTE TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT 32 BE&ERERKFZHE)
(Continueq)
(b) Material non-cash transactions (b) EXRFEBRERS

During the year, the Group has transferred prepayments
for licensed film rights from independent third parties
for broadcasting on the Group’s online video platform
amounted to approximately HK$10,616,000 (2021:
HK$50,265,000) and transferred HK$36,032,000 to
prepayments for film and TV programmes rights (2021: Nil).

FA - AEEERBUE=TEREZ
BRMEN AN EE AR AT BN
A A B #510,616,000T (ZE =
—4F : B¥50,265,0007T) © RAEF K
BB RAE R R TR FB #5.36,032,000
TL(ZEZ—F:F) -

Non-cash investing activities HBEERETE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETIT
Lease modification HEERT (20,933) (17,166)
33 COMMITMENTS 33 A&iE
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Commitments in respect of the acquisition ~ FLEE M E&UEEE K TR EIRE
and production of film and TV programmes  FT{EZ &$E (B 2T A M AR ER A
rights contracted for but not provided in MR E)
the consolidated financial statements
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share option scheme

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the annual general meeting
held on 17 June 2014, the Company'’s shareholders approved
the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Scheme”). The
Scheme became valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 17 June 2014. The Company operates the
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who have made or may make contribution
to the Group. The eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company'’s or its subsidiaries’ directors, employees, and any
business consultants, agents, financial or legal advisers and any
other persons whom the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) may determine, at its sole discretion, will contribute or
have contributed to the Group.

The share options may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time within the period commencing
from the date of grant of the share options and expiring on the
date determined by the Company’s directors, but in any event
such exercise period shall not be more than 10 years from the
date of grant of the share options. The amount payable on the
acceptance of a share option is HK$1 (or such other nominal
sum in any currency as the board of directors of the Company
may determine).

The exercise price of the share options shall be determined by
the board of directors of the Company, but shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange'’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Ccompany's share.

The maximum number of shares in the Company in respect of
which the share options may be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of approval of the Scheme by the Company’s
shareholders (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"), or, if such 10%
limit is refreshed, as at the date of approval of the renewal of
the Scheme Mandate Limit by the Company’s shareholders.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of the
Company'’s shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 30% of the Company's shares in issue
from time to time.

34 LR ARER 2K

BReEsTE

RER-_ZF-—MNFENATELRAETZREE
FRE LBBIRBR  NARRRILER
Mm— AR 8 ([%ET8) - ZtEa =%
—HFERATERRER  BRBMRTE -
RRRRILZETE) - AR B 2B 2 &k 7]
EEEHAKRBELERMCAERZEE - %
AEIZEERSEEGRBRARARENBER
AZEE  RE  UNEMEKER  KE
A MBIERERRARREZS((EF
SDA2ENBERRYANEERELER K
EEHERZEREMBAL -

BRETERLEREZAEEARAES
B 2B I HIM AR RIZEZ A 8RR T
1T - HEZITEHEETEBER T TEE
BEREEBABREZHRES +F - BABR
BENESEASBEIT(XARREETS AL
BE CAEMESTEIHMREAESH) -

BEREZTEERARAESSETE KT
BERUTZERE  )ARRBRMHREHH
H(WARE R B)ER S PT B SR a2 Wi
B (NARRRMHNEZFEL B M AEE
XEEBXFAARKRME FHWHE &
(AR BIRAD 2 EME ©

iR 8RR A RE R K AR 31 81
B it 2 RS RV R A RIR (D B % B
TREBBA R AR B A AL R
BB TR 10% (5t 8B IRAE) - shfii
10% MR E D EH - AINBHEBA A ARt
BB SRR Y A AR RS HTRE
#10% ° BEH LBAE - RS ERAA
R 2 o BB AR A 8IS b R AT 2 2
A R R T (28 A T BT 2 AR ARY
ERT CET ERNGEETEE SR OY
30% °
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares of the Company already issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all the share options granted to
each participant in any 12-month period up to and including
the date such new grant is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
total number of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date
of such grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the Company's
shareholders in general meeting.

Each grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company or any of
their respective associates in excess of 0.1% of the Company's
shares in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant must be approved in advance by the
Company's shareholders.

34 URDAERZNRGE)
BRESEIGE

REERBEARFRL BB EEMI12(8A
HE MEeR2RBERENMERRERET
ERMABTRETEITZIARBTBRNDERT
SHANZELEBHARFAEEITRO B
1% ° (EE —Z RO BB Z1%REE 2 B
& AEARBBRRRBRAS L4 -

HWREBZERBEEEEGL A B EM120EA
HiE  MARE - BEBRERE BB
HITEFA RSB ZEMBEALREZ
BREBEARFDEHTRMNMN01%NEE
E#FHEEB15,000,0007T * BEREBFSEAA
AR ESTHLE

Average
exercise price
per share Number of
option share options
BOBREZ
FiIGITEE BREZE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, R—F=-—_—F—H—Q8" HK$2.08 130,700,000
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 - —4%+_-_A=+—8" 7B ¥E2.087T
—EooF-HA—AK
B _F+-HA=+—H
Vested and exercisable at 31 December R=-ZE-—-%+-A=+—-HAK HK$2.08 130,700,000
2021 and 31 December 2022 —E--—f#+=-HA=+—H B¥2.087T

EEBRATE

No options was exercised or lapsed during the periods covered
by the above tables.
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the

34 IR ARERZNRGEE)

BRESEIGE

EIJtiF

FREARITENBRE 2B E RITEELD

following expiry date and exercise prices: I
Share options Share options
31 December 31 December
Grant Date Expiry date Exercise price 2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
+=ZA=+—H8 +ZH=+—H
REBH 2 A 17 2B 2 R
27 April 2018 17 June 2024 HK$2.08 130,700,000 130,700,000
ZE-NFWEA=++tH “EMERATHER B%208T
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at the end of period 1.47 years 2.47 years
HAR R ARAT R R AR M 2 I P9 8RS & K B 1475 2.47F
Fair value of options granted ERUBRENLAFE

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using
an adjusted form of the Black Scholes Model with Binomial Tree
Method which includes a Binomial Tree model that takes into
account the stock price, the exercise price, the time to maturity,
the risk-free rate, the dividend yield and volatilities of comparable
companies, the sub-optimal factor, and the forfeiture rate.

REBHOATESERALHAENR AR -
FRETHEEEEL _EHAREEELX(RE
_IET%*%EF*E%')ﬁﬁ#;E jin‘l’&ﬂX?R

B 1TE(E - 2HERE - EER

BHB AR W R PR E

Fog = -
BEGREBARAR - —FE-_FFH

e AR A
RERF
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Fair value of options granted (Continued)

The model inputs for options granted in 2018 included:

@)

(k)

options are granted for consideration of HK$1 and vested
period of three years from the employment date of the
respective employees. Vested options are exercisable
before expiry date

exercise price: HK$2.08

grant date: 27 April 2018

expiry date: 17 June 2024

time to maturity: 6.15 years

share price at grant date: HK$2.08

risk-free interest rate: 1.91%

expected dividend yield: 0%

expected price volatility of the company’s shares: 48.38%

forfeiture rate: 0 to 16.35%

fair value per share option: HK$0.72

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility
(based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any
expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available
information.

During the year, no share-based compensation to employees
was made (2021: approximately HK$2,612,000) (Note 10).

Il 224
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35 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The ultimate controlling parties of the Group are Mr. Dong, Mr.
Ning and Mr. Xu and the ultimate holding companies of the
Group are Newwood Investments Limited, Pacific Wits Limited
and Tairong Holdings Limited. Management of the Group are
of the view that the following individuals and companies were
related parties that had transactions or balances with the Group
as at and during the year:

Name of related parties
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35 BEALHKE

REBZHREERAAELE BEERR
Sk AEE 2 &EER AR ANewwood
Investments Limited + 22784 R A 7] & ZR g2
RERAF - AEEEEERATIEAR
RABEERRATENLARAEBRERBRR S
REHZBEAL

Relationship with the Group

BEALHSE BB AL EE R

Mr. Dong Executive Director

gh4 HITES

Mr. Ning Non-Executive Director

ERE ERITES

Mr. Xu Non-Executive Director

TREAE EMITES

Dirty Monkey (Shanghai) Culture Communication Company Limited* Controlled by Mr. Ning
(“Shanghai Dirty Monkey”) H BE 45 AR 1 |

BT (B8 XbERAR AR Lk

Hainan Ruri Fangsheng Film and Television Culture
Communication Company Limited* (“Hainan Ruri Fangsheng")

BEMB AR EEER QB (VEEINE A D)

Khorgas Dirty Monkey Media Culture Company Limited*

(“Khorgas Dirty Monkey")
ERRINBHRFEHELERBER AR (EBRMEERT D)
Tibet Jindouyun Film Company Limited* (“Tibet Jindouyun®)
ARSI EXEBR AR (AR IE]D

*  For identification purposes only

Under significant influence of Mr. Ning
in relation to the production of a film

M—HEX 2 RUEXRZE R E
BEAXE

Controlled by Mr. Ning

EEResete st

Controlled by Mr. Ning
2 S A il
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35 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions

226

On 20 December 2021, (i) the Group has entered into the
film production agreement with Hainan Ruri Fangsheng,
pursuant to which Hainan Ruri Fangsheng has conditionally
agreed to provide the film production services to the
Group in relation to the film Something About Us (AL ¥ %t
) (formerly known as Red Carpet (2K 83 £)) (the “Film”);
and (i) the Company entered into the director agreement
with Mr. Ning Hao, pursuant to which Mr. Ning Hao has
conditionally agreed to act as the director of the Film.
The transactions contemplated under the film production
agreement and the director agreement were approved
by the independent shareholders of the Company at
the special general meeting of the Company held on 21
February 2022.

The total production costs of the Film are RMB260,789,360
(equivalent to approximately HK$318,163,000). Mr. Ning
is entitled to a director fee of HK$30,000,000, which is
included in the production costs.

As at 31 December 2022, the total production costs paid
by the Group are approximately HK$177,876,000.
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35 BEATHRE(E

(a)

BEEATZRS

RZZEZ—F+=ZA=+A8 " (\Fr&5E
EER N A T E%E@Tﬁ%% B
BB B A AEGREREREZ L
s (FIFECERBEN(ZEF]MA
REBREELRERT 0 RIAR
/\T/ufjﬁiia FERER RS BuE

EEEBRHEREREEZER CEE -
Q%E@Tﬁ%%&%ﬁ%%T;?%%%IETTEE%E
fTZx%EIEEEZIK’AET%IHﬁ%ﬁMN

RER T F-_A=-+—B87TZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIATATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # =

35 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) Related party balances

f 3 YO 285 e B

—E-_F+ZA=1+—BItFE

35 BEALTHRE(E
(b) EREAEALT &SR

2022 2021
—E=-= =T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Amount due to FEAT
- Mr. Dong (Note i) - St =) 182 15,137
Trade receivable FEURBR SR
—Khorgas Dirty Monkey (Note ii) - ERRAEET (D 26,122 28,326
- Shanghai Dirty Monkey (Note iii) - g7 (B D 1,096 =
27,218 28,326
Prepayment for film and TV B RERBINRETEN K
programmes rights
= Mr. Xu (Note iv) — IR (P EEIV) - 12,863
—Mr. Ning (Note v) — A (M EEv) - 30,000
- 42,863

Notei:  The balances are denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest- Mizhi:  REEHRBEHE  BER . 28
free and repayable within one year. RBER—FAERE -

Noteii:  The balance represents the Group's right to receive income MizEii 0 ZARIEAEEWN —EEZRER
arisen from a film rights investment where the film has been BREEMBAES  ZEFE L
released. Khorgas Dirty Monkey took the responsibility to Mo ZERRAZRFAEN LA
distribute the aforementioned income to the investors of DIKTHZEZRES  ERBELRE
the film including one of our subsidiaries. There were no EET—FMEAE - NEBMBEER
business transactions occurred between the Group and RTERTRFERBREETERNERS
Khorgas Dirty Monkey during the year. The balance was RG - ZEHRAARBE REE
denominated in RMB, trade in nature, unsecured, interest- ME - EER RERAEREET
free and receivable subject to certain conditions. P EE R T E o

Note i On 24 December 2018, the Group has entered into a film Mizxii:. RZFE-—NF+ZA=+WMA - x&
investment agreement with Tibet Jindouyun. The Group EEAREH I BT CERRERE -
invested RMB12,000,000 for 10% of the income rights of REEBRE AR 12,000,0007T
the film and the film was released in 2021. The balance &R 10%80 K mE - ZEhER
represents the Group’s right to receive income arisen from ZEZF M ZABRIEASER
the film rights investment from Shanghai Dirty Monkey, a BEGIENRRWNB AR - &=
fellow subsidiary of Tibet Jindouyun. T R R B R IR R B P EE IR

HIRER
BEGREEABRAR - —EFF# 227



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

35 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 35 BEALTHRESE

(b) Related party balances (Continued) (b) EEEE AT 28R (E

Note iv:  The balance represented the payment prepaid to Mr. Xu in
relation to the development of the proposed film. During
2022, the balance was repaid to the Group.

Notev:  The balance represented the payment prepaid to Mr.
Ning in relation to the development of the proposed film.
During 2022, the balance was transferred to a film and TV
programmes right under production.

(c) Key management personnel (c)
compensation

The remuneration of directors who were considered as key

B eV

B Rty -

FEE

RERIENARERERNRALETE
NHFRE RZTE_—F - ZEHBE
BETALH -

ZERERRERREY MERER

NHFRE - RZZE_—F - ZEHBE
EARER 2 BEY R BEREIRE -

L PN=Fd0)

FAREASAEETZEEABCESR

management personnel of the Group during the year is as MEmT -
follows:
2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEETIT
Short-term benefits SRR R 21,304 30,131
Pension costs — defined contribution  RKE AN — B E T2
plans 18 18
21,322 30,149

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

EEREBRTRABZME T RFHE
BEeRTEARRENEBEMERE -

36 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 36 HMEHERER
There was no material event after reporting period up to the HEAFHRBAHY  MESAZHREHRES
date of this annual report. g o
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37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 # =

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIASTATEMENTS

Lr o A 5 e R B RE
—E-—F+ - A=+—HIFE

37 ARQTZMBIRRER

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Non-current assets IREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RSB RAR Z#Em 192,981 208,854
Prepayment for film and TV T M ERBMREEN K
programmes right - 30,000
Film and TV programmes rights B R ERE RE 68,943 57,987
261,924 296,841
Current assets REEE
Prepayment for film and TV B N ERBIMREEN K
programmes right 101,500 110,065
Film and TV programmes rights B R ERBIMGE 30,000 =
Trade and other receivables, deposits JE UG B 5k B EL A R LRRR TR
and prepayments e RBRAK 79.614 158,958
Amounts due from subsidiaries S NGIE S 324,136 398,622
Cash and cash equivalents RekHeEE 5,201 29,746
540,451 697,391
Total assets EEHAE 802,375 994,232
BEGEEEERAR - —S==FF% 229 N



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HE T - —F+_A=+—HILtFE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

37 ARRZHMBRREKGE)

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Equity R

Share capital &N 36,565 36,565
Reserves (=] 753,829 876,418
Total equity R 790,394 912,983

current liabilities REBEE
Other payables E A R FRIE 8,620 13,746
Film investment funds from investors REREENBARERIE 3,179 3,448
Amount due to a related party e — R E A L FIR 182 15,137
Borrowing B - 48,918
Total liabilities BE8E 11,981 81,249
Total equity and liabilities EEzRkEEBEE 802,375 994,232

The statement of financial position of the Company was ARBZHERAEREN T -_=F=F=+HE
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and was EE@H#tE  WH THEBERKEZTSEE -
signed on its behalf:

Dong Ping Xiang Shaokun, Steven
Director Director
EF =3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIASTATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HiE—ZE - —&F+_-A=+—H Jtir

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

37 ARRZHMBRREKGE)

Notes: FiE
(@)  Reserves @ &
Share-based Accumulated
Share  compensation Translation losses
premium reserve reserve (Note b) Total
DRHAER ZitER
RAPEE FMEA ERfE (H=Eh) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BETT BETT AR
At 1 January 2021 R=F=—%-A-A 3,102,745 99,003 58,029 (2,499,513) 760,264
Issue of ordinary shares, net of transaction costs BTLBRIBRZME) 465,098 - - - 465,098
Share option scheme: FRETE -
-value of services provided -ERERECEE - 2612 - - 2612
Shares repurchased BEkRG 61,229) - - - (61,229)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year REE2ENE/ (BB)fE - - 8,348 (298,675) (290,327)
At 31 December 2021 W=E=-%+-fA=t-H 3,506,614 101,615 66,377 (2,798,188) 876,418
At 1 January 2022 R=8==%-A-8 3,506,614 101,615 66,377 (2,798,188) 876,418
Total comprehensive loss for the year TFEZHEEER - - (32,350) (90,239) (122,589)
At 31 December 2022 R=B--%+-B=t-H 3,506,614 101,615 34,027 (2,888,427) 753,829
()  The contributed surplus of approximately HK$199,168,000 (2021: b)) EHABHLBE199,168,00070(ZF=—F :

Same) is included in the accumulated losses. It represented reduction
in issued share capital and share premium cancellation pursuant
to a capital restructuring in 2004 and capital reorganisation in 2010,
2011 and 2012. Under the Company Law of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus of the Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company shall not declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus if:

(i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium accounts.

).ﬁ)\i%;ﬁr%ﬁa ® E%@ﬁ%maﬁﬁfggm
FRAEER_T-FF . _T——FR_F

_¢Hﬁ$i%ﬁﬁqﬁﬁé B2 BB A 8
ZBMEE - RIBAREREE  ARAZE
BRBA THIK - ATMMETIER - ARA]
TEABGBBREIRFIRN LS HEH DK

()  HEBTEINIRMRSGENEEDH
BfE %K

iy HEEZAZBEEEBAMEREARE
REBHTRAEROGEEREZR
o

BESREEARAR - —FTFFHK 231



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A 755 1E 22

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is as follows:

AEBBLE T AN REE Y £ AEREERE
o -

For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t+-HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
“BIZE —F--% ZEZIRF —F-NF —F)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEFT BT BT BB
RESULTS #i5
Continuing operations BEREER
Revenue and film investment W R EFRE(BE),/

(l0ss)/ income, net WA - FE 13,630 158,353 633,176 814,425 174,632
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBLAT(E518) iRl (223,272) (220,020) (240,157) 186,188 (426,264)
Income tax credit/(expense) FisREe,/ (Fx) 1,460 (15,537) - (81,081) (18,429)
(Loss)/profit from continuing REFELEEBE

operations (&518) /& F (221,812) (235,557) (240,157) 105,107 (444,693)
Discontinued operations BARIHEE K
Profit/(l0ss) from discontinued REBRILEERRN

operations sl (E18) - = 3,766 @) =
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE(BR),/ & (221,812) (235,557) (236,391) 105,103 (444,693)
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE(ER),/ G

attributable to: EEN

owners of the Company VN/NGIEFE DN (221,812) (235,557) (236,391) 105,103 (444,693)

At 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZE--f T4 ZZ=TF T-NEF ZTN\E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT BB BEFT BETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Total assets BERH 2,210,335 2,261,69 1,745,611 1,855,506 1,693,549
Total liabilities BERH (881,899) (606,427) (299,178) (725276)  (1,034,881)
Total equity EREH 1,328,436 1,655,269 1,446,433 1,130,230 658,668
Attributable to: BEN

Owners of the Company VN/NETEZZEDN 1,328,436 1,655,269 1,446,433 1,130,230 658,668

232 HUANXI MEDIA GROUP LIMITED - Annual Report 2022
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